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Corporate Information (Continued)

Securities Affair Representative
Wu Di

197, Section A, Fu Shou East Street

High Technology Industrial Development Zone
Weifang

Shandong Province

The People’s Republic of China

Postal Code: 261061

Tel: (86) (536)-229 7056

Fax: (86) (536)-819 7073

Website: http://www.weichaipower.com

Authorised Representatives

Xu Xinyu

Hu Yunyun (appointed on 30 March 2022)
Kwong Kwan Tong (resigned on 30 March 2022)

Registered Address and Headquarters
of the Company

197, Section A, Fu Shou East Street

High Technology Industrial Development Zone

Weifang

Shandong Province

The People’s Republic of China

Postal Code: 261061

Tel: (86) (536)-229 7056

Fax: (86) (536)-819 7073

Website: http:/Avww.weichaipower.com

Place of Business in Hong Kong
Room 3407-3408

34/F Gloucester Tower

Landmark

15 Queen’s Road Central

Central, Hong Kong

Legal Advisor

Reed Smith Richards Butler LLP

Auditor

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Certified Public Accountants LLP

Interim Report 2022 FRHEAZRE

BB BIE

Ril

R AR HEFIE

e

W

mAT R EERERE
BERHI197HF

4R 261061

E % : (86) (536)-229 7056
{55 : (86) (536)-819 7073

#4E - http://www.weichaipower.com

RERE

BIE

Moz (R-—E-—F=ZH=4+HLFT)
BEE (R -—F - —F=H=+HFF)

20 e 24

hEE ARFAE
IWRA

SR EERER
RERMAI19757F

4R 261061

B % (86) (536)-229 7056
{5H : (86) (536)-819 7073

494 : http://www.weichaipower.com

A b 2 S b
EBRE

2R KB 15%
BibES
ERLITAE
34123407-3408%

HAE R

BREREEMTAEREZAEEAR

A% B il

EHEKSAMEBH(FREBAR)

3



4 Weichai Power Co., Ltd. #LE) H IR ER A T

Corporate Information (Continued)
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Corporate Information (Continued)

Hong Kong H-Share Registrar and Transfer
Office

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
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Financial Summary B 5 WE

o Revenue amounted to approximately RMB86,740 million, a decrease of . BEWALNBARES, 7408 E T &
approximately 35.9%. #935.9%

. Net profit attributable to the shareholders of the parent amountedto o BEBREBRARKRENZFINENAEARE

i —

approximately RMB2,387 million, a decrease of approximately 63.3%. 2,387EETT * NE#63.3% °

. Basic earnings per share was approximately RMB0.27. o BREXRERFNHAEARKE0.27T -

(Important notice: This report is published in Chinese and English versions. In case of  (EZEIEF : AL D BIAPETFIH o 0P EXHE
inconsistency, the Chinese version shall prevail.) AZEE  BARXEBE - )



Chairman’s Statement

Review of Operating Conditions

In the first half of 2022, under the impact of unexpected factors such
as the new wave of the pandemic and geo-political conflicts, China’s
economy faced increasing pressure from shrinking demand, supply
shock and weakened expectations. Market expectation and confidence
were affected to a certain extent. Since May, as the pandemic situation
improved and the resumption of work and production accelerated, the
government has adopted a series of policy measures to stabilise the
macro-economic environment and there has been a steady economic
rebound. In the first half of the year, China’s gross domestic product
(“GDP") reached RMB56.3 trillion, representing a year-on-year increase
of 2.5%. In particular, GDP for the first and second quarters grew by
4.8% and 0.4%, respectively. From January to June, the heavy-duty truck
industry delivered a sales volume of 380,000 units, representing a year-
on-year decrease of 63.6%; the light-duty truck industry delivered a sales
volume of 849,000 units, representing a year-on-year decrease of 29.5%;
the construction machinery industry delivered a sales volume of 451,000
units (including diesel forklift trucks), representing a year-on-year decrease
of 27.4%.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued) F R E (A

During the reporting period, in the face of complicated development
conditions, the Company proactively responded in scientific approach,
actively sought breakthroughs in the market, continuously deepened
reforms, strengthened scientific research, and prevented and controlled
operational risks. The overall operating quality continued to improve and
maintained a healthy development, and especially, there were significantly
increased contributions from export to overseas, agricultural equipment,
and large-diameter engines businesses, which became important growth
points. In the first half of the year, the Company’s revenue decreased by
approximately 35.9% as compared with that in the corresponding period
of 2021 to approximately RMB86,740 million. Net profit attributable to
shareholders of the listed company was approximately RMB2,387 million,
representing a decrease of approximately 63.3% as compared with that in
the corresponding period of 202 1. Basic earnings per share was RMB0.27,
representing a decrease of approximately 66.1% as compared with that in
the corresponding period of 2021.

1. Power System Business

We reaffirmed our leading status in the industry, and were
at the forefront of global science and technology. Relying on
the “four-in-one” scientific and technological innovation system,
we deepened research on the applied fundamental and cutting-
edge generic technologies. The launch of the world’s first diesel
engine with a thermal efficiency of 51.09% has set a new world
record. Persisting in the simultaneous advancement of multiple
power systems, we actively developed key and core technologies
and, jointly with China National Heavy Duty Truck Group, launched
the first commercial hydrogen internal combustion engine heavy-
duty truck, which meets the advanced international standards. The
establishment of the national internal combustion engine industry
measurement and testing center, the only testing center in the
field, has sped up the making of breakthroughs of the “bottleneck”
technical problems of measurement and testing. The development
of strategic products has been fully accelerated, which significantly
reduced fuel and gas consumptions and fully enhanced economy
and reliability. The power system took a leading position,
giving full play to its strengths in the integrated industrial
chain. The commercial vehicle power system, hydraulic power
system, and CVT power system continued to transform and
upgrade, exerting advantages of strong power and fuel-saving, and
winning customers’ recognition. The powertrain system of the 20-
60-ton excavator has been debugged and launched for wholesale,
significantly outperforming its competing products. Reliability of
the hydraulic powertrain assembly for harvest machinery has been
further improved and successfully passed the wheat harvesting
verification.

WEHRN BHEMERES  AFRER
REZEY FHSHMHREO - TER
{E2RE ~ IIABHRAE -« BIIREE R R
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86,740 BB TARKE LT =Z—F[H
BB A #935.9% c BN EMARIRER
FAELAR2387TEETARE B -F
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BO2TTARKE BRZ-ZZEZ—FREBHD
#4966.1% ©
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

During the reporting period, the adjustments in the Company’s
diversified market and product structures have achieved outstanding
results with stronger resilience. Sales volume of various kinds of
engines, gear boxes and axles amounted to 285,000 units, 319,000
units and 272,000 units, respectively. Among which, the export
sector sped up in making breakthroughs, with the export volume
of engines and gear boxes reaching 22,000 units and 11,000
units, representing a year-on-year increase of 32.5% and 52.9%,
respectively. Our high-end strategic products continued to make
contribution, with the revenue of large-diameter engines achieving
RMB980 million, representing a year-on-year growth of 68.7%,
and the domestic revenue of high-end hydraulic products achieving
RMB340 million, representing a year-on-year growth of 16.4%.
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Commercial Vehicles Business

During the reporting period, with our strategy driven by the whole
vehicle and complete machine business, the Company regards
customer satisfaction as its utmost priority. We gave full play to our
advantages of industrial resources and conducted accurate research
and judgements to efficiently meet the needs of segment markets.
Shaanxi Heavy-duty Motor Company Limited (“Shaanxi Zhonggi”),
a controlling subsidiary of the Company, has made every effort to
prevent the pandemic, stabilise production, strengthen management
and promote efficiency to maintain stable production and
operation in accordance with the annual policy outline of “product-
led, innovation-driven, management reform, and enhancement
of double effects”. Upholding a goal-oriented approach,
we focused on cultivating the market and improving our
capability of providing services and guarantees. We made
great efforts in sales reforms and commenced a series of activities
such as the “Tiger Roaring Operation” to actively offer solutions to
customer concerns in the first-tier market. Sales volume of heavy-
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued) F R E (A

duty trucks amounted to 39,000 units during the period from
January to June, and for the domestic market, our sales volume
in May and June surged to the top two. For the international
market, we improved our cooperative engagement capability to
seize opportunities, and our amounts of export for heavy-duty
trucks amounted to 13,500 units, representing a year-on-year
increase of 51.8%. Our overseas orders exceeded 20,000 units,
representing a year-on-year increase of 98% and hitting a historical
high. Upholding a demand-oriented approach, we innovated
our products and enhanced our core competitiveness. While
paying close attention to the changes in market and customer
needs, we continued to optimise product layout and established
an efficient connection among market technologies and an
assessment and incentive mechanism. We refined standard load
logistics and product structure of the economic market with our
new products, such as X5000S high-horsepower, X5000Pro and
X5000L, which further enhanced our competitiveness. Furthermore,
we continued to promote the implementation of intelligent
manufacturing projects, strengthen collaboration and sharing and
shorten production cycles to significantly improve our capabilities
of fast delivery and production cost control. The intelligent capacity
expansion project of Shaanxi Zhonggi has been put into action
smoothly.

FEELZFKFE - ERERAFESR
BERORED  c B MBEREFLE
k@& HEBCERMKGR  BYm
BT E R E - BB
# I X5000S K & 51~ X5000Pro0 -
X5000LEHEMR  TEEREHR KL
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RF  ISEHE TR RETEE AN
et pELE  BEEERS T8
PR RE N MAEER AR E K FEHE
ERF - BREARECREETER B
BE -



Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

Intelligent Logistics Business

KION Group AG (“KION"), an overseas controlling subsidiary of the
Company, is a globally leading supplier in the area of intra-logistics,
and has two major businesses, namely, Industrial Trucks & Services
and Supply Chain Solutions. KION assists factories, warehouses and
distribution centres to optimise their materials flow and information
flow through the design, establishment and improvement of
logistics solutions in over a hundred countries and regions around
the world. In the first half of the year, KION realised a sales revenue
of EUR5.54 billion, representing a year-on-year growth of 11.4%,
in which the business of supply chain solutions (represented
by Dematic Group) realised a sales revenue of EUR2.09 billion,
representing a year-on-year growth of 13%.
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Agricultural Equipment

Focusing externally on the market and internally on operations,
Weichai Lovol Heavy Industry Co., Ltd.?, a controlling subsidiary
of the Company, provides customers with integrated intelligent
agricultural equipment solutions, so as to safeguard national food
security with hard-core strength and secure our own food supply.
Capitalising on our advantages in product portfolios, our
market share of key segment markets increased significantly.
From January to June, the agricultural equipment segment achieved
a sales volume of 76,000 units, representing a year-on-year increase
of 28%. The market share of the tractor business reached 25%,
representing a year-on-year increase of 7 percentage points and
maintaining an industry-leading position, among which, the sales
of tractors with 200+hp increased significantly by 40% year-on-
year; the market share of the wheat machine business reached
59%, representing a year-on-year increase of 7 percentage
points and ranking the first in the industry; the market share of
the corn machine business reached 25%, representing a year-
on-year increase of 4 percentage points and ranking the first in

BEEE

DA T RARIMLEERETIRG
BRARIMITE - RIEE - A
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1 Weichai Lovol Heavy Industry Co., Ltd., a company which completed the relevant industrial and commercial registration to change its name to Weichai Lovol

Intelligent Agricultural Technology Co., Ltd. (#££ERE 2 2 ER DB R A E]) on 30 August 2022.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

5.

the industry; the market share of the crawler machine business
reached 29%, representing a year-on-year increase of 7 percentage
points and ranking the second in the industry; the market share of
the peanut machine business reached 34%, representing a year-
on-year increase of 9 percentage points, reflecting a significant
improvement in market competitiveness. Focusing on reforming
key technologies, we built competitive advantages. We
accelerated the research and development and the manufacture of
high-horsepower machinery and high-end intelligent agricultural
machinery. 240hp CVT tractors have been delivered to customers
in bulk and received wide recognition. 340hp CVT tractors have
entered the product verification stage and accumulated over 600
hours of verification. The trial sales of China IV non-road products
were smooth and the overall performance was satisfactory.
Following the completion of the development of the smart
farm management platform 2.0 with basic functions, we have
commenced the construction of a new factory for intelligent high-
horsepower tractors and accumulated new kinetic energy for future
development.

New Business Format, New Energy and New
Technology

In the context of the national strategy of carbon peak and
carbon neutrality, we actively meet the challenges of scientific
and technological revolution and industrial transformation by
accelerating the breakthrough of core technologies. We aim to
expand and strengthen the “motor + controller” powertrain
business with the launch of new energy vehicle and complete
machine products. Through the realisation of full autonomation
of electric-powered products, the electric axle drive system has
commenced B prototype verification, and its performance is
improved by more than 5% as compared with its competing
products. We successfully overcame challenges to develop the key
technologies in the design and integration of high-power metal
stacks and developed the first high-power metal stack. We have
also completed the development of the 200kW hydrogen fuel cell
engine which meets the high-speed operating requirements of 49-
ton heavy-duty tractors. In addition, we jointly developed the first
world-leading “three highs” environmental simulation test station

o ()
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

II.

for 150kW-class hydrogen fuel cells in China. Our new energy test
centre was awarded the laboratory accreditation certificate by the
China National Accreditation Service for Conformity Assessment
(CNAS) and has become the only laboratory in the industry that
has passed the test verification of both hydrogen and solid oxide
fuel cell products. The acceleration of the development of
digitalisation has empowered the development of full-chain
business. We have set up five data management offices for R&D,
manufacturing, procurement, sales and services and functions
to fully connect the Group’s operation chain, value chain and
industrial chain. On the other hand, we actively promoted digital
transformation and digitalised processes to improve data quality
and empower business development.
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Dividends and Capitalisation of Reserve

On 28 June 2022, the Company’s 2021 profit distribution proposal was
considered and approved at the Company’s 2021 annual general meeting
to distribute to all shareholders a cash dividend of RMB1.85 (including tax)
for every 10 shares held, without any capitalisation of reserve. During the
period between the disclosure of the Company’s 2021 profit distribution
plan and its implementation, the Company conducted certain repurchase
of A shares and made corresponding adjustment to the total distribution
amount based on the principle that the distribution proportion shall
remain unchanged. The 78,250,025 A shares in the Company’s securities
account designated for repurchased shares are no longer eligible for
distribution, and the remaining 8,648,306,796 shares received distribution
in accordance to the 2021 profit distribution plan on the basis of a cash
dividend of RMB1.85 (tax included) for every 10 shares.

On 30 August 2022, pursuant to the shareholders’ mandate, the Board of
the Company distributed to all shareholders a cash dividend of RMB0.96
(including tax) for every 10 shares held, without any capitalisation of
reserve, based on the total number of shares which shall be entitled to
profit distribution on the record date at the time of the implementation
of the distribution plan in the future. If the total number of shares
entitled to profit distribution changes due to share repurchase or grant
of shares through equity incentives during the period from the date
of the announcement to the record date for the implementation of
distribution plan, the Company shall make corresponding adjustment to

202296 288 © RAF2021FERE
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

I11.

the total distribution amount based on the principle that the distribution
proportion shall remain unchanged. Please refer to the announcement
dated 9 September 2022 issued by the Company for details on the closure
of registers of members in determining the shareholders who are eligible
for the 2022 interim dividend.

Outlook and Prospects

Looking into the second half of 2022, the external environment is
expected to be more challenging and complex. Geo-political conflicts
will continue to exert impact on the supply of energy and food and
shroud the world in the haze of inflation. Monetary policies of major
economies including the United States will be tightened sooner, and the
global financial market will see increasing volatility with a high risk of
stagflation. In China, its economy is expected to face spillover risks arising
from weakening external demand, global financial market turmoil and
geopolitical conflicts. However, the potential of and the fundamentals
for a long-term economic upturn have not changed for China. While
the short-term downturn is mainly due to the impact of non-economic
factors, market expectations and confidence are expected to recover due
to the optimisation of pandemic prevention policies, the implementation
of measures to stabilise the economy and boost consumption and the
accelerated recovery of infrastructure investment. Under the influence
of favorable factors such as the recovery of logistics and transportation,
support from infrastructure and the implementation of relevant
supporting policies, part of the suppressed demand in the heavy-
duty truck market will be released and rebound from the bottom. The
growing consumer demand for fresh and high-quality food will boost the
development of cold chain logistics and fresh food e-commerce platforms,
which will provide room for the light-duty truck market, especially for
refrigerator trucks. Favorable factors brought by the growth stabilisation
measures, stimulus policies and the continued growth in the export
market will benefit the construction machinery industry. In response
to the implementation of China IV non-road emission standards, some
customers will purchase machines in advance, and this will bring certain
opportunities to the construction machinery and agricultural machinery
industries. The rise in energy price and increased activities in domestic
oil and gas field exploitation will strongly drive the demand for diesel
generators.

In the face of the industry downturn, we persist with independent
innovation as our primary driving force for development, giving full
play to all series and all fields product advantages and accelerating the
introduction of strategic products to sustain high-quality development.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

IV.

Focusing on supporting segment markets, we will increase our
market development efforts. We will strive to sprint against the
current and make precise breakthroughs by giving full play to the
differentiated competitive advantages of commercial vehicle powertrains,
hydraulic powertrains for construction machinery and large-scale
CVT powertrains for agricultural equipment to form a sound product
portfolio and increase our market share. We will seize the opportunities
brought by the implementation of China IV non-road emission standards
and focus on strategic segment markets to win the tough battle in
the market. We will also improve our after-sales services and service
capabilities to stimulate the vitality of service channels. Adhering to
the innovation-driven and high-quality development, we will
firmly grasp the lifeblood of science and technology. We will drive
up the performance of complete vehicles and machineries to provide
the best solutions for the power system industry and capitalise on
the advantages of the globally coordinated R&D platform to develop
competitive products which are globally leading in terms of affordability,
reliability and power performance, in order to gain widely recognition
for our strategic products. Leveraging the platform of the National Fuel
Cell Technology Innovation Centre (BZIARIEEMTEIFTAH L), we
will expedite breaking through the technical bottleneck in the industrial
chain of and industrialisation for the fuel cell industry. We will make
continuous improvement on management to build us into a
world-class enterprise. We seek to deepen organisational and system
reforms and establish an end-to-end workflow to provide impetus for
the Company’s efficient operation. In creating a good atmosphere for
innovative operation, we will optimise efficiency and staffing, reform
the remuneration and performance system, and adopt a performance-
oriented approach and a principle of rewarding hard work. Meanwhile,
we will upgrade the WOS theoretical model, deepen evaluation and
promotion, and improve operational management, exerting our impact as
a role model in the industry, exploring the way of reform, innovation and
development as a state-owned enterprise with Chinese characteristics in
the new era, and striving to become a world-class enterprise.

Appreciation

Last but not least, | would like to express my sincere appreciation to all
our shareholders, the general public and our customers for their care and
support, as well as to all of our staff for their hard work and dedication!

Tan Xuguang

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 30 August 2022
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The Directors are pleased to present a management discussion and analysis of
the results of operations of the Group for the six months ended 30 June 2022

(the "Period”) as follows:

I. Industry Analysis
The Company is one of the vehicle and equipment manufacturing
conglomerates in the PRC with the best comprehensive strengths. It is
a leading company in the areas of powertrain, complete vehicles and
machineries, hydraulic controlling parts, new energy cells and automotive
ECU and parts and components, which is equipped with the most
comprehensive golden industrial chain of engines, gear boxes and axles,
and offers related aftersales market services. Meanwhile, with its leading
advantages in intelligent logistics, the Group is able to provide the most

comprehensive logistics solutions to its customers.

1. Commercial Vehicles, Construction Machinery
and Agricultural Equipment Industries
Looking back over the first half of 2022, the recovery of the global
economy has been hindered by factors including geopolitical
conflicts and volatile pandemic situation around the globe. China’s
economy was confronted with the intensifying “triple pressure”,
which represented another significant challenge since the strike of
pandemic in 2020. However, with the easing of the pandemic since
May, the government has adopted a series of policies and measures
to stabilise the macro-economy and accelerate the resumption of
work, production, business and market operation, which was led
to a gradual recovery of the macro-economy. In the first half of the
year, the GDP of the PRC reached RMB56.3 trillion, representing a

year-on-year increase of 2.5%.

In respect of the heavy-duty truck market, the repeated outbreaks
of Covid-19 resulted in impeded logistics and weakened demand
in heavy-duty truck industry, and in the first half of 2021 the
industry sales base reached the historical peak, which contributed
to the substantive decrease of industry sales volume in the first
half of 2022 as compared with the same period last year. During
the Period, the heavy-duty truck market achieved a sales volume
of approximately 380,000 units, representing a year-on-year
decrease of approximately 63.6%; the construction machinery
industry (including diesel forklift trucks) achieved a sales volume
of approximately 451,000 units in the first half of the year,

representing a year-on-year decrease of approximately 27.4%.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued) I B A ()

As the overall pandemic prevention and control situation stabilises,
it is expected that China’s economy will continue to recover in the
second half of the year. Under the influence of favorable factors
such as the recovery of logistics and transportation, construction
of infrastructures and the implementation of supporting policies,
the demand in the heavy-duty truck market that was suppressed
in the early stage would be released and is expected to touch
bottom and rebound. The implementation of various measures to
stabilise growth and stimulus policies and the continued growth of
the export market will bring favorable factors to the construction
machinery industry. The implementation of National IV non-road-
going emission standard and purchase of machines in advance
by certain customers would bring certain opportunities to the

construction machinery and agricultural machinery industries.

Forklift Truck and Supply Chain Solutions

In the first half of 2022, the global material handling market had a
flat growth, but the market demand for industrial forklift trucks was
still greater than that of last year. However, due to the uncertainties
of the macro-economy and severe supply restrictions, the
development momentum of all sales regions in the second quarter
has slowed down. The global market for supply chain solutions
continued to expand in the first six months of the year. Once again,
this market growth was driven by the EMEA and Americas regions.
Demand contracted in the e-commerce customer segment but
continued to rise sharply in the food and beverage, grocery retail/
wholesale, and apparel industries. The research institute Interact
Analysis anticipates a positive trend for the warehouse automation

market.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

II. The Group’s Business
An analysis of the Group's business segments is set out in Note XIV.2 to
the consolidated financial statements. The following is an overview of the

operating conditions of the major products of the Group:

1. Powertrain, Complete Vehicles and Machines
and Key Components
The Group had the most comprehensive powertrain system
covering engines, gear boxes and axles. With the advantages of
the globally coordinated R&D platform, leveraging its “Four-in-
One” technology innovation system, the Company deepened its
research on the applied fundamental and cutting-edge generic
technologies. Continuing to develop the multiplicity of power
systems in tandem, the Company has actively carried out research
to make breakthroughs in key and core technologies. Leveraging
the advantage of its integrated industrial chain, the Company has
prioritised the development of the power systems. The development
of strategic products has been fully accelerated, which significantly
reduced fuel and gas consumptions and fully enhanced economy

and reliability.

The Group upheld a strategy driven by complete vehicles and
machineries. During the Period, in accordance with the annual policy
outline of “leading by products, driven by innovation, management
reform, and enhancement of double effects”, Shaanxi Heavy-duty
Motor Company Limited (BRFgEARE B R A7), a controlling
subsidiary of the Group, was fully committed to preventing
pandemic, stabilising production, strengthening management and
enhancing efficiency, and managed to maintain a stable production
and operation. We made great efforts in sales reforms. For the
domestic market, our sales volume in May and June surged to
the top two; and for the international market, we improved our
cooperative engagement capability to seize opportunities. Our
overseas orders exceeded 20,000 units, representing a year-on-year

increase of 98% and hitting a historical high.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

During the Period, the sales volume of various kinds of engines,
gear boxes and axles amounted to approximately 285,000 units,
approximately 319,000 units and approximately 272,000 units,
respectively. Among which, the export sector sped up in making
breakthroughs, with the export volume of engines, gear boxes
and heavy-duty trucks reaching 22,000 units, 11,000 units and
13,500 units, representing a year-on-year increase of 32.5%,
52.9% and 51.8%, respectively. The engines segment contributed
approximately RMB16,974 million to the sales revenue of the
Group during the Period, while the automobiles and automobile
components segment contributed approximately RMB21,737

million to the sales revenue of the Group during the Period.

Intelligent Logistics

During the Period, the Group had an excellent sales performance of
industrial forklift trucks in Europe, Middle East, Africa and America.
Sales order for forklift trucks increased from approximately 155,500
units in the corresponding period last year to approximately 173,700
units, representing a year-on-year increase of approximately 11.7%.
The total value of order intake for the first half of the year increased
by approximately 20% to approximately EUR4,827 million. For
supply chain solutions, the total value of order intake for the first
half of the year amounted to approximately EUR1,865 million,
which was almost the same as the corresponding period last year.
Intelligent logistics services contributed approximately RMB39,162
million to the Group’s sales revenue during the Period, which
increased by approximately RMB456 million as compared with
approximately RMB38,706 million in the corresponding period last

year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Agricultural Equipment

During the Period, in face of the intensive market competition
environment, Weichai Lovol Heavy Industry Co., Ltd. (“Weichai
Lovol”), a controlling subsidiary of the Group, leveraged the leading
advantages of the Group in the fields of technological innovation
to reinforce its high-quality collaboration, achieving comprehensive
improvement in the power of products, brands and channels. By
giving full play to the advantages of product mix, the Group saw
an uptick in the sales of various kinds of products, which formed
synergistic effect in achieving a breakthrough in performance
and continued to lead the industry. From January to June, the
agricultural equipment segment achieved a sales volume of 76,000
units, representing a year-on-year increase of 28%. The agricultural
equipment segment contributed approximately RMB8,867 million

to the sales revenue of the Group during the Period.
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1. The Group’s Results of Operations 1. AEBZREXE
a. Revenue a. HEEIRA
In the first half of 2022, the Group’s revenue amounted B _F LY FEREFEEE
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corresponding period in 2021, mainly attributable to the

decrease in product sales volume as affected by the industry

to approximately RMB85,503 million, representing a decrease
of approximately RMB43,826 million or approximately 33.9%
from approximately RMB129,329 million in the corresponding
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Profit from Principal Operations

During the Period, as affected by the decrease in product
sales volume, the Group’s profit from principal operations
decreased from approximately RMB24,753 million in the
corresponding period in 2021 to approximately RMB15,050
million during the Period, representing a decrease of
RMB9,703 million or 39.2%. The profit margin from principal
operations decreased from approximately 19.1% in the
corresponding period last year to approximately 17.6%
during the Period. This was mainly affected by multiple
factors, including changes in product structure and reduction

in production volume.

Distribution and Selling Expenses

The distribution and selling expenses decreased by
approximately RMB1,706 million or 25.4% from
approximately RMB6,718 million in the corresponding period
of 2021 to approximately RMB5,012 million during the
Period. The decrease of distribution and selling expenses
was primarily attributable to the decrease in after-sales
and maintenance fees for products. The distribution and
selling expenses as a percentage of revenue increased to
approximately 5.8% during the Period from approximately

5.0% during the corresponding period last year.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses decreased by
approximately RMB677 million or 14.9% from approximately
RMB4,555 million in the corresponding period of 2021 to
approximately RMB3,878 million during the Period. The
decrease in general and administrative expenses was mainly
due to the decrease in expenses for staff costs. The general
and administrative expenses as a percentage of revenue
increased from approximately 3.4% in the corresponding

period last year to approximately 4.5% during the Period.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Earnings Before Interest and Tax (EBIT)

During the Period, the Group’s EBIT was approximately
RMB3,994 million, representing a decrease of approximately
RMB6,878 million or 63.3% from approximately RMB10,872
million in the corresponding period last year. The decrease in
EBIT was primarily attributable to the combination effect of
various factors, including the changes in product structure
and the increase in impairment loss of credit and impairment
loss of assets, reducing EBIT margin of the Group from
approximately 8.0% in the corresponding period of 2021 to
approximately 4.6% during the Period.

Finance Expenses

Finance expenses increased from a net finance income of
approximately RMB194 million in the corresponding period
of 2021 to a net finance income of approximately RMB526
million during the Period. This was mainly due to the increase
in net interest income by approximately RMB275 million and

the increase in foreign exchange gain.

Income Tax Expenses

The Group’s income tax expenses decreased by approximately
72.8% from approximately RMB1,711 million in the
corresponding period in 2021 to approximately RMB466
million during the Period, which was mainly attributable to
decrease in total profit. The Group's average effective tax rate
decreased from approximately 16.6% in the corresponding

period last year to approximately 13.6% during the Period.

Net Profit and Net Profit Margin

The Group’s net profit for the Period was approximately
RMB2,952 million, representing a decrease of approximately
RMB5,626 million or 65.6% from approximately RMB8,578
million in the corresponding period last year. Net profit
margin for the Period was approximately 3.4%, which
decreased by 2.9 percentage points from approximately 6.3%

in the corresponding period last year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued) I B A ()

Liquidity and Cash Flow . nBERRERN

During the Period, the Group generated net expense of RAER  AEBEEAKER
operating cash flows of approximately RMB1,141 million EREFIHHOARE 141
and net cash flows from financing activities of approximately BEL MEEETHELRS
RMB3,575 million. A portion of such proceeds was MEFHEHOAREKISISEE
applied to the acquisition of approximately 22.69% equity g o Efh I B AR YR # L
interest of Weichai Lovol (total consideration amounting to BEIRHI22.69% B (BREL
approximately RMB1,584 million), repaying debts, paying BARME1584FEL)  ER
investment monies and paying for the acquisition of property, B IRARERE  ZIfE
plant and equipment for the expansion of the Group’s EE «  MERRENERAK
business. As of 30 June 2022, the Group’s cash and cash EEZEE RZTZZ_FRX
equivalents (net of interest-bearing debts) amounted to net A=+HAEBZIRENES
cash of RMB36,764 million. Based on the above calculations, EBYMHBRTEELABRESF
the Group is in a net cash position. As at 30 June 2022, the BMARM36, 76488 T - B
Group's gearing ratio (interest-bearing debts/(interest-bearing HEtE o KREBERNER SR
debts + shareholders’ equity)) was approximately 18.9% (31 HeoMRZTEZZFA=+AH
December 2021: approximately 18.0%). REBZERBEL X (GTEE

%/ (B ER+IREEZ)) D
B189% (M T —_—F+=
A=Z+—8 : £18.0%) °

2. Financial Position 2. BAEARR
a. Assets and Liabilities a. BENKA®E
As at 30 June 2022, the Group had total assets of RZE-_—_F~A=+H"
approximately RMB290,050 million, of which approximately REBEEBLBEHNABARE
RMB 170,796 million were current assets. As at 30 June 2022, 290,050 B &L - HPAEHE
the Group had cash and cash equivalents of approximately EHABARM170,796 8 &
RMB71,006 million (as at 31 December 2021: approximately LT R-_E-__FXA=+
RMB79,665 million). On the same date, the Group's total H XEBEEBELHARE
liabilities amounted to approximately RMB183,836 million, 71,006BEEBTHEBES (R
of which approximately RMB124,327 million were current —E-—F+-A=+—8":
liabilities. The current ratio was approximately 1.37x (as at 31 MARBETI665AE L) ° [
December 2021: 1.35x). H - AS5BEaEEENAAR

¥ 183,836 B & T © A H R E
BENAEARKEI124327E68
L > MBI ERLHE1376F (R
*f*—¢+ A=+—8:
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Capital Structure

As at 30 June 2022, the Group had total equity of
approximately RMB106,214 million, of which approximately
RMB71,495 million was attributable to equity holders
of the Company and the balance was minority interests.
Interest attributable to minority interest holders included the
perpetual bonds in the principal amount of US$775 million
issued in September 2017.

The borrowings of the Group as at 30 June 2022 amounted
to approximately RMB24,740 million, which included bonds
of approximately RMB5,733 million and bank borrowings
of approximately RMB19,007 million. The bank borrowings
included approximately RMB5,728 million of fixed interest
rate bank borrowings and approximately RMB13,279 million
of floating interest rate bank borrowings. Borrowings
repayable on demand or within a period not exceeding one
year were approximately RMB4,283 million; borrowings
repayable within a period of more than one year but not
exceeding two years were approximately RMB2,431 million;
borrowings repayable within a period of more than two years
but not exceeding five years were approximately RMB12,038
million; and borrowings repayable within a period of more
than five years were approximately RMB255 million. Other
than Euro-denominated borrowings, USD-denominated
borrowings and GBP-denominated borrowings equivalent to
approximately RMB12,513 million, approximately RMB1,673
million and approximately RMB226 million respectively, the
borrowings were Renminbi-denominated borrowings. The
revenue of the Group is mainly in Renminbi and Euro. To
prevent exchange rate risk arising from the fluctuation of
the USD exchange rate, contracts have been entered into
with financial institutions to swap the USD775 million USD-
denominated perpetual bonds issued in September 2017 to
Euro, and thus the Group does not consider the currency
risk facing its future general cash outflow significant. As a
policy, the Group manages its capital to ensure that entities
in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debts and equity balance. The Group's
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior years.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Pledge of Assets

As at 30 June 2022, bank deposits, notes receivable and
receivable financing of approximately RMB16,925 million
were pledged to banks to secure the Group’s notes payable,
letters of guarantee, acceptance bills and letters of credit, etc.
issued by banks. The pledged bank deposits carry prevailing
bank interest rates. The pledge will be released upon the
settlement of the relevant bank borrowings. The fair value
of the bank deposits as at the balance sheet date was
approximately the same as the carrying amount. Fixed assets,
long-term receivables, accounts receivable and other non-
current assets amounting to approximately RMB6,815 million
were also pledged by the Group to secure bank borrowings,
guarantee its liabilities under the staff retirement benefit and

use in asset securitisation financing.

Contingencies

As at 30 June 2022, the Group provided certain distributors
and agents bank guarantee amounting to approximately
RMB911 million (as at 31 December 2021: approximately
RMB1,409 million) to secure their obtaining and use of

banking facilities.

As at 30 June 2022, the Group provided guarantee for joint
liabilities in respect of potential failure of the leasees under
finance leases to settle instalment payments plus interest with
a risk exposure amounted to approximately RMB1,611 million
(as at 31 December 202 1: approximately RMB2,800 million).
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Commitments

As at 30 June 2022, the Group had capital commitments of
approximately RMB6,118 million (as at 31 December 2021:
approximately RMB6,537 million), principally for the capital
expenditure in respect of acquisition of property, plant and
equipment. The capital expenditure will be financed by

internal resources.

As at 30 June 2022, the Group had no external investment

commitments (as at 31 December 2021: nil).

3. Other Financial Information

a.

Employees

As at 30 June 2022, the Group had approximately 88,118
employees (including approximately 40,804 employees of
KION). During the Period, the Group had paid remuneration
of approximately RMB14,867 million. The emolument policy
of the employees of the Group is set up by the remuneration
committee of the Company (the “Remuneration Committee”)
on the basis of their merits, qualifications and competence.
During the Period, the Company designed training programs
for employees that meet the needs of positions at all levels,
and provided customised training and standard course
training through the online Wei Learning platform and offline
courses. During the Period, cost for the training programs

amounted to approximately RMB5.68 million.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Maijor Investment, Acquisition and Disposal

In April 2022, the Company entered into the Share Transfer
Agreement with Weichai Group Holdings Limited (“Weichai
Holdings”) and Weichai Lovol, pursuant to which the
Company purchased 274,401,120 Shares of Weichai Lovol
(representing approximately 22.69% of the total issued
shares of Weichai Lovol) from Weichai Holdings at the
consideration of RMB1,584,461,400. Upon completion of the
transaction, the Company held approximately 62.00% shares

in aggregate of the total issued shares of Weichai Lovol.

The amount paid for the abovementioned acquisition was

funded out of the Group’s financial resources.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have any other

major investment, acquisition or disposal during the Period.

Subsequent Events

(i) On 30 August 2022, under the authority granted
by the shareholders of the Company, the Board
considered and approved the distribution to all
shareholders of cash dividend of RMB0.96 (including
tax) for every 10 shares held, without any capitalisation
of reserve, based on the total number of shares entitled
to profit distribution on the record date at the time of

the implementation of distribution plan.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued) PR B BT (A
(i)~ On 30 August 2022, the Company’s fourth meeting (i) RZZEZ_Z—_FNA=+
of the sixth session of the Board considered and B ARARIXNEMNRES
approved the “Resolution in respect of the Proposed CEZBBAT(EANEL
Spin-off and Listing of a Controlling Subsidiary” ({#3 IR F ARSI/ EHRE
REBZERTF AR IF LEMAZESR) ), and approved £) REARRBZEE
the commencement of preparatory works in respect of f&FRBHELEE ARSI
the spin-off of Weichai Lovol, a controlling subsidiary, EHETE - RRDIFHE
by the Company. The spin-off is still in the preliminary RATEZ IR R - AR
planning stage. As at the date of this report, the details EBH - TR
of the possible spin-off are yet to be finalised. The HMAEE BELEEH
Board is still required to make resolutions on whether KR TFREREBBE
the spin-off complies with relevant laws, regulations 2 EREABIEHD
and regulatory documents, and submit it to the ERMHARE - WRBER
general meeting of the Company for consideration AR KRG |FZIHE - K
and approval. The Company will make further DR S B R AR BB
announcement(s) in connection with the possible spin- EHRAIRRE - BAee
off as and when appropriate or as required under the DWIELE—FRE -
Listing Rules.
d. Use of proceeds d. B5E52HHE
Reference is made to the announcements of the Company AR M AR T H H;ﬁ?%:%:%
dated 24 December 2020, 25 January 2021, 26 January F+_fZ+mWHE  ZT=—
2021, 29 January 2021, 12 April 2021, 23 April 2021 and 26 F—A=-+HH  ZZEE=-—4F
May 2021, and the circular (the “Circular”) of the Company —AZ+~B B —F—
dated 11 January 2021, in respect of, inter alia, the non- A-+hB - —_ZF=Z—%FN
public issuance of A Shares of the Company (“A Shares”). A+=-—H - ZZE=-—%FUA
Z+=HBRZZFT=Z—F%HA
ey VAN =0 /NE- VO N N/ S
PR -_T-_—F—H+—HBH
B (T@EE])  AEEHE(E
FEE)IEARETARAAR
(TARZ]) ©
The reasons for the non-public issuance of A Shares include EAHABETARNEACRE R
to raise funds for the specific investments projects detailed TERPAFHRZETIHREBEE
in the table below and to replenish working capital, which SESRBERADES KM
will strengthen the capital capability of the Group and lay a HEREENERESN - BAE
sound foundation for the Group's further expansion of its SRE—THEEXEKLEES
operations, and, in turn, enable it to realise breakthrough in TRERERER  E#MELRER

its development and enhance its competitive strength. WERIIRFA B F
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

The non-public issuance of A Shares of the Company was
completed on 31 May 2021 and the relevant new A Shares
were listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange on 1 June 2021.
A total of 792,682,926 A Shares of RMB1.00 each (with an
aggregate nominal value of RMB792,682,926) were issued
to 25 subscribers which are in compliance with the relevant
requirements of the “Measures for Administration of Issuance
of Securities by Listed Companies” ({ F R RIFEHFEITE
%)) and the “Implementation Rules for the Non-public
Issuance of Shares by Listed Companies” ({ MR FIIEAF
BEITIREE H48]) ) and are third parties independent of
the Company and its connected persons at the issue price of
RMB16.40 (and net price of approximately RMB16.38) per A
Share.

The issue price of RMB16.40 per A Share represents a
premium of approximately 9.26% to the benchmarked
price of HK$18.02 (equivalent to approximately RMB15.01),
such benchmarked price being the closing price of H
Shares on the date of the Company’s acceptance of the
subscriptions involving the non-public issuance of A Shares
under the relevant general mandate. The total proceeds
of the non-public issuance of A Shares amounted to
RMB12,999,999,986.40. The status of the use of such

proceeds as of 30 June 2022 is set out below:
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued) B B e B AT (A
RMB million
ARBEER
Total
investment The amount
Name of the investment project amount of The amount of proceeds
BREEBERE the relevant of proceeds applied as of
Project name Sub-project name project to be applied 30 June 2022
BZ2022%
6A30AH
ER BER4E¢ BERE®
HEEH FTEEEB BRELE BRASE 2RAEE
Fuel Cell Industry Chain Hydrogen-fueled cell and key 712.28 500.00 70.67
Development Project components industrialisation project
MHEERRERIER M RERTHHERIER
Solid oxide fuel cell and key components 1,512.50 500.00 10.76
industrialisation project
EREIIRHERR
BRTHHERLER
Key components of fuel cell powertrain 1,479.27 1,000.00 178.30
research and development and
construction capabilities project
BHE LB h @ LT HRER
UiEge NiERIER
Full Series of H Platform High-end New million units digitalised power 5,625.85 3,000.00 13.58
Road-going Engines of China industry base stage | project
Vi or above Emission Standards  ¥TEBAHF B HEEEN
Project —HER
2RIIERN R PR ERTE A
BRARmESRIER
H platform engines intelligent 1,100.00 1,000.00 135.31

manufacturing upgrade project
HEEBBREEEE AR
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RMB million
AR¥EER
Total
investment The amount
Name of the investment project amount of The amount of proceeds
BREEBERE the relevant of proceeds applied as of
Project name Sub-project name project to be applied 30 June 2022
BZ2022%
6H30AH
EH R4S BERE®
HEER FTEHEER BRESH REALE ERALHE
Large Diameter High-end Engine Large diameter high-end engine 1,395.00 1,075.00 144.41
Industrialisation Project laboratory project
AEEERESRER(CIRE AIEEREDEERERRIER
High efficiency and high speed self- 998.42 685.00 90.93
owned brand engine industrialisation
project
BEmBAN RS REES(IAR
Large diameter high-end engine 1,847.84 1,240.00 215.88
development project
A SR BgRRER
Full Series hydraulic pressure powertrain and large-scale continuously variable 3,134.08 3,000.00 236.47
transmission (CVT) powertrain industrialisation project
2 RIRES HEKAMARCVTH N BKEEIIER
Replenishment of working capital 1,000.00 1,000.00 800.72
BRRBES
Total A3t 18,805.24 13,000.00 1,897.03

It is expected that the remaining proceeds, being
approximately RMB11.27 billion in aggregate (including
accumulated interest received from bank deposits and wealth
management income net of bank handling fees), would
continue to be used for the relevant investment projects as
set out above. The Board considers that the proceeds from
the issuance of A shares had been and will be applied in
accordance with the specific uses and timeline of proposed
use of proceeds as disclosed in the Circular (with adjusted
timeline approved by the Board on 30 March 2022).

BHS TEEES (A KHOARKE 1127
B (& 25t REIRTERFE - BH
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Auditors” Review Report

Deloitte

Deloitte Shi Bao (Yue) Zi (22) No. R00059
To the Shareholders of Weichai Power Co., Ltd.:

We have reviewed the accompanying interim financial statements of Weichai
Power Co., Ltd. (“Weichai Power”) which comprise the consolidated and
company balance sheets as at 30 June 2022, the consolidated and company
income statements, consolidated and company statement of changes in equity
and consolidated and company cash flow statement for the period from 1
January to 30 June 2022 and notes to the financial statements (“interim financial
statements”). The management of Weichai Power Co., Ltd. is responsible for the
preparation of these interim financial statements. Our responsibility is to issue
our review report on these interim financial statements based on our review.

We conducted our review in accordance with the Review Standard for Chinese
Certified Public Accountants No. 2101 Review of Financial Statements. The
standard requires us to plan and conduct a review to obtain limited assurance as
to whether the interim financial statements are free from material misstatement.
A review is limited primarily to inquiries of company personnel and performing
analytical procedures on the data. A review provides less assurance than an
audit. We have not performed an audit. Accordingly, we do not express an audit
opinion.

Based on our review, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to
believe that the interim financial statements are not prepared in accordance
with the requirement in Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises — No. 32
Interim Financial Reporting in any material respect, or do not fairly reflect the
consolidated and company financial position of Weichai Power as at 30 June
2022 and the consolidated and company operating results and consolidated and
company cash flow of Weichai Power for the period from 1 January to 30 June
2022 in any material respect.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Certified Public Accountants LLP
Shanghai, PRC

Chinese Certified Public Accountant:
Wang Lixin

Chinese Certified Public Accountant:
Chen Bingfu

30 August 2022
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FHEERMRE

2022F6H30H AR%T

Consolidated Balance Sheet

30 June 2022  Expressed in Renminbi Yuan

Note 30 June 2022 31 December 2021
Item IHH g 2022F6H30H 2021412A318
(Restated)
(B&Eal)

Current assets MBEE
Cash and cash equivalents E¥ES VA1 AN EEERPER Y 79,664,841,240.08
Financial assets held for trading RH5GESHEE Vil 12,736,986,727.79 6,387,192,900.95
Notes receivable EWE & VA3 6,782,188,686.79 9,645,236,833.09
Accounts receivable JiE I BR X VEA4 EIELEITEIS SR 18,637,825,736.22
Receivable financing FEWRIERLE VHS 6,244,710,237.32 6,962,150,565.60
Prepayments TEA FRIE VA6 1,476,625,571.08 1,611,618,001.47
Other receivables o fth FE UK VR7 kvl 3,171,006,823.35
Inventories FE VHS ey ey EE eS| 35,390,450,977.87
Contract assets SREE VF9 5,158,025,099.12 3,766,036,780.20
Assets held for sale HEGEEE - 2,014,296.30

Non-current assets due within one year

—FRIHOERHEE VR0

3,397,595,227.60

3,357,896,909.40

Other current assets Hibhm#EE VA1 S et PR RS 5,425,479,241.51
Total current assets mBEEAG LTI PG PR 174,021,750,306.04
Non-current assets EMEBEE

Long-term receivables £ HA FE R VH12 9,229,775,455.60 9,521,961,254.20

Long-term equity investments RHERERE VA 13 5,693,719,151.40 5,709,475,643.21

Investment in other equity instruments HEihiEm TRARKRE VE 14 3,610,975,232.65 3,694,701,648.16

Other non-current financial assets EMIEREemiEE VA 15 574,189,042.35 262,923,856.20

Investment property WEEEHE VA 16 636,176,783.61 649,895,509.54

Fixed assets EEBEE Vha17 SRR IPAGE RS 34,953,959,216.58

Construction in progress HEEIRE VA18 7,349,874,785.36 6,104,329,696.88

Right-of-use assets FREEE VE19 5,058,055,211.39 5,762,043,561.83

Intangible assets mEEE VHR20 |22 BEEEEf el 22,688,163,197.44

Development expenditure s V21 302,877,277.91 212,459,914.33

Goodwill (Bl VF22 [EGEEESEE S 22,876,949,456.45

Long-term prepaid expenses REIGFEER VH23 303,243,180.49 294,121,454.13

Deferred tax assets BEMSHEE 4,935,529,098.98 5,926,568,015.99

Other non-current assets HEMIEREEE VH24 1,420,381,113.37 825,540,641.13
Total non-current assets ERBEES (el e el 119,483,093,066.07

Total assets

BEMF

290,050,389,603.77

293,504,843,372.11
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Consolidated Balance Sheet (Continued)

30 June 2022  Expressed in Renminbi Yuan

HRB D RHBRAF

aHEEAME (H)

2022F6H30H AR®T

Note
Item HE gz
Current liabilities REEE
Short-term loans 5EIE R VA25
Financial liabilities held for trading RPECHEE VH26
Notes payable ERZER VHa27
Accounts payable JE 1 BR3R VA28
Contract liabilities SR&E V29
Payroll payable JFE 11 B8k T %57 B VE30
Taxes payable R E VE31
Other payables A FE AT R VH32
Non-current liabilities due within one year —FANEEBNERESEE VA33
Other current liabilities N =R VH34
Total current liabilities wBaEeE
Non-current liabilities FERBAE
Long-term borrowings REIER VF35
Bonds payable eI E S V36
Lease liabilities HEAaE VH37
Long-term payables R EAFE T 3R VH38
Long-term payroll payable £ HA AT B T %5 B VA 39
Accruals and provisions FEEtAE VHA40
Deferred income EE W 7 V41
Deferred tax liabilities BEEFREREE
Other non-current liabilities Hib3EmB AR VH42
Total non-current liabilities ERBABER

Total liabilities

BEA&F

30 June 2022
2022F6H30H

3,610,410,896.08
199,438,122.91
28,200,144,468.66
45,969,332,977.16
13,912,377,938.39
5,433,291,806.10
1,362,891,768.09
9,544,377,309.76
7,895,994,863.56
8,198,463,379.59

124,326,723,530.30

14,723,863,814.49
5,733,137,519.20
4,419,888,985.32
7,122,657,922.01
7,794,190,213.46
397,000,059.89
4,211,272,570.17
4,551,260,811.55
10,556,193,734.13

59,509,465,630.22

183,836,189,160.52

31 December 2021
2021412 A31H
(Restated)
(B&El)

2,419,549,798.43
111,876,471.20
33,661,111,683.59
43,574,132,551.45
16,212,796,266.83
6,116,862,870.61
1,609,682,129.76
8,258,463,082.54
10,762,023,429.82
6,236,290,914.37

128,962,789,198.60

12,906,667,271.93
5,932,319,194.50
5,032,028,279.44
7,144,750,346.72
11,334,927,720.98
445,059,417.36
4,474,319,879.38
4,750,420,191.11
7,143,199,064.95

59,163,691,366.37

188,126,480,564.97
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Consolidated Balance Sheet (Continued) G EEAER (8
30 June 2022  Expressed in Renminbi Yuan 2022F6H30H ARKT
Note 30 June 2022 31 December 2021
Item ER s 202246 H30H 20214F12A31H
(Restated)
(&)
Shareholders’ equity R A 2
Share capital A% 7% Vh43 8,726,556,821.00 8,726,556,821.00
Capital reserve VN VA44SR el 13,305,688,062.91
Less: Treasury shares B ETFR VEHA45 500,137,881.94 -
Other comprehensive income Hapir e W= V46 X RPN (1,128,207,947.66)
Special reserve EIFFEE Vh47 288,082,830.23 263,819,692.47
Surplus reserve BB NTE VEHA48 2,397,198,590.54 2,397,198,590.54
Retained earnings Ko BLFHE VTA49 [AelEE sl 48,430,401,577.17
Total equity attributable to BENRERARIRE
the shareholders of the parent Eama st AR ARl 71,995,456,796.43
Minority interests DBIRRE R VRS0 | EEARIECER N 33,382,906,010.71
Total shareholders’ equity fRER =S ET Ol Lt 105,378,362,807.14
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity BEMR R R A CRIOENEERIAEFA 293,504,843,372.11
The notes are an integral part of these financial statements. MR BRI ER D -
The financial statements on pages 33 to 299 have been signed by: FI3EEF299EMPBHREHTIEBEAEE
Legal representative Principal in charge of accounting Head of accounting department
EEREA FEEHIEAEA BITREAZA
Tan Xuguang Qu Hongkun Qu Hongkun

B Bl S5 45 il
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Company Balance Sheet

30 June 2022  Expressed in Renminbi Yuan

NAEER

2022F6H30H AR®T

Note
ltem HE B 5
Current assets MENEE
Cash and cash equivalents EEEg
Financial assets held for trading RBMERMEE
Notes receivable JE Uk Z= ik XV+H1
Accounts receivable JE U BR R XV+H2
Prepayments T FRIE
Other receivables o th B U 3R XV+H3
Inventories BE
Other current assets HEm s &E
Total current assets MEBEES G
Non-current assets ERBNEE
Long-term equity investments RERERE XV+H4
Investment in other equity instruments HEERTARE
Investment property HEEEHE
Fixed assets EE&E
Construction in progress EREIRE
Intangible assets EmEEE
Development expenditure FE
Goodwill [EES
Long-term prepaid expenses RHFEER
Deferred tax assets BIEFTISTAE
Other non-current assets EBEf3EnBEE
Total non-current assets ERBEESET

Total assets

BEA

30 June 2022
20226 A30H

31,050,126,845.79
6,193,854,730.23
9,319,510,525.08
5,008,878,508.65
194,675,223.72
477,132,774.08
2,663,056,660.54
773,582,501.05

55,680,817,769.14

25,820,069,862.48
1,266,535,286.39
1,073,378,122.61
5,021,960,654.49
3,447,752,237.71
808,954,332.25
281,160,004.73
341,073,643.76
2,496,000.00
1,251,353,516.26
25,690,980.00

39,340,424,640.68

95,021,242,409.82

AR

31 December 2021
2021412 A831H

43,437,848,602.43
4,661,295,689.15
9,582,005,012.68
3,766,518,463.10
475,472,329.86
429,045,768.41
3,071,346,702.49
603,639,783.97

66,027,172,352.09

24,798,581,046.52
1,120,930,973.82
1,098,443,965.84
5,113,818,834.20
2,366,089,701.22
817,159,231.16
180,111,938.23
341,073,643.76
1,296,424,867.61
25,690,980.00

37,158,325,182.36

103,185,497,534.45
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rEIEEABR ()
2022F6H30H AR%T

Company Balance Sheet (Continued)
30 June 2022  Expressed in Renminbi Yuan

Note 30 June 2022 31 December 2021
ltem HEH B 5 2022%F6A30H 2021412 A31H
Current liabilities mEEE

Notes payable e =& N els e EPITEERrA S 15,331,350,383.77
Accounts payable JE T BR R AR EEERIERS 12,586,779,069.59
Contract liabilities ARAE 2,416,485,048.10 3,810,398,339.36
Payroll payable JE A<t B T S B 839,692,488.05 875,028,219.51
Taxes payable EXTE 21,218,741.47 171,225,613.35
Other payables A E A R 4,613,601,494.26 2,432,210,612.25
Other current liabilities Hih & E 1,000,293,183.59 1,467,973,241.26
Total current liabilities MEAESS AL\ Sy s S 36,674,965,479.09
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Long-term payables REFE X - 2,474,949.03
Long-term payroll payable £ HA JE A< B8 T 35 M 81,773,702.51 67,721,384.78
Deferred income RFEW 2= 1,308,754,397.51 1,290,579,807.54
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFTSHIBE 7,344,186.90 7,012,216.80
Total non-current liabilities EneAaBEast 1,397,872,286.92 1,367,788,358.15
Total liabilities BfEEET H e IR IR 38,042,753,837.24
Shareholders’ equity MR A =
Share capital R& K 8,726,556,821.00 8,726,556,821.00
Capital reserve BERRNE (NETAR A R 12,830,652,737.03
Less: Treasury shares B BEIERR 500,137,881.94 -
Other comprehensive income E iz & Has 285,721,682.18 166,208,016.50
Special reserve HIFHFE 161,269,203.76 151,908,227.74
Surplus reserve BB RNTE 5,061,719,832.23 5,061,719,832.23

Retained earnings

R BN B

Total shareholders’ equity

B A

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity

BEMBR S B

38,176,180,684.81

63,672,807,497.03

95,021,242,409.82

38,205,698,062.71

65,142,743,697.21

103,185,497,534.45
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Consolidated Income Statement

1 January to 30 June 2022  Expressed in Renminbi Yuan

& P HE 2%

2022F1A1HZ6H30HILRE AKE T

Note
Item HE B st
I Revenue — EERA VAS51
Less: Cost of sales R VFS51
Taxes and surcharges i K Bfd o VHS52
Distribution and selling expenses HEER VA53
General and administrative expenses ERER VA54
Research & development expenses M2 VAS55
Finance expenses BBER V56
Incl:  Interest expenses He - MEEA VH56
Interest income FEMA VH56
Add: Other income me HEablas VH57
Investment income HE W VA58
Incl:  Investment income from He o SR B ER
associates and joint ventures EEMEMN
BE W
Profit on change of fair value RAEEZHE VH59
Impairment loss of credit ERREERX V60
Impairment loss of assets BERERX VH61
Gain on disposal of assets BERENRE
Il.  Operating profit —EERE
Add: Non-operating income e EEMRA VH62
Less: Non-operating expenses B EENTE VAH63
Il Total profit = FE4zE
Less: Income tax expenses W FEHER Vh64

Net profit

(I) Breakdown by continuity of operations

1. Net profit from continuing operations

S 2l

(=) BEEREENE

1. BELLEFNE

(I Breakdown by attributable interests
1. Net profit attributable to shareholders

of the parent

2. Minority interests

(Z) ZMBERERENE
1. BERERA
FBR #0371 8

2. PBEREBHE

Incurred during

this period
FEB AR

86,740,105,940.28
71,369,557,198.80
221,593,923.33
5,012,394,800.11
3,878,292,178.56
3,687,649,401.63
(526,461,601.61)
576,781,318.17
1,072,455,313.75
196,312,983.23
180,705,749.04

7,105,527.80
507,847,686.03
(336,255,443.77)
(304,006, 174.56)
22,667,230.91

3,364,352,070.34
112,688,256.38
59,473,376.26

3,417,566,950.46
465,754,332.06

2,951,812,618.40

2,951,812,618.40

2,386,612,803.65
565,199,814.75

Incurred in the
previous period
FHEEE
(Restated)
(B&Eit)

135,316,146,425.55
110,180,062,403.25
537,001,315.81
6,717,546,877.30
4,555,389,189.05
3,805,243,802.29
(193,983,136.57)
583,023,024.75
796,969,352.31
170,067,085.95
390,050,513.06

158,437,795.19
95,693,340.02
(143,085,767.17)
(113,331,208.35)
84,997,281.92

10,199,277,219.85
145,995,569.53
56,290,950.50

10,288,981,838.88
1,711,156,136.87

8,577,825,702.01

8,577,825,702.01

6,509,892,897.99
2,067,932,804.02
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1 January to 30 June 2022  Expressed in Renminbi Yuan
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& i AR (A

2022F1A1HZ6H30HILHIE AKE T

Incurred during

Note this period
Item JHE i TEBAER
V. Net other comprehensive income after tax T - e & Uz a0 Fi 1% B4 2,739,081,254.75
Net other comprehensive income attributable FENEARIRENEAM
to shareholders of the parent after tax BAEWENTHEFE V46 1,338,778,926.01
(I) Those other comprehensive income not to (=) TeENAEBED
be reclassified into profit or loss Hibr oW
1. Changes arising from re-measuring of 1. i%ﬁ:ﬁr%?&ii‘ wat &l
defined benefit plan g3 1,206,052,769.01
2. Other comprehensive income not to be 2. BmETTEEEERERN
reclassified into Hfth 4R & H e
profit or loss using the equity method (5,921,061.10)
3. Change in fair value of investment in other 3. H#hiEx TERE AL
equity instruments BEZH (68,023,518.59)
() Those other comprehensive income to be (=) BELEEBRZN
reclassified into profit or loss Hingr e W
1. Other comprehensive income to be 1. BRZETAEERD
reclassified into profit or loss using the Hipfr g W
equity method 913,637.20
2. Cashflow hedging reserve 2. ReneENRE 63,544,391.64
3. Exchange differences on foreign currency 3. HNEBIESRERITE
translation =5 142,212,707.85
Net other comprehensive income attributable to FEROEBRENE M
minority interests after tax melmmniEEE 1,400,302,328.74
VI. Total comprehensive income N oA 5,690,893,873.15
Total comprehensive income attributable to FENTARRER
the shareholders of the parent AN 3,725,391,729.66
Total comprehensive income attributable to BERDERED
minority interests HEAaWE AR 1,965,502, 143.49
VII. Earnings per share + Bk VA65

(I) Basic earnings per share
(I) Diluted earnings per share

There was an acquisition through combination under common control

by the Company during this period. Net profit realised by the acquiree

Weichai Lovol Heavy Industry Co., Ltd. before the combination amounted to
RMB402,608,413.73. Net profit realised in the previous period amounted to

RMB316,155,087.45.

There was an acquisition through combination under common control by the

Company on 29 October 2021. Net profit realised by the acquiree Shandong

Weichai Import and Export Co., Ltd. in the previous period amounted to

RMB5,848,462.89.

Incurred in the
previous period
FHERE A
(Restated)
(BEu)

1,614,981,350.79

1,148,359,128.48

534,286,612.60

(4,480,204.89)

437,675,163.14

1,094,492.00
6,152,104.98

173,630,960.65

466,622,222.31

10,192,807,052.80

7,658,252,026.47

2,534,555,026.33

0.81
0.81

RARERNAEENR—ZHTEESH  ®E
HABREESAETIRGERAFEEHAIIERDY
B AE A AR 402,608,413.7370 0 EHRER
RFEFIE A AR®316,155,087.457T °

ARNFIAE2021F10 829 AR R —12
A0 WAEHHILERELE

T b

HABRAR L

EIRAFFEAARES,848,462.897T °
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Company Income Statement

1 January to 30 June 2022  Expressed in Renminbi Yuan

I 7R 2

2022F1A1HZ6H30HILRE AKE T

Note
ltem H B B
. Revenue — EERA XV+Hh5
Less: Cost of sales W ERR XV+H5
Taxes and surcharges G APl
Distribution and selling expenses HEEM
General and administrative expenses EIEEH
Research & development expenses kg2
Finance expenses HBEA
Incl: Interest income Hep o FEHKA
Add: Other income s HAb e
Investment income & W= XV+H6
Incl: Investment income from He o HEEHE
associates and joint ventures Me&h
¥mMiRE
Wz
Profit on change of fair value N BEEE N
Impairment loss of credit ERRBEERK
Impairment profit (loss) of assets BEREFG
(BX)
Gain on disposal of assets EEREWNS
Il. Operating profit ZEENE
Add: Non-operating income s FEINIRA
Less: Non-operating expenses W BT
lll. Total profit = MEeE
Less: Income tax expenses B FTISTHER
IV. Net profit R
() Breakdown by continuity of operations (—) REEREES 1
1. Net profit from continuing operations 1. BEgE
F A
V. Net other comprehensive income after tax T “E 474 WEH
& 558
(I) Those other comprehensive income not to (=) TReEDEEEZR
be reclassified into profit or loss M E iR a Was
1. Change in fair value of investment in 1. EfhEmTA
other equity instruments KRERARE
VI. Total comprehensive income N kRE W E AR

Incurred during
this period
AEBAER

12,972,622,233.93

9,798,531,841.01
42,021,453.09
92,293,229.75
511,854,648.68
1,582,550,968.46
(337,909,812.31)

338,220,484.27
48,258,416.96
249,170,014.74

129,061,497.47
58,164,794.50
(57,681,422.53)

24,299,258.20
991,840.92

1,606,482,808.04
12,971,860.83
26,187,637.11

1,593,267,031.76
(2,183,244.55)

1,595,450,276.31

1,595,450,276.31

119,513,665.68

119,513,665.68

1,714,963,941.99

Incurred in
previous period
L HARE AR

34,116,548,485.94
25,094,375,937.40

230,249,349.13
1,209,110,240.71
717,877,224.28
1,540,769,312.15
(266,171,246.44)
265,463,233.95
58,225,908.51
141,169,540.13

34,377,054.52
(39,799,650.15)

(19,720,218.67)
78,316,945.07

5,808,530,193.60
18,619,258.65
6,134,363.02

5,821,015,089.23
666,740,384.83

5,154,274,704.40

5,154,274,704.40

43,462,449.96

43,462,449.96

5,197,737,154.36




Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity E P B R R R

1 January to 30 June

Item

2022  Expressed in Renminbi Yuan

Share
capital

e

Capital

feserve

L1 i RELR

Atend of previus year

Business combinations involving enterprises

- LEEREE
A-EHTRRA%

8,726,556,821.00 12,254,564,796.74

under common control 1,051,123,266.17
1. At beginning of period festater) o FEBNRE(EED §726,556,821.00 13,305,688,06291
Il Mosements n curent perod - RHEERSLE
() Total comprehensive income (-) GakzEE
(I njction and reduction (2) BERARH S EE
1. Capital inection from shareholders 1. RERAEE Va4 12421464002
2. Consideraon pad for business 1 R-EETeE
combinationsinvohving enerpries afikiEg

under common control

3. Amount of share-based payment

(214066930992
3 BBRREARR

taken o owners' equiy ERNSE M= 595,951.93
4. Repurchaseof shares 4 BERE VES =
5. Acquition of minorty inerests n 5. BEFRANY
subsidars R itl} (4830,14357)
6. Others 6. Ef §32,294.29
(1) Profit approprizton (=) HBAR
1. Distrbution toshareholders 1. HRRHAR
2. Distrbution to holders of other 1 HPRAEMER
equiy nstruments of subsidares TAREEOAR VIS
3. Othes 3 Eh VEQ
() Transfer of oners equiy (1) BRiBRnESE
1. Transfer other comprehensive I lEbsadaEE
income to retaned eaings 2hhs
V) Speci esenve (1) 2REE
1. Appropriaton during th period 1. AEER VR4 =
2. Used durig the peiod 1 KEEE VR4 =
(1) Others (7) £t (653,25847)
W, Atend o eiod m. AgEkLE B06S5682100 1128517819719

Interim Report 2022 A HAZRE

i VN

LE

20221 1HE6H30HIF5E ARE%T

Incurred during this period

RERER

Equity attributable to parent company
SERSATRRRR

Other
Less:  comprehensive
income

ek

treasury shares

B ERR

(1,128121,1430)

(86,804.64)

(1,128,207,947.66)

1,338,778,926.01

500,137,881.94

911,28085

50013788194 211,482259.20

Spedial Surplus Retained

Sub-total
it

reserve

L

feserve

BROR

eamnings

FAEAR

271,641,061.54  2,397,198,590.54  48,384964,194.07  70,906,804,320.87

(7821,369.01) 4543138310 1,088,652,475.56

26381969247 2,397,198,590.54  48430401,577.17  71,995,436,796.43

2,386,612803.65  3,725,391,729.66

- 1421464002

- (214066934992)

= 595,95193
- (500,137,881.94)

- (48014357
- 83229429

(1,606,835,411.89) (1,606,835,411.89)

(12252600000 (122,526,00000)

(911,28085)

57,205,039.89 s
(32.941,902.13) s

57,205,039.89
(32,941,802.13)
(653,25841)

288,082830.3  2,397,198590.54

Minority
interest
HEBRES

Total equity
BRRELH

32,054,860,466.07102,961,664,786.94

1,328,045,50464  2,416,698,02020

33,382,906,010.71105,378,362,807.14

1,965,502,14349  5,690,893,873.15

44423806438 568452,704.40

- (2140,669349.92)

1216512 131760320
- (500,137,881.94)

(31,162,904.05)
190,111.75

(35,993,047.62)
1,622,406.04

(965,892,743.63)  (2572,728,155.52)

(94911,12975)  (94,911,129.75)
- (122,526,00000)

30,340,365.06
(13,033,246.06)
(40038422)

87,545,404.95
(45,975,148.19)
(1,053,642.69)

49,086,741,688.08  71,495,102,50430  34719,097,93895 106,214,200443.25

41
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (Continued) G DR IR R o 2 B R (4
1 January to 30 June 2022  Expressed in Renminbi Yuan 2022F 1A 1HE6A30H LRI ARBTT

Incurred in previous period (estated)

ERLE(RED)
Equty attributable to parent company
BERSLARRER
Other
Share Capital comprehensive Specil Surplus Retained Minoriy
Note capital fesenve income Teserve Teserve eanings Sub-otal inferest Total equity
fiem 58 iz i U SN S 2EEE Bl AARME Nt vEBRER  RRERNH
1. Atend of previous year - [EEREE 7933,873,895.00 18055253858 (225082676779 22343016781 163024307646 4348504733089 51.20032024095  29.231,008,13507  80433328,376.2
Business combinations involving enterprises under BT 24K
common control B 992,371,685.83 - = = 654444865 106891613448 278603421909 385495035357
Il At beginning of perod (retated) = AEETEE(RER) 193387380500 117292420441 225082676779 2343016781 163024307646 4356159177954 5227123637543 3201704235416 84,288278729.59
Il Movements i current period = KBERRILE
() Tote comprehensive income (-)EakagE - - 1183591848 - - 63098089799 7682200647 25345502633 10,192,807,05280
(1) Injection and reduction (2) RRBARRD &R
1. Capita inection from shareholders 1. BRRAER 79268292600 12,195,374,35447 - = = - 12988057,28047 4542948984 13,033,486,77031
2. Amount of share-hased payment taken to 1 BAXRHARR
oners' equy FEneR = - 118511438 - - - - 118511438 143508102 260019540
3. Others 3 A B 756,299.85 - = = - 756,299.85 71796887 147426872
(1) Profit approprizton (=) AR
1. Distbution to shareholders 1. HRENAR - - - - - 03328773029 (203328773929 (84379281467 (2.877,080,5539)
2. Disrbution to holdes o other equity 1 HThREkER
insuments of subsilres TARBENAE - - : - - - - 0Ty (429706573
3. Others 3 i VR4 - - - = - (16674119 (185,646,741.19) - (185,646,741.19)
(V) Speci esenve (m) EREE
1. Appropriaion during the period I REER - - B Y UATH:)] - S OMTIBR BT 97T
2. Used during the period ). THER - - - (28,106,179.08) - B 28,106,179.08) (18996,094.48) (47,102,27356)

V. Atend of period L. TEEREE 870655682100 1337023999311 (1100467,63931) 25503110433 163024307646 4785255019705  70,73,153,552.64 3368012860273 104,412,282,155.37
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5 ) %

20221 1HE6H30HIF5E ARE%T

Incurred during this period

AHRLR

Other

comprehensive

Special

Surplus

Retained Total

Note Share capital Capital reserve treasury shares income reserve reserve earnings equity
fiem R iE: e BA0E i ERR AfGAuE ERE BHLE #ORAE RRgaqH
. Atend of previous year - LEERHE 8726,556,821.00  12,830,652731.03 166,208,016.50 151908,227.74 500171983223 3820569800271 65142743,697.21

() Othes (=) B Wt - - - = - () (18132203)
Il Atbeginning of period o THETRE 872655682100 12,830,652731.03 166,208,016.50 151908227.74 500171983223 38,187,56582039  65,124,611,45489
Il Movements in curent period = THERZELE
) Totel comprehensive income (=) Gahatg 119,513,665.68 159545027631 1,714,963 94199
(1) njecton and reduction (2) BRERATEVER
1. Repurchaseofshares 1. BBk Vids 500,137,881.94 (00,137,881.94)
2. Business combinatonsinvolving 1 E-BHTRERH
enterprises under common contol (1,089,155,582.04) (1,089,155,582.04)
(I Profit appropriaion (Z) #EAR
1. Distibution toshareholders 1. #RENIE it (1,606,835,411.89)  (1,606,835411.89)
(V) Special reenve () 2EEE
1. Appropriaton during the priod 1. 1ERER 2008372573 2008372573
2. U durng the period 2. FEER (10732,749.1) (10732,749.71)
N, Atendof perod m IERRE 872655682100 11,761,497,154.99 5013788194 28572168218 161260920376 506171983223 3817610068481  63672807.497.3
Incurred in previous period
HREE
Other
less. comprehensive Special Surplus Retained Total
Note Share capital Capital reserve~~~ treastry shares income Teserve Tesenve eamings equity
ftem %R it e BALE AoEER  EbGAkE 2EGE B#LE KARAE  REERAR
. Atbeginning of period - FHENSE 79338738900 695,679,318 - 31917000 M711873074  4263872,010.04 34,883,003,58158 47,936,676,619.17
I Movements in curtent period R s 0 Lk
() Total comprehensive income () GeuansE - - - 3464499 - - 515427470440 5197,737,15436
(1) Injection and reduction (Z) RERARBLER - - - - - - - -
1. Capital injection from shareholders 1. REEAER 792,682,926.00 12,195,374,354.47 - - - - - 12,988,057,.280.47
(i) profit ppropriation (=) HIEAE
1. Distribution to shareholders 1. HRRHOAE - - - - - - (2,033287,739.29) (2,033287,739.29)
(V) Specil resene (m) ZEREE
1. Appropriation during the period 1. KRR - - - - 1792350690 - - 1792350690
2. Used during the period ). KEEE = - - - (559387049) = - (5593870.49)
Il Atend of period = FEHRRE 8,726,556,821.00 12,891,053,586.28 - 865916199  129448367.15  4263872,010.04 38,003990,546.69 64,101512,951.12
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

1 January to 30 June 2022  Expressed in Renminbi Yuan

[tem

G B & E R
2022F 1 A1HZE6A30HILHIE ARKETT

Incurred during
Note this period
B 5T FEBAER

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES REFPELNRS
mE
Cash received from sales of goods or rendering HEMM  RESH
of services g0k ken 83,231,505,473.18
Refunds of taxes WERIR B & iRE 2,253,190,598.98
Other cash received relating to operating U B 4 £ 4R 4 E B
activities BHNRE V66 1,185,014,833.72
Subtotal of cash inflows from operating activities RETHIR & RANET 86,669,710,905.88
Cash paid for goods and services EERM BEXBH
XHHRE 65,272,050,118.80
Cash paid to and on behalf of TRGEBIARABT
employees SRS 16,034,564,860.30
Cash paid for all types of taxes TS ERE 1,761,655,948.65
Other cash paid relating to operating R E i BRAR R B
activities E@ENRS V66 4,742,154,965.40
Subtotal of cash outflows from operating ST ENTE & /N E
activities 87,810,425,893.15
Net cash flows from operating KEERSEER
activities Reng¥R V67 (1,140,714,987.27)
Il CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES RETHEER
BREnE
Cash received from sale of investments U [ % & W B IR & 11,847,508,219.19
Cash received from return on investments SR E W WEIH
Be 407,976,283.99
Net cash received from disposal of fixed assets, REBTEE  EF
intangible assets and other long-term assets EEMEMREHEE
Y Bl € 5 18,287,692.84
Net cash received from disposal of subsidiaries BRETAGIREMEE
and other business units BAWIIMREFE  Vh6T 15,792,193.71
Other cash received relating to investing W B E A 295 B E B)
activities E@ENRS 2,213,575,104.57

Subtotal of cash inflows from investing activities

REBHREMANG

14,503,139,494.30

Cash paid for acquisition of fixed assets,

FEEEEE B

3,327,300,998.08
20,415,734,740.45

351,162,971.58

24,094,198,710.11

intangible assets and other long-term assets AEMEMRIEE
IRERE
Cash paid for acquisition of investments BREIHOES
Net cash paid for acquisition of subsidiaries and REFARIREAME S
other business units BUXNNE2FHE
Other cash paid relating to investing activities ST HE A R EEE
EENESE
Subtotal of cash outflows from investing activities REEHE S RmA NG
Net cash flows from investing activities RETHEEN
Rene s

(9,591,059,215.81)

Incurred in
previous period
RS A
(Restated)
(BE)

101,921,823,865.61
656,136,508.62

1,276,175,716.45

103,854,136,090.68

67,491,540,119.63

15,497,527,177.65
5,099,215,750.50

5,727,692,535.11

93,815,975,582.89

10,038,160,507.79

15,740,125,820.60

220,157,728.47

90,262,745.71

5,996,252.60

16,056,542,547.38

2,739,177,917.83
17,555,263,317.79

92,531,480.80

72,942,004.27

20,459,914,720.69

(4,403,372,173.31)




Consolidated Cash Flow Statement (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022  Expressed in Renminbi Yuan

Interim Report 2022 A HAZRE

G HE SR ER (4)
2022F1A1HZ6H30HILHIE AKE T

Note
Item JBE =
. CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES SERYELL
Bens
Cash received from capital contributions RIS & U B 6 IR
Incl: Cash received by subsidiaries from capital Hep: FRRBRKADH
contributions of minority shareholders [ 5% B U E
MEE
Cash received from borrowings NEERREIRE S
Other cash received relating to financing LISZ BEMEEEEE)
activities EHENEE
Subtotal of cash inflows from financing activities SEFEHRSMANET
Cash repayments of borrowings BEREEBZNORS
Cash paid for distribution of dividends or profits DERA - FHKER
and for interest expenses FMEZNMES
Incl: Cash paid to minority shareholders for Hep: FRAIEMNG
distribution of dividends or profits by LHR R
subsidiaries R~ A
Other cash paid relating to financing Y EMBEEES
activities EHENESE V66
Subtotal of cash outflows from financing
activities SEFHHRLMMB /&t
Net cash flows from financing BEEHELEN
activities RenEFE
IV.  EFFECT OF CHANGES IN EXCHANGE RATEON [0 « [ER @ &% & );z
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ReEENNTE
V. NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND e HEeRBREEEMF
CASH EQUIVALENTS OR D) e
Add: Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of m:BReRES
period SEMHRE
VI CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF N HRBRELRBESZEY
PERIOD AR V67

Incurred during

this period
FH AT

568,452,704.40

568,452,704.40
13,840,019,776.37

1,317,656,771.00
15,726,129,251.77

7,724,296,461.30

1,787,725,728.13

259,297,268.17

2,638,827,626.59

12,150,849,816.02

3,575,279,435.75

47,688,820.07

(7,108,805,947.26)

68,612,743,838.02

61,503,937,890.76

Incurred in
previous period
FHEEE
(Restated)
(BEut)

13,029,243,557.76

39,243,571.36
4,185,782,399.51

46,073,900.42

17,261,099,857.69

7,136,114,358.33

1,734,930,463.45

492,150,289.45

856,824,545.44

9,727,869,367.22

7,533,230,490.47

(100,985,644.49)

13,067,033,180.46

54,651,898,959.75

67,718,932,140.21
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Company Cash Flow Statement

1 January to 30 June 2022  Expressed in Renminbi Yuan

Item

EH

= V2 Bl
NS E R
2022F1A1HZ6H30HILRE AKE T

Note
ik

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Cash received from sales of goods or rendering
of services

Refunds of taxes

Other cash received relating to operating
activities

RERBHELN
REng
HERm  RESH
Wz mR e

W BB B R IE

BRI B EE RS
BRMRE

Subtotal of cash inflows from operating activities

RERBRBMANG

Cash paid for goods and services

Cash paid to and on behalf of
employees

Cash paid for all types of taxes

Other cash paid relating to operating
activities

BEEm EREK
XHRE

X T A R AR T
XMRE

XNHERRE

X EMBLEEEY
BREMRE

Subtotal of cash outflows from operating
activities

RERBRM MGt

Net cash flows from operating KEEREEER

activities ReEREFHE

Il CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES - REEYEEN
Rehe

Cash received from sale of investments
Cash received from return on investments

Net cash received from disposal of fixed assets,
intangible assets and other long-term assets

BERERENHR S

RERERZEKEM
Be

REETEE B
BENMEMRHEE
Ye Bl ) 3R &5

Subtotal of cash inflows from investing activities

KREZHHEMANGT

Cash paid for acquisition of fixed assets,

BRETEE  BY

intangible assets and other long-term assets BEMEMREEE

ZRERE

Cash paid for acquisition of investments BREIAHES

Other cash paid relating to investing activities S EMEEREEE)
MRS

Subtotal of cash outflows from investing activities BEEEES T Nat

Net cash flows from investing activities BEERELR
Rene$H

Incurred during
this period
FEBERE

16,312,163,824.75
152,050,443.79

382,750,448.28

16,846,964,716.82

18,468,691,125.83

1,166,969,459.45
251,051,284.15

680,197,791.51

20,566,909,660.94

(3,719,944,944.12)

5,798,300,000.00

424,698,064.93

737,282.00

6,223,735,346.93

1,877,374,600.24
8,938,274,700.00

10,815,649,300.24

(4,591,913,953.31)

Incurred in
previous period

LEBAR

29,266,853,758.97
23,286,580.67

343,107,707.40

29,633,248,047.04

20,837,906,193.85

1,311,103,942.15
2,549,055,635.95

656,892,632.98

25,354,958,404.93

4,278,289,642.11

271,300,485.26

22,628,302.06

293,928,787.32

931,474,648.47
1,379,636,797.55

542,102,983.61

2,853,214,429.63

(2,559,285,642.31)
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NEIB & EE ()
2022F1A1HZ6H30HILHIE AKE T

Incurred during Incurred in
Note this period previous period
Item BE lixsa AHERAEH FHEEE
Ml CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES = EEEHELEM
Bens
Cash received from capital contributions WU E W B B & 12,989,999,986.40
Subtotal of cash inflows from financing activities E8FHRER/ANET 12,989,999,986.40

Cash paid for distribution of dividends or profits
and for interest expenses

Other cash paid relating to financing
activities

DB - R EN
FEX MRS

XN EMEEEEE
B@EMRE

2,325,376.00 41,612,965.98

500,137,881.94 2,659,268.29

Subtotal of cash outflows from financing

BERBRS MM/

502,463,257.94 44,272,234.27

(502,463,257.94) 12,945,727,752.13

288,756.89 (6,307.82)

(8,814,033,398.48) 14,664,725,444.11

39,839,286,968.11 32,355,590,939.01

activities
Net cash flows from financing SEEHELED
activities ReEREFHE
IV.  EFFECT OF CHANGES IN EXCHANGE RATEON /0. EXRZEHHIHSRAS
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ZENNEE
V. NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND - BERReEEWF
CASH EQUIVALENTS O )3E hn%e
Add: Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of m: \YRe KRS
period SEMNE
V. CASHAND CASHEQUIVALENTS ATEND OF X+ HIRE4RESZEY
PERIOD FRER

31,025,253,569.63 47,020,316,383.12




48 Weichai Power Co., Ltd. #%E HRHER A A

Notes to Financial Statements

1 January to 30 June 2022

L.

Corporate Background
Weichai Power Co., Ltd. (the “Company”) is a joint stock company limited

by shares incorporated in Weifang, Shandong on 23 December 2002.

The RMB ordinary A shares and overseas listed foreign H shares issued by
the Company were listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange and The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, respectively. The registered address of
the Company’s headquarters is 197, Section A, Fu Shou East Street, High
Technology Industrial Development Zone, Weifang, Shandong Province.
The Company operates in the transportation equipment manufacturing
industry. The major scope of operations of the Company and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) covers: design, development, production, sale,
repair, import and export of engines and auxiliary products, automobile,
automobile axle and components, gear boxes and components and other
automobile components, agricultural machinery and parts of agricultural,
livestock and fishery machinery, hydraulic pumps, hydraulic motors,
hydraulic valves, gears and gear transmission devices, ancillary casting
and casting products of hydraulic components, internal combustion
engines, new energy powertrain systems and ancillary products; technical
consultation and technical services; leasing of self-owned houses;
sale of steel; business management service; forklift trucks production,
warehousing technology and supply chain solution services. For the
aforesaid scope of operation, operating permit(s) should be held for those

operations requiring administrative permission.

Weichai Group Holdings Limited and Shandong Heavy Industry Group
Co., Ltd., established in the PRC, are the parent company and ultimate

holding company of the Group, respectively.

These consolidated interim financial statements of the Company were

approved by the board of directors of the Company on 30 August 2022.

The consolidation scope of consolidated financial statements is determined

on the basis of control. Please refer to Note VI for changes in this period.

S 75 ¥l o M R

2022F 1 H1HZ6H30H 1L EiE

— A E A P

MU NBRHERAB (A THEBEIAA
AR —XKMK2002F12A23B&EILEE
MM IR AR AR o

RRABETARE EBRAREEI £
MONERHIRE 2 B RYIEFZZ M
ERBMARZAMERAB LT - KRB
it 4t ik 57 7 LU SR 5 T = B B i EE 3
HRBVBREI197RKF - ARAMBEITE
REBEHRERER - ARBRTAA
(ATHBEIAEE]) TELLHES
BPRNEEER  AE - AEERLRT
B TEERBRTAEAREMITE
TERF - BEEW R RMNBORM B
RER  BRERZE  BEBRPM  EHNE
WEFHEKE - RE TN E S M EE
o AR FEERB AR ERREE
EmRE - FE - EE - HE 45
EHO RINEANRMRE - EBEFEE
HE - WMHE  CEEERS - X&EAE
E RERMRERERRTEZRSE - A
EREEBES RITRET A RURET A R E -

AR ERAMRRZERRF DB BN
PEIKZ A SRR EB AR QR MILE
ETRBERRAR -

ARARA P EIR SRR R 2022F8 A30H
EREARNBEESHE -

B TE IR H G G 5 B AR G B AT AE
E o NHZBER2RMER -



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

II.

Preparation Basis of the Financial Statements
Preparation basis

These interim financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises — No. 32 Interim Financial
Reporting issued by the Ministry of Finance (the “MOF”). In addition,
the Group also disclosed relevant financial information in accordance
with relevant disclosure requirements of Compilation Rules No. 15 for
Information Disclosure by Companies Offering Securities to the Public —
General Requirements for Financial Reporting (2014 Revision) and the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong

Kong Limited.

These interim financial statements include selected explanatory notes,
which are provided for easy understanding of the Group’s important
events and transactions leading to its financial position and change of
results of operations since the financial statements for the year 2021.
These selected notes do not include all information and disclosures
required under the Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises for a
full set of financial statements. As such, these statements shall be read in

conjunction with the financial statements of the Group for the year 2021.

Continuing operations

The interim financial statements are presented on a going concern basis.

Basis of book-keeping and principle of
measurement

The Group adopts the accrual basis as the basis of book-keeping in
accounting. Other than certain financial instruments, these financial
statements have been prepared at historical costs. A disposal group held-
for-sale is carried at the lower of carrying amount or the net value of
fair value less selling expenses. If the assets are impaired, corresponding

provisions for impairment shall be made according to relevant provisions.

Under historical cost method, the amount of assets was measured at the
fair value of cash or cash equivalents or consideration paid at the time
of purchase. Liabilities were measured at the amount of money or assets
due to the current obligations actually received, or a present obligation
of the contract amount, or the measurement of cash or cash equivalents
in accordance with daily activities to repay the liabilities of the amount

expected to be paid.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

II. Preparation Basis of the Financial Statements
(Continued)
Basis of book-keeping and principle of
measurement (Continued)
The fair value refers to the amount, at which both willing parties engaged
to an orderly transaction who are familiar with the condition sell their
assets or transfer their liabilities. Whether the fair value is observable or
measured by valuation techniques, the measurement and disclosure of the

fair value in these financial statements were all based on it.

For financial assets with transaction prices as the fair value upon initial
recognition and a valuation technique that unobservable inputs are to be
used to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the valuation technique
is calibrated so that the results of the valuation technique equals to the

transaction price.

Fair value measurements are categorized into three levels based on the
degree to which the inputs of the fair value measurements are observable
and the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its

entirety, which are described as follows:

° Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the

measurement date.
o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within
Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly

or indirectly.

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

PO 5 i 3 M R (4)
2022F 1 H1HZ6H30H 1L EiE

s Ak v A AR R (A

$7 0 L 18 R0 311 B ()

AABEETS2EEEGFEREENE
FREF  HE-—REEMERIIKES
B-HEEMBEXNNER - BERAN(E
BEEAEBRINETRAHERM MGG
B EAMBRRFAENRENRAE
BB ERE £ T IAREE

HRURSERERTIGERKNALE
B BEAABEREFETERT IR
THBERGAENEERTNEREE
EHEBREPREZGERMN - KEMKE
BATEE M A TERAERER ZHEBRESE -
REBEFEERAABENEAENT
BREEUARZEOABHRIABEFE
BNE2M RO R=ERR:

]
-

i o

- B-ERBAERENEDEITE
HIRRAES B TR TS LA
GG

s EBE_ERBAERKE-ERBAE
SMEBEER R BEERAEERATEE
MBI AME

. ECERBABEZANEERAMGS
TA B AL -



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates
Accounting policies and accounting estimates are formulated based on
the actual characteristics of production and operation. These are reflected
in the identification of leases, provision for credit losses in respect of
receivables, classification of fixed assets and depreciation estimation,
classification of intangible assets and long-term pre-paid expenses and

estimation of amortisation.

1. Accounting period
The accounting year of the Group is from 1 January to 31 December
of each calendar year. The accounting period for these interim

financial statements is from 1 January to 30 June.

2. Business cycle
Business cycle refers to the period from the purchase of assets used
for processing to the realisation of cash and cash equivalents. The

business cycle of the Group is twelve months.

3. Functional currency
Renminbi (RMB) was the currency used in the major economic
environment in which the Company and its domestic subsidiaries
operate the business. The Company and its domestic subsidiaries
used RMB as their functional currencies. The Company’s overseas
subsidiaries may determine their own functional currencies based on
the currency used in the major economic environment in which they
operate the business. In preparation of these financial statements,

the Company adopted RMB as the functional currency.

4. The accounting treatment of business
combinations involving enterprises under
common control and business combinations
involving enterprises not under common
control
Business combinations include business combinations involving
enterprises under common control and business combinations

involving enterprises not under common control.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)

The accounting treatment of business

combinations involving enterprises under

common control and business combinations

involving enterprises not under common

control (Continued)

4.

4.1

4.2

Business combinations involving enterprises under
common control

A business combination involving enterprises under common
control is a business combination in which all of the
combining enterprises are ultimately controlled by the same
party or parties both before and after the combination, and
that control is not transitory.

Assets and liabilities that are obtained in a business
combination shall be measured at the carrying amounts on
the financial statements of the acquiree as at the combination
date. The difference between the carrying amount of the net
assets obtained by the acquirer and the carrying amount of
the consideration paid for the combination (or the aggregate
face value of shares issued as consideration) shall be adjusted
to share premium under capital reserve. If the capital reserve
is not sufficient to absorb the difference, any excess shall be
adjusted against retained earnings.

Costs that are directly attributable to the combination are
charged to profit or loss when incurred.

Business combinations involving enterprises not
under common control and goodwill

A business combination involving enterprises not under
common control is a business combination in which all of the
combining enterprises are not ultimately controlled by the
same party or parties before and after the combination.

Combination cost refers to the fair value of assets paid,
liabilities incurred or assumed and equity instruments issued
by the acquirer for acquiring control of the acquiree. For
business combinations of enterprises not under common
control achieved in stages through multiple transactions, the
combination cost shall be the sum of the consideration paid
on the date of acquisition and the fair value, as at the date of
acquisition, of the equity interests in the acquiree held prior
to the date of acquisition.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)

4.

The accounting treatment of business

combinations involving enterprises under

common control and business combinations

involving enterprises not under common

control (Continued)

4.2 Business combinations involving enterprises not
under common control and goodwill (Continued)
The fees paid to intermediaries including audit, legal services,
appraisal and so forth and other related administrative
expenses incurred by the acquirer for the business
combination are charged to profit or loss for the current

period when incurred.

The identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of
acquiree qualifying for the conditions of recognition acquired
by the acquirer in the business combination are measured
at fair value on the date of acquisition. When the business
combination contract provides that, upon the occurrence of
multiple future contingencies, the acquirer shall require the
return of consideration paid for the business combination,
such contingent consideration as set out in the contract
shall be recognised as an asset by the Group as a part of
the aggregate consideration transferred in the business
combination, and be included in the cost of combination
at the fair value at the date of acquisition. Within twelve
months after the acquisition, if the contingent consideration
needs to be adjusted as new or further evidences are
obtained in respect of circumstances existed as of the
date of acquisition, the amount previously included in the
goodwill shall be adjusted. A change in or adjustment to the
contingent consideration under other circumstances shall
be measured in accordance with Accounting Standards for
Business Enterprises No. 22 — Recognition and Measurement
of Financial Instruments and Accounting Standards for
Business Enterprises No. 13 — Contingencies. Any change or

adjustment is included in profit or loss for the current period.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)

4.

The accounting treatment of business
combinations involving enterprises under
common control and business combinations
involving enterprises not under common
control (Continued)

4.2 Business combinations involving enterprises not

under common control and goodwill (Continued)

Where the combination cost is larger than the portion of
fair value of net identifiable assets of acquiree acquired
in the business combination, the difference is recognised
as goodwill as an asset, and initially measured at cost. For
those with combination cost lower than the portion of fair
value of net identifiable assets of acquiree acquired in the
business combination, re-verification is first carried out on
the measurement of the fair value of all identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities as well as the combination
cost. For those with combination cost lower than the portion
of fair value of net identifiable assets of acquiree acquired
in the business combination after re-verification, they are

charged to profit or loss for the current period.

If either the fair values of identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities acquired in a combination or the cost of
business combination can be determined only provisionally
by the end of the period in which the business combination
was effected, the acquirer recognises and measures the
combination using those provisional values. Any adjustments
to those provisional values within 12 months after the
acquisition date are treated as if they had been recognised

and measured on the acquisition date.

Goodwill arising from the business combination shall be
recognised separately in the consolidated financial statements

and measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

PO 5 i 3 M R (4)
2022F 1 H1HZ6H30H 1L EiE

= 2 BOR K& at A wt
B —ZH T MER—=H

ThEXEHNEFHEERS
& ()

op

4.2 R —ZH TR ES B

KEE(E)

BHFRARARR G G H IS AR
BESAHRRBFEELIA(EE
MBHER  ER—HEER
RREELREAETIIRG
E - AU /IR A G EUE
MEEE T BRRFEELA
EBEMNEN  BEHIMEHRK
BESREAKREE  BE
hZBBENRIAEBEARE
HERANAELETER  BR
‘A HREN/NRE G HEE
MEEETABRRFEELA
BEMEN - St AE BB -

AHEHHR - WA HPEE
MEEAHREE  ABRXK
BRENAARBEHDESH
AR BEERHEER - BIAM
BENEREESERELE
BOFETHERMGE - BEA
B1I2EAANEERNERKER
ETHEN  SREBERRE

R & -

REEAHTEXNEEES H
MBERERTEFI®R - WIRR
AN REF B EEERNOS
HETE -



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)

5.

Basis for preparation of consolidated financial
statements

The consolidation scope of consolidated financial statements is
determined on the basis of control. Control refers to the power of
an investor over an investee, and exposure, or rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee, and the ability to
use its power over the investee to affect the amount of its returns.
Once the relevant facts and situation which alters the elements that

define control change, the Group shall perform re-evaluation.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control

of the subsidiary.

For a subsidiary acquired through a business combination not
involving enterprises under common control, the operating results
and cash flows from the date of acquisition (the date when the
control is obtained) are included in the consolidated income

statement and consolidated cash flow statement, as appropriate.

No matter when the business combination occurs in the reporting
period, subsidiaries acquired through a business combination
involving enterprises under common control or the party being
absorbed under merger by absorption are included in the Group's
scope of consolidation as if they had been included in the scope
of consolidation from the date when they first came under the
common control of the ultimate controlling party. Their operating
results and cash flows from the beginning of the earliest reporting
period or from the date when they first came under the common
control of the ultimate controlling party are included in the
consolidated income statement and consolidated cash flow

statement, as appropriate.

The significant accounting policies and accounting periods adopted
by the subsidiaries are determined based on the uniform accounting

policies and accounting periods set out by the Company.
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56 Weichai Power Co., Ltd.

HRBORHERDE

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)

5.

Basis for preparation of consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

The effect of all intra-group transactions between the Company and
its subsidiaries and among subsidiaries on the consolidated financial

statements is eliminated on consolidation.

The portion of subsidiaries’ equity that is not attributable to the
Company is treated as minority interests and presented as “minority
interests” in the consolidated balance sheet within shareholders’
equity. The portion of net profits or losses of subsidiaries
attributable to minority interests is presented as “minority interests”
in the consolidated income statement below the “net profit” line

item.

Where the amount of losses of a subsidiary attributable to the
minority shareholders exceeds their share of the opening balance
of owner’s equity of the subsidiary, the excess shall be allocated

against minority interests.

Acquisition of minority interests or disposal of interest in a
subsidiary that does not result in the loss of control over the
subsidiary is accounted for as an equity transaction. The carrying
amounts of the interests attributable to the parent and minority
interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative
interests in the subsidiary. The difference between the amount by
which the minority interests are adjusted and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is adjusted to capital reserve. If the
capital reserve is not sufficient to absorb the difference, the excess is

adjusted against retained earnings.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)

6.

Classification of joint arrangements and
accounting treatments for joint operations

Joint arrangements include joint operations and joint ventures. The
classification is determined by considering the structure, legal form
and contract terms of the arrangement according to the rights
and obligations of the joint parties in the joint arrangements. A
joint operation refers to the arrangement whereby the parties have
rights to the assets and obligations for the liabilities relating to the
arrangement. A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the

parties only have rights to the net assets of the joint arrangement.

The Group adopts equity method for computing the investments
n joint ventures. For details, see Note Ill. 13.3.2 Long-term equity

investment calculated by equity method

The following items should be recognised by the Group in relation
to its sole and shared ownerships in the joint operation: solely held
assets, as well as jointly held assets according to its share; solely
assumed liabilities, as well as jointly assumed liabilities according to
its share; income derived from its entitled share of production of
the joint operation; income derived from the sales of production of
the joint operation according to its share; solely incurred expenses,
as well as expenses incurred by the joint operation according to its
share. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses related to the joint
operation are computed according to requirements applicable to

specific assets, liabilities, income and expenses.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)

6.

Classification of joint arrangements and
accounting treatments for joint operations
(Continued)

If the Group invests or sells assets, etc. to the joint operation (except
when the assets constitute business), the part pertaining to other
participants in the joint operation among the profit or loss due to
the transaction will be recognised only before the assets are sold
to a third party by the joint operation. Where asset impairment
losses are incurred in respect of assets invested or sold, the Group

recognises the losses in full amount.

If the Group purchases assets, etc. from the joint operation (except
when the assets constitute business), the part pertaining to other
participants in the joint operation among the profit or loss due to
the transaction will be recognised only before the assets are sold to
a third party. Where asset impairment losses are incurred in respect
of assets purchased, the Group recognises the losses to the extent

of its share.

Recognition criteria for cash and cash
equivalents

Cash comprises the Group'’s cash on hand and deposits that can
be readily withdrawn on demand. Cash equivalents are short-term
(usually mature within 3 months from the date of acquisition),
highly liquid investments held by the Group, that are readily
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an

insignificant risk of changes in value.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)
8. Foreign currency operations and foreign
currency translation

8.1

Foreign currency operations

Foreign currency transactions are recorded, on initial
recognition, in the functional currency, by applying to the
foreign currency amount the spot exchange rate prevailing
on the transaction dates. On the balance sheet date, foreign
currency monetary items are translated into Renminbi using
the spot exchange rate prevailing on the balance sheet date.
Exchange differences arising from the difference between
the spot exchange rate on that day and on the date of initial
recognition or the previous balance sheet date are taken to
profit or loss in the current period except for the following:
(1) The exchange difference in respect of special borrowings
denominated in foreign currencies that meet the criteria for
capitalisation are capitalised during the capitalisation period as
a cost under the relevant assets; (2) The exchange difference
in respect of hedging instruments used for hedging for
avoiding foreign exchange rate risks is accounted for using
hedge accounting; (3) For monetary items classified as at
fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI),
exchange difference arising from the change in other gross
carrying amounts other than amortised costs is taken to other

comprehensive income.

Non-monetary foreign currency items measured at historical
cost shall still be measured at the amount in the functional
currency translated at the spot exchange rate prevailing on
the transaction date. Non-monetary foreign currency items
measured at fair value are translated at the spot exchange
rate prevailing at the date on which the fair values are
determined. The difference between the amount in the
functional currency after translation and the amount in the
original functional currency is accounted for as fair value
change (inclusive of exchange rate change) and is taken to
profit or loss for the current period or recognised as other

comprehensive income.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)
8. Foreign currency operations and foreign
currency translation (Continued)
8.2 Translation of foreign currency financial statements
To prepare the consolidated financial statement, the financial
statements denominated in foreign currency of a foreign
operation are translated to RMB in compliance with the
following requirements: all assets and liabilities on the balance
sheet are translated at the spot exchange rate prevailing
at the balance sheet date; all equity items are translated at
the spot exchange rates at the dates on which such items
arose; income and expenses and profit appropriation items
in the income statement are translated at the spot exchange
rate at the date of transaction; all exchange differences of
assets, liabilities and shareholders’ equity resulting from the
translation are recognised as other comprehensive income

and taken to shareholders’ equity.

Foreign currency cash flows and the cash flows of foreign
subsidiaries are translated using the spot exchange rate
as of the date on which the cash flows occur. The effect
of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents is
presented separately as an adjustment item under “effect of
changes in exchange rate on cash and cash equivalents” in

the cash flow statement.

The opening balances of the year/period and prior
year's/period’s figures are presented according to the translated

amounts of the financial statements of the prior year/period.

When control over the Group’s foreign operation is lost
due to the disposal of ownership interests of foreign
operation or partial disposal of equity investment or
other reasons, exchange differences of foreign currency
statements attributable to the shareholders of the parent
company related to such foreign operation and presented
under shareholder’s equity item in the balance sheet are all

transferred to profit or loss for the current period.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)

8.

9.

Foreign currency operations and foreign

currency translation (Continued)

8.2 Translation of foreign currency financial statements
(Continued)
In partial disposal of the equity investment or other reasons
that lead to the reduction of the proportion of interests
in foreign operation but there is no loss of control over
such foreign operations, the difference of foreign currency
translation related to the part of foreign operation disposal
will be attributed to minority interests and will not be taken
to profit or loss for the current period. In partial disposal of
equity interest in an overseas associate or joint venture, the
foreign currency translation difference related to the foreign
operation shall be taken to profit or loss for the current
period according to the proportion of the disposal of the

foreign operation.

Financial instruments
The Group recognises a financial asset or a financial liability when
it becomes a party to the contractual provisions of a financial

instrument.

Where financial assets are purchased or sold in a regular way, assets
to be received and liabilities to be borne for it are recognised on the
date of transaction, or sold assets are derecognised on the date of

transaction.

The financial assets and financial liabilities were initially recognised
at fair value. For the financial assets and financial liabilities
measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) for the current
period, related transaction expenses are directly taken to the profit
or loss for the current period; for other types of financial assets
and financial liabilities, related transaction expenses are included
in the initial recognised amount. For accounts receivable excluding
significant financing components or regardless of financing
components of contracts less than one year initially recognised
based on Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises No.14-
Revenue (“Standard on Revenue”), they are initially measured at

transaction price defined based on the Standard on Revenue.
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62 Weichai Power Co., Ltd.

HRBORHERDE

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)

9.

Financial instruments (Continued)

Effective interest method is the method that is used in the
calculation of the amortised cost of a financial asset or a financial
liability and in the allocation and recognition of the interest income

or interest expense over the accounting periods.

Effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash flows through the expected life of the financial asset or
financial liability to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset
or to the amortised cost of a financial liability. When calculating
the effective interest rate, the Group shall estimate the expected
cash flows by considering all the contractual terms of the financial
assets or liabilities (for example, early repayment, extension, call and

similar options) but shall not consider the expected credit losses.

Amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability is the amount
at which the financial asset or financial liability is measured at initial
recognition minus the principal repayments, plus or minus the
cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of any
difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount

and, for financial assets, adjusted for any loss allowance.

9.1 Classification and measurement of financial assets
After initial recognition, the Group shall measure different

types of financial assets at amortised cost, FVTOCI or FVTPL.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)
9. Financial instruments (Continued)

9.1

Classification and measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

If the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding
and the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by collecting contractual cash flows, the
Group shall classify the financial asset into a financial asset
measured at amortised cost. Such financial assets mainly
include: cash and cash equivalents, notes receivable, accounts

receivable and other receivables etc.

If the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding
and the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows and sell such
financial assets, the Group shall classify the financial asset
into a financial asset at FVTOCI. Notes receivable classified as
at FVTOCI upon acquisition by the Company are presented as

receivable financing.
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64 Weichai Power Co., Ltd. %8 HRHDER AT

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)
9. Financial instruments (Continued)

9.1 Classification and measurement of financial assets

(Continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL include financial assets classified

as at FVTPL and those designated as at FVTPL which are

presented in held-for-trading financial assets. Those due over

one year and expected to be held for over one year since

the balance sheet date are presented in other non-current

financial assets.

o A financial asset which does not satisfy the criteria
for a financial asset classified as being measured at
amortised cost or a financial asset at FVTOCI shall be

classified as a financial asset at FVTPL.

o At initial recognition, the Group may irrevocably
designate a financial asset as measured at FVTPL if
doing so eliminates or significantly reduces accounting

mismatch (expected credit losses).
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)
9. Financial instruments (Continued)

9.1

Classification and measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

On initial recognition, the Group may, based on an individual
financial asset, irrevocably designate a non-trading equity
instrument investment which is non-contingent consideration
and recognised in business combination not involving
enterprises under common control as financial asset
measured at FVTOCI. Such financial assets are presented as

investment in other equity instruments.

The Group’s purpose of holding the financial assets is for

trading if one of the following conditions is satisfied:

° The Group's purpose of holding the relevant financial

assets is primarily for recent sale.

° The relevant financial assets are, on initial recognition,
a part of the centrally-managed identifiable financial
instrument portfolio, and objective evidence indicates

that short-term profit model exists in the near future.

° The relevant financial assets are derivative instruments.
However, derivatives that meet the definition of
financial guarantee contracts and those designated as

effective hedging instruments are excluded.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)
9. Financial instruments (Continued)
9.1 Classification and measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

9.1.1

Financial assets at amortised cost

The financial asset at amortised cost is subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. Gain or loss arising from derecognition,
impairment or amortisation is recognised in profit or

loss.

The Group recognises interest income on financial assets
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. The Group calculates interest income based on
the gross carrying amount of financial assets multiplied
by the actual interest rate, unless the financial assets
become credit-impaired financial assets in subsequent
reporting period. For those financial assets, the Group
shall apply the credit-adjusted effective interest rate to
the amortised cost of the financial asset in subsequent
reporting period. If the financial assets no longer has
credit impairment during the subsequent period as
a result of an improvement in its credit risk, and this
improvement may be linked to an event that occurred
after the application of the above regulations, the
Group calculates interest income based on the gross
carrying amount of financial assets multiplied by the
actual interest rate.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

III. Significant Accounting Policies and = & % & 51 B R & & 51 14 5t

Accounting Estimates (Continued) (%)
9. Financial instruments (Continued) 9. R IE(H&)
9.1 Classification and measurement of financial assets 9.1 T MEEMDHEHEGE=E
(Continued) (&)

9.1.2 Financial assets classified as at FVTOC/

Impairment gains or losses on a financial asset classified
as at FVTOCI and the interest income calculated using
the effective interest method and exchange gains and
losses shall be recognised in profit or loss. Except for
them, changes in fair value of such financial assets shall
be recognised in other comprehensive income. The
amount of such financial asset recognised in profit or
loss of each period is equal to the amount deemed as
measured at amortised cost all the time and recognised
in profit or loss of each period. When the financial
asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognised in other comprehensive income is
transferred from other comprehensive income to profit

or loss.

After designating a non-trading equity instrument
investment as a financial asset at FVTOCI, the changes
in fair value of such financial assets are recognised
in other comprehensive income. When the financial
asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognised in other comprehensive income
are transferred from other comprehensive income to
retained earnings. During the period that the Group
holds these non-trading equity instrument investments,
the Group has established the right of collecting
dividends, whose economic benefit will probably flow
into the Group, and the amount of the dividends can
be reliably measured, then the Group will recognise

dividend income in profit or loss.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)
9. Financial instruments (Continued)
9.1 Classification and measurement of financial assets
(Continued)
9.1.3 Financial assets at FV/TPL

Financial assets at FVTPL shall be subsequently
measured at fair value. Gains or losses from change in
fair value and dividends and interest income related
to such financial assets shall be recognised in profit or

loss.

9.2 Impairment of financial instruments and other items
The Group shall recognise a loss allowance for expected
credit losses on financial assets at amortised cost, financial
assets classified as FVTOCI, a lease receivable, contract assets
and financial guarantee contracts that are not designated as
financial liabilities at FVTPL.

The Group makes a loss allowance against amount of lifetime
expected credit losses of the receivables and contract assets
arising from transactions adopting Standard on Revenue
and the lease receivables arising from transactions adopting
Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises No. 21 —

Leases.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)
9. Financial instruments (Continued)

9.2

Impairment of financial instruments and other items
(Continued)

For other financial instruments, at the balance sheet date,
the Group assesses changes in credit risk of relevant financial
instruments since initial recognition. If the credit risk of the
above financial instruments has increased significantly since
initial recognition, the Group measures loss allowance based
on the amount of lifetime expected credit losses; if credit risk
of the financial instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group recognises loss allowance
based on 12-month expected credit losses of the financial
instrument. Increase in or reversal of credit loss allowance is
included in profit or loss as loss/gain on impairment. Except
financial assets classified as at FVTOCI, allowance for credit
losses decreases the carrying amount of the financial assets.
For financial assets at FVTOCI, the Group recognises credit
loss allowance in other comprehensive income and does not
decrease the carrying amount of such financial assets in the

balance sheet.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)
9. Financial instruments (Continued)

9.2

Impairment of financial instruments and other items
(Continued)

The Group measures loss allowance at the full lifetime
expected credit losses of the financial instruments in the
previous accounting period. However, at the balance sheet
date, for the above financial instruments, if significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition no longer
applies, the Group measures loss allowance for the financial
instrument at 12-month expected credit losses at the balance
sheet date for the current period. Relevant reversal of loss
allowance is included in profit or loss for the current period as

gain on impairment.

9.2.1 Significant increases in credit risk

The Group assesses whether or not the credit risk
of the relevant financial instruments has increased
significantly since the initial recognition at each balance
sheet date. While determining whether the credit risk
has significantly increased since initial recognition,
the Group takes into account the reasonable and
substantiated information that is accessible without
exerting unnecessary cost or effort, including qualitative
and quantitative analysis based on the historical data
of the Group, external credit risk rating, and forward-
looking information. Based on the single financial
instrument or the combination of financial instruments
with similar characteristics of credit risk, the Group
compares the risk of default of financial instruments
on the balance sheet date with that on the initial
recognition date in order to figure out the changes
of default risk in the expected lifetime of financial
instruments. For financial guarantee contracts, the
date that the Group becomes a party to the irrevocable
commitment is considered to be the date of initial
recognition in the application of criteria related to the
financial instrument for impairment.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

III. Significant Accounting Policies and = & % & 51 B R & & 51 14 5t
Accounting Estimates (Continued) (%)
9. Financial instruments (Continued) 9. &R IA(HE)
9.2 Impairment of financial instruments and other items 92 @MIAKHMIERRE
(Continued) (%)

M=

9.2.1 Significant increases in credit risk (Continued) 921 =HRBGEZEZ (&)

Criteria for judging significant increases in credit risk

When triggering one or more of the following
quantitative and qualitative criteria, the Group believes
that the credit risk of financial instruments has

increased significantly:

o Quantitative criteria are primarily that the
probability of default of the remaining duration
of the reporting date rises by more than a certain

proportion compared with the initial recognition

o Qualitative criteria primarily include major
adverse changes in the debtor’s business or
financial position, the debtor’s internal credit
rating is actually lowered or is expected to be

lowered, etc.

At the balance date, the Group assumes that credit
risk of the financial instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the Group
determines that the financial instrument is only exposed
to lower credit risk. If the risk of default of a financial
instrument is low, the borrower is highly capable of
meeting its contract cash flow obligations in the short
term, and the financial instrument is considered to have
a lower credit risk even if there is an adverse change
in the economic situation and operating environment
over a longer period of time, but it may not necessarily
reduce the borrower’s performance of its contract cash

obligations.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)
9. Financial instruments (Continued)
9.2 Impairment of financial instruments and other items
(Continued)

9.2.2 Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired include

observable data about the following events:

(1) Significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
debtor;

(2) A breach of contract by the debtor, such as a
default or delinquency in interest or principal

payments;

(3)  The creditor, for economic or contracted reasons
relating to the debtor’s financial difficulty,
granting to the debtor a concession which
will not otherwise be granted in any other

circumstances;

(4) It becoming probable that the debtor will enter

bankruptcy or other financial reorganisations;

(5)  The disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties of

the issuer or the debtor.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

J

III. Significant Accounting Policies and = & % & 51 B R & & 51 4 5t
Accounting Estimates (Continued) (%)

9. Financial instruments (Continued) 9. &MIIA(HE)
9.2 Impairment of financial instruments and other items 92 R T AKRHEMIARBE
(Continued) (#&)
9.2.3 HHIE FHIRK AV HEE

9.2.3 Recognition of expected credit losses

The Group assesses the expected credit losses of
financial instruments based on individual and group
basis. The Group recognises the credit loss on
receivables, lease receivables, contract assets, etc., of
significant amount and insignificant amount but with
special credit risk on an individual asset basis, and
otherwise recognises credit loss of relevant financial
instruments on a group basis. The Group considers
the credit risk characteristics of different customers
and evaluates the expected credit losses of accounts
receivable on the basis of groupings by age, by quality
of credit history and by overdue age. The Group
considers various credit risk characteristics including
instrument type, credit risk ratings, collateral type,
date of initial recognition, remaining term to maturity,
industry, geographical location of the debtor and the

value of collateral relative to the financial asset, etc.

The Group determines expected credit losses of
relevant financial instruments using the following

methods:

o For financial assets, a credit loss is the present
value of the difference between the contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group under
the contract and the cash flows that the Group

expects to receive.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

1 January to 30 June 2022

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)
9. Financial instruments (Continued)
9.2 Impairment of financial instruments and other items
(Continued)

9.2.3 Recognition of expected credit losses (Continued)

For lease receivables, a credit loss is the present
value of the difference between the contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group under
the contract and the cash flows that the Group

expects to receive.

For a financial guarantee contract, credit loss
is the present value of difference between the
expected payments to reimburse the holder for a
credit loss that it incurs less any amounts that the
Group expects to receive from the holder, the

debtor or any other party.

For credit-impaired financial assets at the balance
sheet date, credit loss is the difference between
the gross carrying amount of financial assets and
the present value of expected future cash flows

discounted at original effective interest rate.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)
9. Financial instruments (Continued)
9.2 Impairment of financial instruments and other items
(Continued)

9.2.3 Recognition of expected credit losses (Continued)

The Group’s measurement of expected credit losses of
financial instruments reflects factors including unbiased
probability weighted average amount recognised by
assessing a series of possible results, time value of
money, reasonable and supportable information related
to historical events, current condition and forecast
of future economic position that is available without

undue cost or effort at the balance sheet date.

9.2.4 Write-off of financial assets
The Group shall directly reduce the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset when the Group has no
reasonable expectations of recovering a financial
asset in its entirety or a portion thereof. A write-off
constitutes a derecognition of the relevant financial

asset.

9.3 Transfer of financial assets
The Group shall derecognise a financial asset when one of
the following conditions are satisfied: (1) the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire; (2)
the financial asset has been transferred and substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset is
transferred to the transferee; (3) although the financial asset
has been transferred, the Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
financial asset but has not retained control of the financial

asset.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)
9. Financial instruments (Continued)
9.3 Transfer of financial assets (Continued)

If the

Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the

risks and rewards of ownership of a financial asset, and it

retains control of the financial asset, the Group will recognise

the financial asset to the extent of its continuing involvement

in the transferred financial asset and recognise an associated

liability. Relevant liabilities are measured using the following

methods:

If the transferred financial asset is measured at
amortised cost, the carrying amount of relevant
liabilities is the carrying amount of continuing
involvement in the transferred financial asset less the
amortised cost of the rights retained by the Group (if
the Group retains rights for the transfer of the financial
asset) plus the amortised cost of the obligations
undertaken by the Group (if the Group undertakes
relevant obligations for the transfer of the financial
asset), and the relevant liabilities are not designated as
financial liabilities at FVTPL.

If the transferred financial asset is measured at fair
value, the carrying amount of relevant liabilities is the
carrying amount of continuing involvement in the
transferred financial asset less the fair value of the
rights retained by the Group (if the Group retains rights
for the transfer of the financial asset) plus the fair value
of the obligations undertaken by the Group (if the
Group undertakes relevant obligations for the transfer
of the financial asset), and the fair value of the rights

and liabilities is measured on a stand-alone basis.
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Accounting Estimates (Continued) (%)
9. Financial instruments (Continued) 9. €M I A(H&)

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

9.3 Transfer of financial assets (Continued) 93 SREENER(E)
For a transfer of a financial asset in its entirety that satisfies CREEEREER B KR ILE
the derecognition criteria, for financial assets classified RIGEHS - SrEBSREE
as at amortised cost and financial assets at FVTOCI, the ERIEERENEEEARA
difference between the carrying amount of the financial e ah s EimR R a8 (E

asset transferred and the sum of the consideration received
from the transfer and accumulated amount of the fair value
changes originally taken to other comprehensive income
corresponding to the derecognised part shall be taken to
profit or loss for the current period. Where the financial
asset to be transferred by the Group is a non-trading equity
instrument investment designated as at FVTOCI, accumulated
gains or losses previously taken to other comprehensive
income are transferred out from other comprehensive income

and taken to retained earnings.

For a part of transfer of a financial asset that satisfies
the derecognition criteria, the carrying amount of the
transferred financial asset is allocated between the part
that is derecognised and the part that is continuously
involved, based on the respective fair values of those parts
on transfer date. The difference between the sum of the
consideration received for the part of the derecognition and
the accumulated amount of the fair value changes originally
taken to other comprehensive income corresponding to the
derecognised part and the carrying amount on the date of
derecognition for the derecognised part shall be taken to
profit and loss for the current period. Where the financial
asset to be transferred by the Group is a non-trading equity
instrument investment designated as at FVTOCI, accumulated
gains or losses previously taken to other comprehensive
income are transferred out from other comprehensive income

and taken to retained earnings.

For a transfer of a financial asset in its entirety that does not
satisfy the derecognition criteria, the Group will continuously
recognise the transferred financial asset in its entirety.
Considerations received should be recognised as a financial
liability.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)
9. Financial instruments (Continued)

9.4 Classification of financial liabilities and equity

instruments

Financial instruments or their constituent parts issued by

the Group are classified into financial liabilities or equity

instruments on initial recognition on the basis of the

substance of the contractual arrangements and the economic

nature but not only its legal form, together with the definition

of financial liability and equity instruments.

9.4.1 Classification and measurement of financial liabilities
On initial recognition, financial liabilities are classified
into financial liabilities at FVTPL and other financial

liabilities.

9.4.1.1 Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities at FVTPL consist of financial
liabilities held for trading (including derivative
instruments of financial liabilities) and those
designated as at FVTPL. Financial liabilities at
FVTPL are presented as held-for-trading financial
liabilities or other non-current liabilities according

to their liquidity.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)
9. Financial instruments (Continued)
9.4 Classification of financial liabilities and equity
instruments (Continued)
9.4.1 Classification and measurement of financial liabilities
(Continued)
9.4.1.1 Financial liabilities at FVTPL (Continued)

If one of the following conditions is met for
a financial liability, it suggests that the Group

recognises financial liability held-for-trading:

o The purpose of undertaking the relevant
financial liability is mainly for the purpose

of repurchasing in the near future.

° The relevant financial liability is, upon initial
recognition, a combination of identifiable
financial instruments that are centrally
managed and there is objective evidence
that the Company has recently adopted

short-term profit-making methods.

° The relevant financial liability is a derivative
instrument, except for derivatives that
qualify for financial guarantee contracts
and derivatives that are designated as

effective hedging instruments.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

1 January to 30 June 2022

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)
9. Financial instruments (Continued)

9.4 Classification of financial liabilities and equity

instruments (Continued)

9.4.1 Classification and measurement of financial liabilities

(Continued)
9.4.1.1 Financial liabilities at FVTPL (Continued)

The Group designates a financial liability as FVTPL
on initial recognition when the financial liability
satisfies one of the following criteria: (1) such
designation eliminates or significantly reduces
accounting mismatch; (2) The financial liability
forms part of a group of financial liabilities or a
group of financial assets and financial liabilities,
which is managed and its performance is
evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance
with the documented risk management
or investment strategy of the Group, and
information about the grouping is reported to
key management personnel on that basis; (3) The
qualified hybrid financial instrument combines

financial liability with embedded derivatives.

Held-for-trading financial liabilities are
subsequently measured at fair value, and any
gains or losses arising from changes in fair value
and any dividend or interest income earned on
the financial liabilities are recognised in profit or

|oss.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

III. Significant Accounting Policies and = & % & 5 BUK & & 516 5t

Accounting Estimates (Continued) (%)
9. Financial instruments (Continued) 9. £BMIEA(HE)
9.4 Classification of financial liabilities and equity 9.4 TRIBEMEZTAEND
instruments (Continued) (&)
9.4.1 Classification and measurement of financial liabilities 941 THEBENSEREE
(Continued) (%)
9.4.1.1 Financial liabilities at FVTPL (Continued) U1 A AR EBEFER
HE®Hr AL HE
ZMemAasE(E)
For the financial liabilities designated as FVTPL, HRWEET /AR
changes in fair value arising from changes in the nREBEGFEEEH
Group’s own credit risk are included in other B AEHEZD

comprehensive incomes and other changes
in fair value recognised in profit and loss.
Upon derecognition of the financial liabilities,
cumulative changes in fair value arising from
changes in the own credit risk previously
recognised in other comprehensive income are
transferred and included in retained earnings.
Dividends or interest incomes earned on the
financial liabilities are recognised in profit or loss.
If the impact of the change in credit risk of such
financial liability dealt with in the above way
would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch
in profit or loss, the Group shall present all gains
or losses on that liability (including the effects of
changes in the credit risk of that liability) in profit

or loss.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

1 January to 30 June 2022

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)
9. Financial instruments (Continued)
9.4 Classification of financial liabilities and equity
instruments (Continued)
9.4.1 Classification and measurement of financial liabilities

(Continued)
9412 Other financial liabilities

The Group shall classify all financial liabilities
as subsequently measured at amortised cost,
except for financial liabilities, financial guarantee
contracts that arise when a transfer of a financial
asset does not qualify for derecognition or when
the continuing involvement approach applies,
and gains or losses arising from derecognition or
amortisation are recognised in profit or loss for
the period.

When the contractual cash flows are changed
due to the renegotiation or modification of
the contract made between the Group and
the counterparty and the renegotiation or
modification does not result in the derecognition
of the financial liability that is subsequently
measured at amortised cost, the Group shall
recalculate the carrying amount of the financial
liability and shall recognised related gains or
losses in profit or loss. The carrying amount of
the financial liability shall be recalculated as the
present value of the renegotiated or modified
contractual cash flows that are discounted at the
financial liability’s original effective interest rate.
Any costs or fees incurred adjust the carrying
amount of the modified financial liability and
are amortised over the remaining term of the
modified financial liability.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) FRHS ik R M 5 (48
1 January to 30 June 2022 2022% 1/ 1H26H30H 1F 57

III. Significant Accounting Policies and = & % & 51 B R & & 51 14 5t

Accounting Estimates (Continued) (%)
9. Financial instruments (Continued) 9. £BMIEA(HE)
9.4 Classification of financial liabilities and equity 9.4 TRIBEMEZTAEND
instruments (Continued) H(E)
9.4.1 Classification and measurement of financial liabilities 941 B ER S ERGE
(Continued) (%)

94.12 Other financial liabilities (Continued) 9.412 EfbemaE (&)
94121 Financial guarantee contracts 112 MG ERER
A financial guarantee contract is a contract HHEREE
that requires the issuer to make specified ZHEERERE
payments to reimburse the holder of the I NE RN 2
contract for a loss it incurs because a RBE&EHAE
specified debtor fails to make payment HEWEBE T
when due in accordance with the original BEFERE
or modified terms of a debt instrument. TR - BB
Subsequent to initial recognition, THRARXIE
financial guarantee contracts that are not KW ERFE
designated as financial liabilities at FVTPL, ANBENFES
or arise when a transfer of a financial asset SR - 8
does not qualify for derecognition or when RABRIEE
the continuing involvement approach, BARAREE

are measured at the higher of amount STEAEE
of loss provision and the amount initially HAEHIE R
recognised less cumulative amortisation WemaEx
amount determined based on the relevant EReMEE
requirements under the Standard on HBEAHFAK
Revenue upon initial recognition. IETERR AR B
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)
9. Financial instruments (Continued)

9.4 Classification of financial liabilities and equity

instruments (Continued)

9.4.2

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises a financial liability (or part of
it) when the underlying present obligation (or part of it)
is discharged. An agreement between the Group (the
debtor) and the creditor to replace the original financial
liability with a new financial liability with substantially
different terms is accounted for as a derecognition of
the original financial liability and the recognition of a

new financial liability.

When the Group derecognises a financial liability or
a part of it, it recognises the difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability (or part of the
financial liability) derecognised and the consideration
paid (including any non-cash assets transferred or new

financial liabilities assumed) in profit or loss.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

III. Significant Accounting Policies and = & % & 51 B R & & 51 4 5t

Accounting Estimates (Continued) (%)
9. Financial instruments (Continued) 9. £BMIEA(HE)
9.4 Classification of financial liabilities and equity 9.4 TRIBEMEZTAEND
instruments (Continued) H(E)
9.4.3 Fquity instruments 943 #mITA
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences Hm T AZREERER
a residual interest in the assets of the Group after REFBEMBMEAER
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued MEERHFISGEZRNE

(including refinanced), repurchased, sold or cancelled
by the Group are recognised as changes of equity.
Changes of fair value of equity instruments is not
recognised by the Group. Transaction costs related to

equity transactions are deducted from equity.

The Group recognises the distribution to holders of the
equity instruments as distribution of profits. Dividends

paid do not affect total amount of shareholders’ equity.

The Group is entitled to extend the term of the
perpetual bonds issued by the subsidiaries of the
Company for an indefinite number of times. The Group
is also entitled to defer payment of coupon interest
on its perpetual bonds. The Group is not contractually
obliged to pay cash or other financial assets. The
perpetual bonds are classified as equity instruments
and presented as minority interests in the consolidated

financial statements.

Rl - REHHT(EHR
&) M\ hENGEH
BT AEREGNEE
BEIE o NEEAERE R
TEMAAREEES - &
REUXZHERNZZE
PR R 2 R HRL -

AEEHESTAKES
®) 2 BL 1F & FR 9 BL 8
B BRORERN TR
WL RE RS 4 RE o

HRARRFRARETH
KEE AEEERTR
REEY - YRKBEER
EAE » AEBARELT
XY ARBEYEARE
BXNHEEHEMERE
B ROKEESBAER
TH AEAGHFRKRTT
WL B R A



86 Weichai Power Co., Ltd.

HRBORHERDE

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)
9. Financial instruments (Continued)

9.5

9.6

Derivatives and embedded derivatives

Derivatives include forward foreign exchange contracts,
cross currency swap and interest rate swap instruments,
etc. Derivatives are initially measured at fair value at the
date when the derivative contracts are entered into and are

subsequently re-measured at fair value.

For hybrid contract constituted by embedded derivatives
and host contract, if the host contract is a financial asset,
the embedded derivative is not separated from the hybrid
contract, and the hybrid contract shall be taken as a whole
to which the accounting standards on the classification of

financial assets apply.

Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities

Where the Group has a legal right that is currently
enforceable to set off the recognised financial assets and
financial liabilities, and intends either to settle on a net basis,
or to realise the financial asset and settle the financial liability
simultaneously, a financial asset and a financial liability shall
be offset and the net amount is presented in the balance
sheet. Except for the above circumstances, financial assets
and financial liabilities shall be presented separately in the

balance sheet and shall not be offset.

10. Receivable financing

For notes and accounts payables classified at FVTOCI with a maturity

of less than one year (inclusive) are included in receivable financing.

Please refer to Note II1.9 for the related accounting policies.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)

11.
1.1

Inventories

Classification of inventories

The Group’s inventories mainly include raw materials,
finished goods, materials under entrusted processing, self-
made semi-finished goods and work-in-progress and second-
hand forklift trucks etc. Inventories are initially carried at cost.
Cost of inventories comprises all costs of purchase, costs of

conversion and other costs.

11.2 Calculation of cost of inventories transferred out

11.3

The actual cost of inventories transferred out is assigned by
using weighted average method, first-in-first-out method or

specific identification method.

Basis for determining net realisable value of inventories

At the balance sheet date, inventories are measured at the
lower of cost or net realisable value; provisions for inventory
write-down are made on the excess of its cost over the net

realisable value.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the
sale and relevant taxes. Recognition of the net realisable value
is based on the verified evidences and considers the purpose
of holding inventories and the effect of post balance sheet

events.

Provision for decline in value of other inventories is made
based on the excess of cost of inventory over its net realisable

value on an item-by-item basis.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)

11.

12.

Inventories (Continued)

11.3 Basis for determining net realisable value of inventories
(Continued)
Following a provision for impairment of inventories is made, if
factors that previously resulted in the provision for decline in
value of inventories no longer exist, so that the net realisable
value is higher than the carrying amount, the amount of
the write-down is reversed. The amount of the reversal is

recognised in profit or loss for the current period.

11.4 Inventory system

The Groups adopts perpetual inventory system.

11.5 Amortisation method of low-value consumables
Low-value consumables are amortised in full when received

for use.

Assets held-for-sale

A non-current asset or disposal group shall be classified as held
for sale if its carrying amount will be recovered principally through
a sale transaction (inclusive of non-monetary asset swap with

commercial substance) rather than continuous use.

A non-current asset or disposal group classified as held for sale
must also satisfy the following conditions: (1) according to the
practice of disposing of this type of assets or disposal groups in a
similar transaction, a non-current asset or disposal group is available
for immediate sale in its present condition; (2) the sale will likely
occur as the Group has made a resolution in respect of a disposal
plan and obtained a firm purchase commitment from a buyer, and

the sale is expected to be completed within one year.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

III. Significant Accounting Policies and = & % & 51 B R & & 51 14 5t
Accounting Estimates (Continued) (%)

12. Assets held-for-sale (Continued) 12. BESEEE(H)

The Group measures the non-current assets or disposal groups
classified as held for sale at the lower of their carrying amount and
fair value less costs to sell. Where the carrying amount is higher
than the net amount of fair value less costs to sell, carrying amount
should be reduced to the net amount of fair value less costs to sell,
and such reduction is recognised in impairment loss of assets and
included in profit or loss for the period. Meanwhile, provision for
impairment of held-for-sale assets are made. When there is increase
in the net amount of fair value of non-current assets held for sale
less costs to sell at the balance sheet date, the original deduction
should be reversed in impairment loss of assets recognised after the
classification of held-for-sale category, and the reversed amount is
include in profit or loss for the period, except for the impairment

loss of assets recognised before classified as held for sale.

Non-current assets or disposal groups classified as held-for-sale are
not depreciated or amortised. Interest and other costs of liabilities in

disposal groups classified as held for sale continue to be recognised.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)
13. Long-term equity investments
13.1 Basis for determining joint control and significant
influence
Control exists when the investor has power over the
investee; is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and has the ability to use its
power over the investee to affect its returns. Joint control is
the contractually agreed sharing of control over an economic
activity, and exists only when decisions relating to the
activity require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing
control. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee
but is not control or joint control over those policies. When
determining whether an investor is able to exercise control or
significant influence over an investee, the effect of potential
voting rights of the investee (for example, warrants and
convertible debts) held by the investors or other parties that

are currently exercisable or convertible shall be considered.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

IIl. Significant Accounting Policies and = - % € 5t B 5K & & 546 5t
Accounting Estimates (Continued) (%)
13. Long-term equity investments (Continued) 13. RERERE (&)
13.2 Determination of initial investment cost 13.2 161 & K A K FEE

For a long-term equity investment acquired through a
business combination involving enterprises under common
control, the initial investment cost of the long-term equity
investment is the attributable share of the carrying amount
of the shareholders’ equity of the acquiree on the date of
combination in the consolidated financial statements of
the ultimate controlling party. The difference between the
initial investment cost and the carrying amount of cash
paid, non-cash assets transferred and liabilities assumed
adjusted to capital reserve. If the balance of capital reserve
is not sufficient, any excess is adjusted to retained earnings.
For issuing equity securities as consideration, the initial
investment cost of the long-term equity investment is the
attributable share of the carrying amount of the shareholders’
equity of the combining party on the date of combination
in the consolidated financial statements of the ultimate
controlling party. The aggregate face values of the shares are
accounted for share capital. The difference between the initial
investment cost and the aggregate face values of the shares
issued is adjusted to capital reserve. If the capital reserve is
insufficient to be written down, the retained earnings shall be

adjusted.

As for the long-term equity investment acquired through
business combinations involving enterprises not under
common control, the initial investment cost of the long-term
equity investment shall be taken as the merger cost on the

acquisition date.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)
13. Long-term equity investments (Continued)
13.2 Determination of initial investment cost (Continued)
The intermediary fees such as auditing, legal services,
appraisal and consultation and other related administrative
expenses incurred by the combining party or the acquirer for
business combination shall be taken to profit or loss of the

current period when incurred.

The initial measurement of the long-term equity investment
obtained by means other than the long-term equity
investment formed by business combination shall be
accounted for at cost. Where additional investment results
in significant influence or joint control (but not control) over
the investee, the cost of long-term equity investment is the
sum of the fair value of the original equity investment plus
the additional investment cost determined in accordance with
the Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises No. 22 —

Recognition and Measurement of Financial Instruments.

13.3 Recognition method for subsequent measurement
and profit or loss
13.3.1 Long-term equity investment calculated by cost
method
The Company’s financial statements adopt the cost
method to calculate long-term equity investment in
subsidiaries. Subsidiaries refer to investees which can

be controlled by the Group.

The long-term equity investment calculated by cost
method is measured at the initial investment cost.
Adding or recovering investment adjusts the cost of
long-term equity investment. The current investment
income is recognised according to the cash dividend or

profit declared to be distributed by the investee.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

III. Significant Accounting Policies and = ~E % & 5 B R X & 514l 5
Accounting Estimates (Continued) (%)
13. Long-term equity investments (Continued) 13. REIREKRE (&)
13.3 Recognition method for subsequent measurement 1338 BFHAERERBRTE
and profit or loss (Continued) (58)

M=

1332 HHEmZZE N RBK

13.3.2 Long-term equity investment calculated by equity

method

The Group’s investment in associates and joint
ventures is calculated by equity method. Associates
refer to invested entities to which the Group can exert
a significant influence, and joint ventures are joint
arrangements in which the Group has only the right to

the net assets of the arrangements.

When equity method is adopted, if the initial
investment cost of long-term equity investment is
greater than the fair value share of identifiable net
assets of the invested entity, the initial investment cost
of long-term equity investment shall not be adjusted;
If the initial investment cost is less than the fair value
share of the identifiable net assets of the invested
entity, the difference shall be recorded into the current
profits and losses, and the long-term equity investment

cost shall be adjusted at the same time.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)
13. Long-term equity investments (Continued)
13.3 Recognition method for subsequent measurement
and profit or loss (Continued)

13.3.2

Long-term equity investment calculated by equity
method (Continued)

When equity method is adopted, the investment
income and other comprehensive income shall be
recognised respectively according to the share of
net profit and loss and other comprehensive income
realised by the invested entity, and the carrying amount
of long-term equity investment shall be adjusted at
the same time; the carrying amount of long-term
equity investment shall be reduced accordingly by
calculating the portion to be enjoyed according to the
profit or cash dividend declared by the invested entity;
the carrying amount of long-term equity investment
shall be adjusted and included in the capital reserve
for other changes in the owner’s rights and interests
of the invested entity except net profit or loss, other
comprehensive income and profit distribution. When
recognising the share of the net profit or loss of the
invested entity, the net profit of the invested entity
shall be adjusted and recognised on the basis of the
fair value of the identifiable assets of the invested
entity at the acquisition date. If the accounting
policies and periods adopted by the invested entity are
inconsistent with those of the Company, the financial
statements of the invested entity shall be adjusted in
accordance with the accounting policies and period
of the Company. The investment income and other
comprehensive income shall be recognised accordingly.
For transactions between the Group and associates
or joint ventures, the assets invested or sold do not
constitute business, and the gains and losses of internal
transactions are offset by the shareholding attributable
to the Group. On this basis, the investment gains
and losses are recognised. However, the unrealised
internal transaction losses between the Group and the
invested entity shall not be offset if they belong to the
impairment losses of the transferred assets.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)
13. Long-term equity investments (Continued)
13.3 Recognition method for subsequent measurement
and profit or loss (Continued)
13.3.2 Long-term equity investment calculated by equity
method (Continued)
The Group discontinues recognising its share of net
losses of the investee after the carrying amount of
the long-term equity investment together with any
long-term interests that in substance form part of its
net investment in the invested entity is reduced to
zero. If the Group has incurred obligations to assume
additional losses of the investee, estimated liability is
recognised according to the expected obligation, and
recorded as investment loss for the period. Where net
profits are subsequently made by the invested entity,
the Group resumes recognising its share of those
profits only after its share of the profits exceeds the

share of losses previously not recognised.

13.4 Disposal of long-term equity investment
At the time of the disposal of long-term equity investment,
the difference between its carrying amount and the actual
consideration obtained shall be taken to profit or loss for the
current period. For long-term equity investment calculated by
equity method, the same basis as that adopted in the direct
disposal of assets or liabilities by the invested entity shall be
adopted and the part that would otherwise be taken to other

comprehensive income is accounted for proportionally.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)
14. Investment property
Investment property is property held to earn rentals or for capital
appreciation or both. Investment property includes a land use right

that is leased out and a building that is leased out.

An investment property is measured initially at its cost. If the
economic benefits relating to an investment property will probably
flow in and the cost can be reliably measured, subsequent costs
incurred for the property is included in the cost of the investment
property. Subsequent costs other than that are recognised in profit

or loss for the period in which they are incurred.

The Group uses the cost model for subsequent measurement of its
investment property. Depreciation or amortisation is calculated on

the straight-line basis over its useful life, as follows:
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Estimated Estimated net Annual
useful lives residual depreciation
(years) value rate (%) rate (%)

TBEH A TEEHEE
Item EA 56(F) BE%)  FREE(%)
Land use rights + b A A 48.5-50.0 0 2.00-2.06
Houses and buildings EEEEY 14.5-30.0 0-5 3.17-6.90

15. Fixed assets 15. EEEE

Fixed assets represent the tangible assets held for production or
supply of goods or services, rental or for administrative purposes
with useful lives over one accounting year. A fixed asset is
recognised only when the economic benefits associated with the
asset will probably flow to the Group and the cost of the asset can

be measured reliably. Fixed assets are initially measured at cost.

If the economic benefits relating to a fixed asset will probably flow
in and the cost can be reliably measured, subsequent expenditure
incurred for a fixed asset shall be included in the cost of the fixed
asset, and the carrying amount of the component of the fixed asset
that is replaced shall be derecognised. Subsequent expenditure
other than that shall be recognised in profit or loss for the period in

which they are incurred.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)
15. Fixed assets (Continued)
Other than fixed assets arising from the use and appropriation of
safety funds, special reserve offset against the cost of fixed assets,
and equivalent amounts of accumulated depreciation recognised,;
the straight line method or double-declining balance method is

adopted for the depreciation of fixed assets of the Group.

The expected useful lives, net residual value rates and annual

depreciation rates of fixed assets are presented as follows:
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Estimated Estimated net Annual
useful lives residual depreciation
(years) value rate (%) rate (%)
SRRt TAEHFEE
ltem HHE g (F) BEZE(%) FHEER(%)
Land ownership + 5 P A Indefinite
fEHAMR 0 0
Houses and buildings EEEEY 10-50 0-5 1.90-10.00
Machinery and equipment W R 3-15 0-5 6.33-33.33
Electronic equipment BFHEE 2-15 0-5 6.33-50.00
Vehicles EHR 4-10 0-5 9.50-25.00
Forklift trucks and equipment AR NEREE
leased out (long-term) (Note) (=) (&) 2-15 0 6.67-50.00
Forklift trucks and equipment AR NEREE
leased out (short-term) (Note) (R H) (51) 2-15 0 6.67-50.00
Others H1th 2-15 0-5 6.33-50.00

Note: For self-owned fixed assets leased out by the Group as lessor under
operating lease, those leased for a period of not more than 12 months are
presented under forklift trucks and equipment leased out (short-term) and
those leased for a period of more than 1 year are presented under forklift
trucks and equipment leased out (long-term).

The Group reviews the useful life and estimated net residual value
of a fixed asset and the depreciation method applied at least at

each year-end, and makes adjustments if necessary.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)

16.

17.

Construction in progress

The cost of construction in progress is determined according to
the actual expenditure incurred for the construction, including all
necessary construction expenditure incurred during the construction
period, borrowing costs that shall be capitalised before the
construction gets ready for its intended use and other relevant
expenses. No provision is made for construction in progress. A
construction in progress is transferred to fixed asset when the asset is

ready for its intended use.

Contract asset and liability

Contracts with customers will be presented in the Group’s balance
sheet as a contract liability or a contract asset, depending on the
relationship between the Group’s performance and the customer’s

payment.

17.1 Contract asset
Contract assets refer to the Group’s right to receive
consideration for the transfer of goods to its customers,
which depends on factors other than the passage of time.
The Group’s unconditional (i.e., depending only on the
passage of time) right to collect consideration from customers

is shown separately as receivables.

The Group’s method for determining and accounting for
expected credit losses which are related to contract assets are
detailed in Note I11.9.

17.2 Contract liability
A contract liability is presented in the balance sheet where an
amount of consideration has been received or is receivable by
the Group prior to the Group performing by transferring the

related good or service to the customer.

The Group offsets the contract assets and contract liabilities
under the same contract and presents them on the balance

sheet as a net amount.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

III. Significant Accounting Policies and = & % & 51 B R & & 51 14 5t
Accounting Estimates (Continued) (%)
18. Borrowing costs 18. fBENEHR

Borrowing costs are interest and other costs incurred by the Group
in connection with the borrowing of the funds. Borrowing costs
include interest, amortisation of discounts or premiums related
to borrowings, ancillary costs incurred in connection with the
arrangement of borrowings, and exchange differences arising from

foreign currency borrowings.

The borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of a qualifying asset are capitalised. The
amounts of other borrowing costs incurred are recognised as an
expense in the period in which they are incurred. Qualifying assets
are assets (fixed assets, investment property and inventories, etc.)
that necessarily take a substantial period of time for acquisition,
construction or production to get ready for their intended use or

sale.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs commences only when all of

the following conditions are satisfied:

(1) expenditures for the asset are being incurred;

(2)  borrowing costs are being incurred;

(3) activities relating to the acquisition, construction or
production of the asset that are necessary to prepare the asset

for its intended use or sale have commenced.

Capitalisation of borrowing costs ceases when the qualifying asset
being acquired, constructed or produced becomes ready for its
intended use or sale. Any borrowing costs subsequently incurred are

recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)
18. Borrowing costs (Continued)

During the capitalisation period, the amount of interest to be

capitalised for each accounting period shall be determined as

follows:

)

where funds are borrowed for a specific purpose, the amount
of interest to be capitalised is the actual interest expense
incurred on that borrowing for the period less any bank
interest earned form depositing the borrowed funds or any
investment income on the temporary investment of those

funds.

where funds are borrowed for a general purpose, the amount
of interest to be capitalised on such borrowings is determined
by applying a weighted average interest rate to the weighted
average of the excess amounts of accumulated expenditure
on the asset over and above the amounts of specific-purpose

borrowings.

Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended during periods in

which the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying

asset is interrupted by activities other than those necessary to

prepare the asset for its intended use or sale, when the interruption

is for a continuous period of more than 3 months. Borrowing costs

incurred during these periods are recognised as an expense for the

current period until the acquisition, construction or production is

resumed.
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19. Intangible assets 19. B &EE
19.1 Valuation method, useful life, impairment test for DIEFEENERZE £

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

intangible assets

An intangible asset shall be recognised only when it is
probable that the economic benefit associated with the
asset will flow to the Group and the cost of the asset can
be measured reliably. Intangible assets are measured initially
at cost. However, intangible assets acquired in a business
combination with a fair value that can be measured reliably
are recognised separately as intangible assets and initially

measured at the fair value.

The useful life of an intangible asset is determined according
to the period over which it is expected to generate economic
benefits for the Group. An intangible asset is regarded as
having an indefinite useful life when there is no foreseeable
limit to the period over which the asset is expected to

generate economic benefits for the Group.

The expected useful lives of the intangible assets are as
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follows: (N
[tem H B Expected useful lives (years)
T ERSE®(F)
Patents E-wEEsy ) 3-20
Trademark rights P AR {5 F A 10,/ Indefinite NHEE
License R E 3-15
Land use rights T R4 30-50
Orders on hand EFiTE 1-25
Customer relationship EPBIER 2-17
Software LIg e 2-10
Others Efth 3-10
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

III. Significant Accounting Policies and Accounting
Estimates (Continued)
19. Intangible assets (Continued)
19.1 Valuation method, useful life, impairment test for

intangible assets (Continued)

Land use rights that are acquired by the Group are generally
accounted for as intangible assets. Buildings, such as plants
that are developed and constructed by the Group, and
relevant land use rights and buildings, are accounted for as
intangible assets and fixed assets, respectively. Payments
for the land and buildings acquired are allocated between
the land use rights and the buildings; if they cannot be
reasonably allocated, all of the land use rights and buildings

are accounted for as fixed assets.

An intangible asset with a finite useful life is amortised using
the straight-line method over its useful life. For an intangible
asset with a finite useful life, the Group reviews the useful
life and amortisation method at least at each year-end and

makes adjustment if necessary.

An intangible asset with an indefinite useful life is tested for
impairment at least once every year, irrespective of whether
there is any indication that the asset may be impaired. This
category of intangible assets will not be amortised and will be
reviewed every accounting period based on its useful life. If
evidence indicates that its useful life is limited, the asset will
be accounted for in accordance to the policy for intangible

asset with definite useful life stated above.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

III. Significant Accounting Policies and Accounting
Estimates (Continued)
19. Intangible assets (Continued)
19.2 Expenditure on an internal research and development
Expenditure on the research phase is recognised in profit or

loss for the period in which it is incurred.

Expenditure in the development phase is recognised as
intangible asset when the following criteria are met.
Expenditure on the development phase which cannot met all
of the following conditions are recognised in current profit or

loss:

(1) the technical feasibility of completing the intangible

asset so that it will be available for use or sale;

(2)  the intention to complete the intangible asset and use

orsell it;

(3)  how the intangible asset will generate probable future
economic benefits. Among other things, the Group can
demonstrate the existence of a market for the output
of the intangible asset or the intangible asset itself
or, if it is to be used internally, the usefulness of the

intangible asset;

(4)  the availability of adequate technical, financial and
other resources to complete the development and the

ability to use or sell the intangible asset; and

(5) its ability to measure reliably the expenditure
attributable to the intangible asset during its

development.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

III. Significant Accounting Policies and Accounting
Estimates (Continued)
19. Intangible assets (Continued)
19.2 Expenditure on an internal research and development
(Continued)
If the expenditures cannot be distinguished between research
phase and development phase, the Company recognises
all expenditures into current profit or loss. The cost of the
internally developed intangible assets only include the total
expenditures incurred from the point of time at which the
conditions for capitalisation are met until the intangible assets
are ready for intended use. No adjustment is made to the
costs already expensed in the profit or loss incurred by the
identical intangible asset before it satisfies the conditions for

capitalisation in the development phase.

20. Impairment of assets
The Group determines the impairment of assets, other than the
impairment of inventories, deferred income taxes, financial assets,
contract assets, assets classified as held-for-sale, other current assets

and lease receivables using the following methods:

The Group assesses at the balance sheet date whether there is any
indication that an asset may be impaired. If any indication exists
that an asset may be impaired, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the asset and performs test for impairment. Goodwill
arising from a business combination and an intangible asset with an
indefinite useful life are tested for impairment at least at each year-
end, irrespective of whether there is any indication that the asset
may be impaired. Intangible assets that have not been ready for

intended use are tested for impairment each year.

The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of its fair value less
costs to sell and the present value of the future cash flow expected
to be derived from the asset. The Group estimates the recoverable
amount on an individual basis. If it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of the individual asset, the Group determines
the recoverable amount of the asset group to which the asset
belongs. Identification of an asset group is based on whether major
cash inflows generated by the asset group are largely independent

of the cash inflows from other assets or asset groups.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

III. Significant Accounting Policies and Accounting
Estimates (Continued)
20. Impairment of assets (Continued)

When the recoverable amount of an asset or asset group is less
than its carrying amount, the carrying amount is reduced to the
recoverable amount. The reduction in carrying amount is recognised
in profit or loss for the current period. A provision for impairment of

the asset is recognised accordingly.

For the purpose of impairment testing, the carrying amount of
goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated from the
acquisition date on a reasonable basis, to each of the related asset
groups; if it is impossible to allocate to the related asset groups,
it is allocated to each of the related sets of asset groups. Each of
the related asset groups or sets of asset groups is an asset group
or set of asset group that is able to benefit from the synergies of
the business combination and shall not be larger than a reportable

segment determined by the Group.

In testing an asset group or a set of asset groups to which goodwill
has been allocated for impairment, if there is any indication of
impairment, the Group firstly tests the asset group or set of asset
groups excluding the amount of goodwill allocated for impairment,
determines the recoverable amount and recognises any impairment
loss. After that, the Group tests the asset group or set of asset
groups including goodwill for impairment, whereby the carrying
amount of the related asset group or set of asset groups is
compared to its recoverable amount. If the carrying amount of the
asset group or set of asset groups is higher than its recoverable
amount, the amount of the impairment loss firstly reduces the
carrying amount of the goodwill allocated to the asset group or
set of asset groups, and then reduce the carrying amount of other
assets (other than the goodwill) within the asset group or set of asset

groups, pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset.

Once the above impairment loss of assets is recognised, it cannot

be reversed in subsequent accounting periods.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

III. Significant Accounting Policies and Accounting
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21. Long-term prepaid expenses 21. RHFHER
Long-term prepaid expenses are expenses which have incurred but RAFHEBER RO LR EEERLNEH
shall be amortised over the current period and subsequent periods A ZSHEENDBHRE —FIA
of more than one year. Long-term prepaid expenses are amortised tHMERBEER . EHERBREEEE
using straight-line method with amortisation period as follows: AR EREE B EImT
Amortisation period
(years)
ltem A BHEE ()
Industrial mould fee THEEAS 1-5
Industrial equipment fee THhEFEE 5
Expenditure on improvement of fixed assets HMABREEERR T The shorter of useful life and lease term
leased in FREWHEASHAE
Establishment costs 3t & 3
22. Payroll . BIHM

22.1 Accounting treatment for short-term remuneration

Short-term remuneration actually incurred during the
accounting period in which the staff members provide
services are recognised as liability and taken to the profit and
loss for the current period or the costs of the relevant asset.
The Group recognises the amount of employee benefits that
actually occurred and charged to profit or loss for the current
period or cost of relevant assets. Employee benefits are non-

monetary benefits measured at fair value.

During the accounting period in which employees render
service, medical insurance, work-related injury insurance,
maternity insurance and other social security contributions
and housing provident fund paid by the Group, as well as
labour union funds and employees’ education expenses
extracted by requirement are taken into account in
determining the amount of staff remuneration based on
the required accrual basis and proportions and in turn the
corresponding liabilities, which are charged to profit or loss

for the current period or cost of relevant assets.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

III. Significant Accountin
Estimates (Continued§

22. Payroll (Continued)
22.2 Accounting treatment for post-employment benefits

Post-employment benefits are classified into defined
contribution plans and defined benefit plans.

22.2.1

22.2.2

Defined contribution plan

In the accounting period in which employees render
services, the amount payable under the defined
contribution plan is recognised as liability and charged
to profit or loss for the current period or cost of
relevant assets.

The employees of the Group participate in pension
insurance and unemployment insurance administered
by local governments, as well as annuity plan. The
relevant expenditure is recognised, when incurred, in
the costs of relevant assets or the profit or loss for the
current period.

Defined benefit plan

The benefit obligation under defined benefit plan
based on the formula determined by projected unit
credit method would be vested to the service period of
the staff and charged to current profit or loss or cost
of relevant assets. Some overseas subsidiaries of the
Group operate defined benefit pension plans, under
which contributions shall be made to a separately-
administered fund.

The service costs and the net interest on the net
liabilities or net assets under the defined benefit plan
would be taken to the current profit or loss or cost of
relevant assets. The changes generated from the re-
measurement of the net liabilities or net assets under
the defined benefit plan (including actuarial gains or
losses, return on assets under the plan, less the amount
included in the net interest on net liabilities or net assets
under defined benefit plan, changes under the effect
of maximum assets, less the amount included in the
net interest on net liabilities or net assets under defined
benefit plans) would be taken to other comprehensive
income.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

III. Significant Accounting Policies and Accounting

Estimates (Continued)
22. Payroll (Continued)

22.2 Accounting treatment for post-employment benefits

(Continued)

2222 Defined benefit plan (Continued)
Net interest is calculated by multiplying the net liabilities
or net assets under the defined benefit plan with the
discount rate. Changes in the net obligations under the
defined benefit plan are recognised under cost of sales,
selling expenses, general and administrative expenses,
research & development expenses and finance expenses
in the income statement. Costs of services include costs
of services for the current period, costs of services for
previous periods, and gains or losses on settlement.
Net interest includes interest income accrued upon
assets under the plan, interest expenses incurred due
to obligations under the plan, and interest under the
effect of maximum assets.

22.3 Accounting treatment for severance benefits

Where the Group provides severance benefits to its
employees, payroll payable arising from such severance
benefits are recognised on the earlier of the following dates
and included in profit or loss for the current period: when
the Group is unable to unilaterally withdraw the severance
benefits provided under its plan to terminate working
relationship with employees or redundancy plan; or when the
Group recognises costs or expenses relating to reorganisation
involving the payment of severance benefits.

22.4 Other long-term staff benefits

For other long-term staff benefits, the items conforming
to the conditions of defined contribution plan are treated
according to the requirements in the defined contribution
plans, whereas the rest are recognised and measured as net
liabilities or net assets under other long-term staff benefits
according to the defined benefit plan. At the end of reporting
period, staff costs under other long-term staff benefits are
recognised as three components, namely service cost, net
interest on net liabilities or net assets under other long-term
staff benefits and changes upon re-measurement of net
liabilities or assets under other long-term staff benefits. The
total net amount of these items is included in profit or loss
for the current period or the cost of relevant assets.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

III. Significant Accounting Policies and Accounting
Estimates (Continued)

23.

24,

Accruals and provisions

Except for contingent consideration transferred and contingent
liability assumed in business combinations involving entities not
under common control, the Group recognises an obligation related
to a contingency as a provision when all of the following conditions

are satisfied:

(1)  the obligation is a present obligation of the Group;

(2) it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits from the

Group will be required to settle the obligation;
(3)  the amount of the obligation can be measured reliably.

A provision is initially measured at the best estimate of the
expenditure required to settle the related present obligation,
with comprehensive consideration of factors such as the risks,
uncertainty and time value of money relating to a contingency. The
carrying amount of a provision is reviewed at the balance sheet
date. If there is clear evidence that the carrying amount does not
reflect the current best estimate, the carrying amount is adjusted to

the best estimate.

A contingent liability recognised in a business combination from
the acquiree is initially measured at its fair value. Subsequently, it is
measured at the higher of the amount that would be recognised for
provisions above; and the amount initially recognised less, when
appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with

the principle of revenue recognition.

Share-based payments

Share-based payments can be distinguished into equity-settled
share-based payments and cash-settled share-based payments.
Equity-settled share-based payments are transactions of the Group
settled through the payment of shares or other equity instruments

in consideration for receiving services.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

III. Significant Accounting Policies and Accounting
Estimates (Continued)

24,

Share-based payments (Continued)

Equity-settled share-based payments made in exchange for
services rendered by employees are measured at the fair value
of equity instruments granted to employees. Instruments which
are vested immediately upon the grant are charged to relevant
costs or expenses at the fair value on the date of grant and the
capital reserve is credited accordingly. Instruments of which
vesting is conditional upon completion of services or fulfillment
of performance conditions are measured by recognising services
rendered during the period in relevant costs or expenses and
crediting the capital reserve accordingly at the fair value on the date
of grant according to the best estimates conducted by the Group
at each balance sheet date during the pending period based on
subsequent information such as latest updates on the change in the
number of entitled employees and whether performance conditions

have been fulfilled, and etc.

No cost or expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately
vest, except where vesting is conditional upon a market or non-
vesting condition, which are treated as vesting irrespective of
whether or not the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied,

provided that all non-market conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled share-based payment are
modified, as a minimum, services obtained are recognised as if the
terms had not been modified. In addition, an expense is recognised
for any modification which increases the total fair value of the

instrument granted, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it
had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not
yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately. Where
employees or other parties are permitted to choose to fulfill non-
vesting conditions but have not fulfilled during the pending period,
equity-settled share-based payments are deemed cancelled.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award, and
designated as a replacement award on the date that it is granted,
the new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the

original award.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

III. Significant Accounting Policies and Accounting
Estimates (Continued)
24. Share-based payments (Continued)

25.

A cash-settled share-based payment shall be measured in
accordance with the fair value of liability calculated and confirmed
based on the shares or other equity instruments undertaken by the
Group. If the right may be exercised immediately after the grant,
the fair value of the liability undertaken by the enterprise shall, on
the date of the grant, be included in the relevant costs or expenses,
and the liabilities shall be increased accordingly. If the right may
not be exercised until services are completed or until the specified
performance conditions are met during the vesting period, the
services obtained in the current period shall, based on the best
estimate of the information about the exercisable right, be included
in the relevant costs or expenses at the fair value of the liability
undertaken by the enterprise, and the liabilities shall be increased
accordingly. On each balance sheet date prior to settlement of
the relevant liabilities and on the settlement date, the fair value of
the liability is re-measured and any change of fair value is taken to
profit or loss for the current period.

Revenue

The Group recognises revenue based on the transaction price
allocated to such performance obligation when a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to
the customer. A performance obligation represents the commitment
that a good or service that is distinct shall be transferred by the
Group to the customer. Transaction price refers to the amount
of consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in
exchange of transferring goods or services to a customer, excluding
the amount received on behalf of third parties and the amount that
the Group expects to return to a customer.

It is a performance obligation satisfied during a period of time if
one of the following conditions is met: (1) the customer obtains and
consumes economic benefits provided by the Group’s performance
as the Group performs; (2) the customer is able to control goods
in progress during the Group's performance; (3) goods generated
during the Group’s performance have no alternative use, and
the Group is entitled to payments for performance completed to
date. Otherwise, the Group will recognise revenue at the point in
time when the customer obtains control of the relevant goods or
services.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

III. Significant Accounting Policies and Accounting
Estimates (Continued)
25. Revenue (Continued)
The Group adopts the input method to determine performance
schedules, namely according to the Group’s input into the
performance of contractual obligations. When the performance
progress cannot be determined, the Group is expected to be
reimbursed for the costs already incurred and recognise the revenue
based on the costs already incurred until the performance progress
can be reasonably determined.

If there are two or more of performance obligations included in
the contract, at the contract inception, the Group allocates the
transaction price to each single performance obligation based on
the relative proportion of stand-alone selling prices of goods or
services promised in single performance obligation. However, if
there is conclusive evidence indicating that the contract discount
or variable consideration is only relative with one or more (not the
whole) performance obligations in the contract, the Group will
allocate the contract discount or variable consideration to relative
one or more performance obligations. Stand-alone selling price is
a price at which the Group would sell goods or services separately
to a customer. The stand-alone selling price cannot be observed
directly, the Group estimates the stand-alone selling price through
comprehensive consideration of all reasonably acquired relative
information and maximum use of observable inputs.

Variable consideration

Where variable consideration exists in the Group’s contracts, the
best estimate of variable consideration is arrived at using either
an expected value or most likely outcome method. Transaction
price comprising the variable consideration does not exceed the
amount that it is highly probable that there will not be a significant
reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised when
the uncertainty is resolved. On each balance sheet date, the Group
re-estimates the amount of variable consideration that should be
included in the transaction price.

Consideration payable to customers

Where consideration payable to customers exists in a contract, it is
set off against transaction price and is applied against revenue for
the current period at the later of the point at which the relevant
revenue is recognised and the point of payment of (or commitment
to pay) consideration to customers, unless the consideration payable
is for obtaining other distinct goods or services from the customers.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

Il. Significant Accounting Policies and Accounting = - % & 5 B & & & 51 6 5t
Estimates (Continued) (748)
25. Revenue (Continued) 25. WA (&)

Sales with quality assurance terms attached

For sales with quality assurance terms, if the quality assurance
provides a separate service to the customer other than ensuring
that the goods or services sold meet the pre-determined standards,
the quality assurance constitutes a single performance obligation.
Otherwise, the Group will account for the quality assurance
obligation in accordance with the Accounting Standards for

Business Enterprises No. 13 — Contingencies.

A principal/an agent

The Group determines whether it is a principal or an agent at
the time of the transaction based on whether it owns the control
of the goods or services before the transfer of such goods or
services to the customer. Where the Group is in control of that
good or service prior to transferring the same to a customer, the
Group is a principal, and revenue shall be recognised based on the
total consideration received or receivable. Otherwise, the Group
is an agent, and revenue shall be recognised at the amount of
commissions or service charges expected to be entitled to collect,
and such amount shall be determined based on net amount of total
consideration received or receivable less amounts payable to other
related parties, or based on the pre-determined commissions or

proportions.

Except for the income arising from contracts with customers,
income of the Group includes interest income and lease income
from daily operating activities. For details of relevant accounting

policies, please refer to Note Ill. 28.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

III. Significant Accounting Policies and Accounting
Estimates (Continued)

26.

Government grants

Government grant is recognised when the Group can comply with
the conditions attached to it and it can be received. Government
grant is classified as asset-related government grant and income-
related government grant. Government grant for purchasing,
building or otherwise forming long-term assets is recognised as
one related to assets. Otherwise it is recognised as one related to

income.

If a government grant is in the form of a transfer of monetary asset,
it is measured at the amount received or receivable. If a government
grant is in the form of a transfer of non-monetary asset, it is
measured at fair value; if fair value is not reliably determinable, it is

measured at a nominal amount.

An asset-related government grant is recognised as deferred
income and recognised in profit or loss by stages over the useful life
of the related assets in a reasonable and systematic way. However,
a government grant measured at a nominal amount is recognised
directly in profit or loss for the current period. A government grant
related to income is accounted for as follows: if the grant is a
compensation for related costs expenses or losses to be incurred
in subsequent periods, the grant is recognised as deferred income,
and recognised in profit or loss over the periods in which the related
costs are recognised; if the grant is a compensation for related costs
expenses or losses already incurred, it is recognised immediately in

profit or loss for the current period.

Government grant related to daily operations is recognised in
other income. Government grant not related to daily operations is

recognised in non-operating income.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

III. Significant Accounting Policies and Accounting
Estimates (Continued)

27.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is
recognised as income or an expense in profit or loss for the current
period, except that it is a goodwill adjustment arising from business
combination, or transactions or events recognised directly in
shareholders’ equity or other comprehensive income, in which case
they are recognised in shareholders’ equity or other comprehensive

income.

The Group measures a current tax asset or liability arising from
the current and prior period based on the amount of income tax
expected to be paid by the Group or returned by tax authority

calculated by related tax laws.

For temporary differences at the balance sheet date between the
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts, and
temporary differences between the carrying amounts and the
tax bases of items, the tax bases of which can be determined for
tax purposes, but which have not been recognised as assets and
liabilities according to the tax laws, deferred taxes are provided using
the liability method.

A deferred tax liability is recognised for all taxable temporary

differences, except:

(1)  where the taxable temporary differences arise from the
initial recognition of goodwill, or the initial recognition of an
asset or liability in a transaction which contains both of the
following characteristics: the transaction is not a business
combination; and at the time of the transaction, it affects

neither accounting profit nor taxable profit or deductible loss.

(2)  in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates,
where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary

differences will not be reversed in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

III. Significant Accounting Policies and Accounting

Estimates (Continued)
27. Income tax (Continued)

A deferred tax asset is recognised for deductible temporary
differences, carryforward of deductible tax losses from prior years
and tax credits, to the extent that it is probable that future taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences, and deductible tax losses and tax credits can be utilised,

except:

(1) where the deductible temporary differences arises from a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, neither the accounting profit nor

taxable profit or deductible loss is affected.

(2)  in respect of the deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates,
a deferred tax asset is only recognised to the extent that it
is probable that the temporary differences will be reversed
in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences can be

utilised in the future.

At the balance sheet date, deferred tax assets and liabilities are
measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period
when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, according to the
requirements of tax laws. The measurement of deferred tax assets
and deferred tax liabilities reflects the tax consequences that would
follow from the manner in which the Group expects at the balance

sheet date, to recover the assets or settle the liabilities.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

III. Significant Accounting Policies and Accounting
Estimates (Continued)

27.

28.

Income tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available in future
periods to allow the deferred tax assets to be utilised. Deferred tax
assets previously written down are reversed to the extent that it has
become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to

allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities presented on a
net basis are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities on a net basis and
the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same

taxation authority.

Leases
A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right
to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in

exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of initial
application, the Group assesses whether a contract is or contains
a lease at inception/modification date. Such contract will not be
reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the contract are

subsequently changed.
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118 Weichai Power Co., Ltd.

HRBORHERDE

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

1 January to 30 June 2022

III. Significant Accounting Policies and Accounting
Estimates (Continued)
28. Leases (Continued)
28.1 The Group as lessee

28.1.1 Right-of-use assets

Except for short-term leases and leases of low value
assets, the Group recognises right-of-use assets at the
commencement date of the lease (i.e. the date on
which the leased asset is made available by the lessor
for the Group’s use. The right-of-use asset is initially

measured at cost. This cost includes:

the initial measurement amount of the lease

liabilities;

any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less the relevant amount
of any lease incentives received (where lease

incentives are available);

any initial direct costs incurred by the Group;

an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying
assets, restoring the site on which it is located or
restoring the underlying asset to the condition
required by the terms and conditions of the

lease.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

III. Significant Accounting Policies and Accounting
Estimates (Continued)
28. Leases (Continued)
28.1 The Group as lessee (Continued)

28.1.1

28.1.2

Right-of-use assets (Continued)

The Group made provisions for depreciation of right-
of-use assets in accordance with the depreciation
requirements under the Accounting Standards for
Business Enterprises No. 4 — Fixed Assets. Right-of-
use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain
to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets
at the end of the lease term is depreciated over the
remaining useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are
depreciated over the shorter of its remaining useful life

and the lease term.

The Group determines whether impairment has
occurred in the right-of-use asset and accounts for the
recognised impairment losses according to Accounting
Standards for Business Enterprises No. 8 — Assets

Impairment.

Lease liabilities

Except for share-term leases and leases of low value
assets, at the commencement date of a lease, the
Group initially measures the lease liability at the present
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date.
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the interest rate implicit in the lease as
discount rate. If the interest rate implicit in the lease is
not readily determinable, the incremental borrowing

rate will be adopted as discount rate.
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120 Weichai Power Co., Ltd.

HRBORHERDE

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

1 January to 30 June 2022

III. Significant Accounting Policies and Accounting
Estimates (Continued)
28. Leases (Continued)
28.1 The Group as lessee (Continued)
28.1.2 Lease liabilities (Continued)

Lease payment refers to the amount paid by the Group
to the lessor relating to the right to use an underlying

asset during the lease term, including:

fixed payments and in-substance fixed payments
less the relevant amount of any lease incentives

(where lease incentives are available);

variable lease payments that depend on an index

or a rate,;

the exercise price of a purchase option

reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group;

payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if
the lease term reflects the Group exercising the

option to terminate;

amounts expected to be paid by the Group

under residual value guarantees.

Variable lease payments that depend on an index or
a ratio, are initially measured using the index or rate
at the commencement date of a lease. Variable lease
payments that are not included in the measurement
of the lease liability are recognised in profit or loss or

related asset costs when incurred.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

III. Significant Accounting Policies and Accounting
Estimates (Continued)
28. Leases (Continued)
28.1 The Group as lessee (Continued)
28.12 Lease liabilities (Continued)
Upon commencement of the lease term, the Group
calculates the interest expense of the lease liabilities for
each period of the lease term based on a fixed periodic
interest rate, and recognised in profit or loss for the

current period or the costs of the relevant asset.

After the commencement date of the lease, the
Group re-measures the lease liabilities and adjusts
the corresponding right-of-use asset in the following

circumstances:

° the lease term has changed or there is a change
in the assessment of exercise of a purchase
option, in which case the Group re-measures
the lease liabilities by discounting the present
value of revised lease payments using a revised

discount rate;

° the expected lease payments under a guaranteed
residual value or the index or rate determining
the lease payments change, in which cases
the Group re-measures the lease liabilities by
discounting the present value of revised lease

payments using the original discount rate.
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HRBORHERDE

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

III. Significant Accounting Policies and Accounting
Estimates (Continued)
28. Leases (Continued)
28.1 The Group as lessee (Continued)

2813

2814

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group elects not to recognise the right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities for short-term leases and
low-value asset leases of vehicles, machinery and
equipment and office buildings. Short-term leases are
leases with a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option. A lease of low value asset refers to a single
lease asset which, when new, is of low value. Lease
payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets are recognised in profit or loss or the cost of
underlying assets on a straight-line basis over the lease

term.

Lease modifications
If the lease changes and meets the following
conditions, the Group will account for the lease

modification as a separate lease:

o the lease modification increases the scope of
the lease by adding the right to use one or more

leased assets;

o the consideration increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the
increase in scope and any adjustments to that
stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of

the particular contract.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

II. Significant Accounting Policies and Accounting = - % & 5 B & & & 51 16 5t
Estimates (Continued) (%)
28. Leases (Continued) 28. HE (&)
28.1 The Group as lessee (Continued) 28 1V AEEERAMAE)

28.14 Lease modifications (Continued) 814 THEZE (&)

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group re-allocates the consideration
in the revised contract, re-determines the lease term
and re-measures the lease liability by discounting the
present value of the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the effective date of the lease

modification.

If the lease change results in a reduction in the scope
of lease or the term of lease, the Group reduces
the carrying amount of the right-of-use assets and
recognises the related gains or losses on the partly
or fully terminated lease in the current profit or loss.
If other lease changes result in the re-measurement
of the lease liability, the Group adjusts the carrying

amount of the right-of-use assets accordingly.

28.2 The Group as lessor

282.1 Separating components of a lease

For a contract that contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group shall allocate the consideration
of the contract by applying Accounting Standards for
Business Enterprises No.14 — Revenue in respect of
allocation of transaction price, on the basis of their

respective stand-alone selling prices.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) W R B G ()
1 January to 30 June 2022 20221/ 1HZ26H30H 1F 5

III. Significant Accounting Policies and Accounting =
Estimates (Continued)
28. Leases (Continued)
28.2 The Group as lessor (Continued)
2822 Classification of leases

Leases that substantially transfer all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of assets are
accounted for as finance leases; otherwise, it is an

operating lease.

2822.1 The Group records operating leasing business as
a lessor
The Group recognises lease payments from
operating leases as lease income on a straight-
line basis in different periods over the lease term.
The Group capitalises initial direct costs incurred
in relation to an operating lease and apportions
such amount over the lease term on the same
basis as that used for lease income. Such amount
will be taken to profit or loss for the current

period by stages.

The Group recognises any variable lease
payments relating to operating lease not included
in the lease payments as income, in profit or loss

for the current period as incurred.

~H B A BOKR K| a4l R

(%)
28. HE (&)
282 ARKBEEAHBEA(E)
2822 HHEHR) 748

EE ERTHEEMRS
175 R A 2 30 LB R0 R A
MEEARERE - @&
FAEUING E b T E B A

“HE -

BLUIAREEIEALEA
RS EHE XY
EHE A E EE
M A&EBERAEAE
B BEKRERE
K HH & W R R R
AESKA - A&
B mmga
EEMANNBERE
BRANRBERTU
B EHE!
WIE R € A
TR R & E
o SHFA

7 £ [ B0 15 40 8248
BRES B R
AR R 0 T
BHEKKE B
BB AR A
Hia -



Interim Report 2022 FHiFRE 125

PO 5 i 3 B R (4)
2022F 1 /1HZ6H30H 1L EE

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

J

II. Significant Accounting Policies and Accounting = - % & 5 B & & & 51 16 5t
Estimates (Continued) (748)
28. Leases (Continued) 28. HE (&)
282 AKEEREMEAE)
2822 HE R 7R (%)
BIASEEEREHEA

28.2 The Group as lessor (Continued)
28.2.2 Classification of leases (Continued)

28222 The Group records finance leasing business as a

lessor

On the commencement date of the lease, the
Group adopts the net lease investment as the
recorded value of the financial lease receivables
and derecognises the finance lease assets.
The net lease investment is the sum of the
unguaranteed residual value and the present
value of outstanding lease payments at the
commencement date of the lease which are
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the

lease.

Lease payments refer to the amount that the
Group should collect from the lessee for the
purpose of transferring the leased assets during

the lease term, including:

° fixed payments and in-substance fixed
payments required to be paid by lessee,
less any lease incentives (where lease

incentives are available);

° variable lease payments that depend on an

index or a rate;
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

1 January to 30 June 2022

III. Significant Accounting Policies and Accounting
Estimates (Continued)
28. Leases (Continued)
28.2 The Group as lessor (Continued)

28.2.2 Classification of leases (Continued)

28222 The Group records finance leasing business as a

lessor (Continued)

the exercise price of a purchase option
reasonably certain to be exercised by the

lessee;

payments for exercising the option to
terminate the lease, if the lease term
reflects that the lessee will exercise an

option to terminate the lease;

any residual value guarantees provided to
the Group by the lessee, a party related to
the lessee and an independent third party
that is financially capable of discharging

the obligations under the guarantee.

Variable lease payments that are not included in
the measurement of net lease investments are
recognised in profit or loss for the current period

as incurred.

Interest income in each period during the lease
term are calculated and recognised by the Group

using the fixed periodic rate of interest.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

III. Significant Accounting Policies and Accounting
Estimates (Continued)
28. Leases (Continued)
2823 Lease modifications
The Group accounts for a modification to an operating
lease as a new lease from the effective date of the
modification, considering any prepaid or accrued lease
payments relating to the original lease as part of the

lease payments for the new lease.

If the finance lease changes and meets the following
conditions, the Group accounts for a lease modification

as a separate lease:

o the modification expands the scope of the lease
by increasing the right to use one or more leased

assets;

o the consideration increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the
increase in scope and any adjustments to that
stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of

the particular contract.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

1 January to 30 June 2022

III. Significant Accounting Policies and Accounting
Estimates (Continued)
28. Leases (Continued)
28.2 The Group as lessor (Continued)

28.23 Lease modifications (Continued)

If the modification of the finance lease is not accounted
for as a separate lease, the Group will account for the

lease modification in the following cases:

If the lease is classified as an operating lease
when the modification becomes effective at
the commencement date, the Group begins
accounting for the lease modification as a new
lease from the effective date of the modification
and uses the net lease investment before the
effective date of the lease modification as the

carrying value of the leased asset;

If the modification is effective at the
commencement date and the lease is classified
as a finance lease, the Group accounts for such
modification in accordance with the Accounting
Standards for Business Enterprises No. 22 —
Recognition and Measurement of Financial
Instruments in respect of the modification or re-

negotiation of contracts.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

III. Significant Accounting Policies and Accounting
Estimates (Continued)
28. Leases (Continued)

28.2 The Group as lessor (Continued)
2824 Sale and leaseback transaction
The Group as a seller and lessee

The Group determines whether the asset transfer in

the sale and leaseback transaction constitutes a sale

in accordance with Accounting Standards for Business

Enterprises No.14 — Revenue. If the transfer of assets

is not a sale, the Group continues to recognise the

transferred assets and recognises a financial liability in

equal amount to the transfer income, and accounts for

the financial liabilities in accordance with Accounting

Standards for Business Enterprises No. 22 — Recognition

and Measurement of Financial Instruments. Where the

transfer of assets is a sale, the Group measures the

right-of-use assets formed by the sale and leaseback

based on the portion of the original asset’s book value

that is related to the use rights obtained from the

leaseback, and only recognises the relevant gains or

loss that relates to the rights transferred to the lessor.

29. Hedge accounting
29.1 Basis of hedge accounting and accounting treatment

To manage the risk exposure caused by specific risks such
as foreign exchange risk and interest rate risk, the Group
has designated certain financial instruments as hedging
instruments for hedging. The Group applies hedging
accounting for a hedge that satisfies the prescribed
conditions. Hedging activities of the Group include fair value
hedges and cash flow hedges. For the hedges for foreign
exchange risk with firm commitment, the Group treated them

as cash flow hedges.
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III. Significant Accounting Policies and Accounting = -~ % & 5 B R & & 5 14 5t
Estimates (Continued) (%)
29. Hedge accounting (Continued) 29. EMEF (E)
29.1 Basis of hedge accounting and accounting treatment VINEAEPRENKEES

(Continued)
For the purpose of hedge accounting, the Group’s hedging is

classified as follows:

(1) Fair value hedges refer to the hedging against the risk
of fair value change in respect of definite commitments
which are not yet recognised (other than exchange rate

risks) of assets and liabilities already recognised.

(2)  Cash flow hedges refer to the hedging against the
exposure to variability in cash flows that is either
attributable to a particular risk associated with a
recognised asset or liability or a highly probable
forecast transaction, or a foreign currency risk in an

unrecognised firm commitment.

Hedges which meet the strict criteria for hedge accounting

are accounted for as follows:

Fair value hedges
The Group’s fair value hedge is a hedge against interest
rate risk (risk of fair value change) of the fixed rate debt

instruments.

Gains or losses arising from a hedging instrument are
recognised in profit or loss for the current period. Gains or
losses in respect of the hedged item attributable to hedged
risk are recognised in profit or loss and the carrying amount
of the hedged item that is not measured at fair value is

adjusted.
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III. Significant Accounting Policies and Accounting = & % & 5} B R & & 5 1 5t
Estimates (Continued) (%)
29. Hedge accounting (Continued) 29. EHiEsH (&)
29.1 Basis of hedge accounting and accounting treatment VINEHAEPRENKEES

(Continued)

Fair value hedges (Continued)

For fair value hedge relating to debt instruments carried at
amortised cost, the carrying amount of the hedged items is
adjusted and amortised to profit or loss over the remaining
term of the hedge using the effective interest rate method.
Amortisation begins on the date of adjustment but no later
than the point when the hedged item ceases to be adjusted

for hedging gains and losses.

Where the hedged items are firm commitments not yet
recognised, upon designation of the hedging relationship, the
accumulated change in fair value arising from the hedging
risk of the firm commitments are recognised as an asset or
a liability, and related gains and losses are taken to profit or
loss for the current period. When the Group obtains assets
or undertakes liabilities by performing firm commitments,
the initial recognised amount of the assets or liabilities is
adjusted to include the accumulated change in fair value of

the recognised hedged items.

Cash flow hedges

The Group's cash flow hedge include hedges of the expected
sales/procurements, foreign currency financial instruments,
foreign exchange risk on firm commitments and interest rate
risk of variable rate debt instruments (exposure to variability

in cash flows).

The effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging
instrument is recognised in other comprehensive income,

while the ineffective portion is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

III. Significant Accounting Policies and Accounting
Estimates (Continued)
29. Hedge accounting (Continued)
29.1 Basis of hedge accounting and accounting treatment

(Continued)

Cash flow hedges (Continued)

If the expected transaction being hedged is subsequently
recognised as non-financial assets or non-financial liabilities,
or when the expected transaction of non-financial assets or
non-financial liabilities becomes the firm commitment under
applicable fair value hedges, the amount of cashflow hedging
reserve originally recognised in other comprehensive income
is transferred out and taken to the initial recognised amount
of that asset or liability item. For other cashflow hedges,
during the same period in which the expected cashflow being
hedged affects profit or loss, for example when the expected
sale occurs, the cashflow hedging reserve recognised in other
comprehensive income is transferred out and taken to profit

or loss for the current period.

When the Group no longer applies hedging accounting
to cashflow hedges, if the future cashflow being hedged
is still expected to occur, the amount previously taken to
other comprehensive income is not transferred out until the
expected transaction actually occurs or the firm commitment
is performed; if the future cashflow being hedged is no
longer expected to occur, the accumulated amount of
cashflow hedging reserve shall be transferred out from other
comprehensive income and taken to profit or loss for the

current period.
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III. Significant Accounting Policies and Accounting = & % & 5 B 0K & & 5 14 5t
Estimates (Continued) (%)
29. Hedge accounting (Continued) 29. EMEE(E)
29.2 Effective evaluation of hedging 292 EERE MR 0%

At the inception of a hedge relationship, the Group
formally designates and documents the hedge relationship
to which the Group wishes to apply hedge accounting,
the risk management objective and the risk management
strategy. The documentation includes identification of
the hedging instrument, the hedged item, the nature of
the risk being hedged and how the Group will assess the
hedging instrument's effectiveness in offsetting the exposure
to changes in the hedged item’s fair value or cash flows
attributable to the hedged risk. Besides, the Group assesses
on an ongoing basis whether such hedging relationships
are complying with the hedge effectiveness requirements
as at the commencement date and in subsequent periods.
The Group recognises that the hedging relationships meet
hedge effectiveness requirements when they meet all of the

following requirements:

° There is an economic relationship between the hedged

item and the hedging instrument.

. The effect of credit risk does not dominate the value

changes that result from that economic relationship.

° The hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the same
as that resulting from the quantity of the hedged item
that the Group actually hedges and the quantity of the
hedging instrument that the Group actually uses to

hedge that quantity of hedged item.
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III. Significant Accounting Policies and Accounting
Estimates (Continued)
29. Hedge accounting (Continued)

29.2 Effective evaluation of hedging (Continued)
If a hedging relationship ceases to meet the hedge
effectiveness requirement relating to the hedge ratio but
the risk management objective for that designated hedging
relationship remains the same, the Group rebalances the
hedging relationship and adjusts the quantity of the hedged
items or hedging instruments having existed in the hedging
relationship to make the hedge ratio conform to the hedge

effectiveness requirement again.

If the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or
exercised (with the exception of rollover of the hedging
strategic component or unfulfilled replacement), if its
objective of risk management changes, so that the
hedge relationship no longer satisfies the objective of risk
management, or if the hedge no longer fulfills the other
conditions under the accounting requirement of a hedge, the

Group will cease the adoption of such hedge accounting.

30. Profit appropriation

31.

Interim and final cash dividends of the Company are recognised as

liabilities upon approval by shareholders in general meeting.

Safety funds

Safety funds provided for as required were included in cost of
product or the current profit and loss, and credited in special
reserve. And the funds are treated separately depending on
whether fixed assets are resulted when being used: funds related
to expenditure is offset against special reserve directly while those
forming fixed assets will consolidate expenditure incurred and
recognised as fixed assets when such assets are ready for their
intended use, at the same time offsetting equivalent amounts in the
special reserve and recognising equivalent amounts of accumulated

depreciation.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)

32.

33.

Segment reporting

The Group identifies operating segments based on the internal
organisation structure, managerial requirements and internal
reporting system, identifies reportable segments based on operating

segments and discloses segment information by operating segment.

An operating segment is a component of the Group that meets all

the following conditions:

(1) it engages in business activities from which it may earn

revenues and incur expenses,

(2) its operating results are regularly reviewed by the Company’s
management to make decisions about resources to be

allocated to the segment and assess its performance;

(3)  the Group is able to obtain relevant accounting information
such as its financial position, operating results and cash flows

of such segment.

If two or more segments have similar economic characteristics and
meet certain conditions, then they can be aggregated into a single

operating segment.

Significant accounting judgments and
estimates

The preparation of the financial statements requires management
to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that will affect the
reported amounts and disclosure of revenue, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities at the balance
sheet date. However, uncertainty about these estimates and
assumptions could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities

affected in the future.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)
33. Significant accounting judgments and

estimates (Continued)
33.1 Judgments

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgments which have
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial
statements.

Confirmation of functional currency

Since the Company owns a number of overseas subsidiaries,
associates and branch organisations, when recognising
its functional currency, multiple factors are taken into
consideration to recognise the major economic environment
of their operating locations. Under circumstances with
multiple factors and no obvious functional currency, the
Group uses judgment to confirm its functional currency. Such
judgment is the best to reflect economic influence of the
underlying transactions, events and environment.

Sale and leaseback sub-leases

Leasing of forklift trucks is the principal business of KION
GROUP AG (“KION"), which includes 3 categories: direct
leasing, sale and leaseback sub-leases and indirect leasing.
To fund leases, industrial forklift trucks are generally sold
by KION and its subsidiaries (“KION Group”) to finance
partners. The industrial forklift trucks are then leased back
to companies under KION Group (head leases), which sub-
lease them to external end customers (described below as
"sale and leaseback sub-leases”). These head leases generally
have a term of four to five years. Taking into account the
fact that the finance partners can only lease the industrial
forklift trucks to KION Group, at rental rate determined based
on transfer income plus an agreed rate of return, and the
leased assets are to be owned by KION Group upon expiry
of the term of the head leases, the management of the
Group considers that under the sale and leaseback sub-leases
arrangements, the control over the respective leased assets
incidental to the head leases are retained by KION Group, the
asset transfer is not considered as a sale. As such, the Group
continues to recognise the transferred assets and at the same
time recognises a financial liability that corresponds to the
amount of the transfer income.
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III. Significant Accounting Policies and = -~ % € 5} B %K & & 544 5
Accounting Estimates (Continued) (%)
33. Significant accounting judgments and 33. EREFTHEFMMEE (F)
estimates (Continued)

33.1 Judgments (Continued) 331 HE (&)

Indirect leasing arrangement

KION Group sells industrial forklift trucks to finance partners,
who then lease them to external end customers (abbreviated
below as “indirect leasing”). Taking into account the contract
terms and historical commercial practice, KION Group
repurchases from finance partners the transferred industrial
forklift trucks at agreed prices or market prices when the term
of indirect leasing expires, the management of the Group
considers that KION Group still maintain control over the
corresponding leased-out assets, and asset transfer under the
indirect leasing arrangement is not considered a sale. As such,
the Group continues to recognise the transferred assets, and
the present value of the Group’s obligations to repurchase is
recognised as a liability. The difference between the transfer
income and such liability is accounted for in accordance
with Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises No. 21 —
Leases.

Method of ascertaining of performance progress for contracts
(only applicable to situations where control is transferred
within a period of time)

The input method is adopted by the Group to ascertain
the progress of performance of contracts. In ascertaining
performance progress, products for which control is not
yet transferred to customers are deducted. Specifically, the
performance costs actually incurred on a cumulative basis
as a percentage of estimated total costs is used to ascertain
progress of performance. Performance costs actually
incurred on a cumulative basis include direct and indirect
costs incurred by the Group in the course of fulfilling its
performance obligations, but does not include costs that are
not proportional to the performance progress of the Group,
such as costs of products or materials not yet installed, used
or consumed. The Group considers that contract prices
are ascertained on the basis of performance costs, and the
adjusted costs actually incurred as a percentage of expected
total costs can essentially reflect truly the performance
progress of the Group.
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III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)
33. Significant accounting judgments and
estimates (Continued)
33.1 Judgments (Continued)

Indirect leasing arrangement (Continued)

Method of ascertaining of performance progress for contracts
(only applicable to situations where control is transferred
within a period of time) (Continued)

As the period of validity of such contracts is relatively long
and may span over a number of accounting periods, the
Group shall review and revise budget as the duration of the
contracts continues, and adjust the amount of recognised

revenue accordingly.

Business model

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the business model of the Group’s management
of financial assets. In judging the business model, the Group
considers corporate appraisal, methods of reporting the
results of financial assets to key management members, risks
affecting the results of financial assets and its management,
as well as the methods of remunerating relevant business
managers and so forth. In assessing whether the objective is
to collect contractual cash flows, the Group needs to analyze
and judge the reasons for disposing of the financial assets
before maturity, time, frequency and value of the financial

assets and so forth.

Contractual cash flow characteristics

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the contractual cash flow characteristics of the
financial assets. When it is necessary to judge whether the
contractual cash flow is only the payment of the principal and
the interest based on the outstanding principal, including the
assessment of the correction of the time value of money, it
is necessary to judge whether there is a significant difference
compared with the benchmark cash flow. For financial
assets with early repayment features, it is necessary to judge
whether the fair value of the early repayment features is

minimal.
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Accounting Estimates (Continued) (%)
33. Significant accounting judgments and 33. EAEFTHE MG (E)
estimates (Continued)
33.2 Estimation uncertainty

33. 2 fhETM N E 1T

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date,
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the

future accounting periods, are discussed below.

Impairment of accounts receivable and contract assets

The Group uses the expected credit loss model to assess
the impairment of accounts receivable and contract assets.
The application of the expected credit loss model requires
significant judgments and estimations, and all reasonable
and evidenced information, including forward-looking
information, should be considered. In making such judgments
and estimations, the Group infers the expected changes in
the debtor’s credit risk based on the historical repayment
data in combination with economic policies, macroeconomic

indicators, and industry risks.

Provision for losses in respect of accounts receivable and
contract assets is measured at the amount of the lifetime
expected credit losses. Regarding the accounts receivable and
contract assets for which impairment matrix is applied (on a
group basis) to determine credit losses, the Group relies on
common risk profiles to classify them into different groups.
Such common risk profiles include ages, overdue ages, credit
risk rating and so forth. Regarding receivables and contract
assets which are individually significant or are individually
insignificant but have special credit risks, impairment testing is

conducted individually.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)
33. Significant accounting judgments and
estimates (Continued)
33.2 Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Impairment of accounts receivable and contract assets
(Continued)

Where the result of re-estimation is different from the
existing estimation, the difference will affect the profit of the
period of changes in estimates and the carrying amount of

the accounts receivable and contract assets.

Impairment of non-current assets other than financial
assets (other than goodwill and trademark rights with
indefinite useful life)

At the balance sheet date, the Company makes its judgment
as to whether there is any evidence indicating potential
impairment of non-current assets other than financial assets.
Intangible assets with indefinite useful life shall be tested
for impairment when there is any indication of impairment
in addition to the annual impairment testing. Other non-
current assets other than financial assets shall be tested
for impairment if there is any evidence indicating that their
carrying amount cannot be recovered. When the carrying
amount of an asset or asset groups is higher than the
recoverable amount, which is the higher of the net amount
of its fair value less costs of disposal and the present value of
the future cash flows expected to be derived from the asset,
it indicates impairment. The net amount of the fair value less
costs of disposal is determined by making reference to the
price in a sale agreement in an arm’s length transaction or
the observable market price less the incremental costs directly
attributable to such assets disposal. In projecting the present
value of future cashflow, the management is required to
estimate the projected future cashflow of the asset or asset
group and select an appropriate discount rate for determining

the present value of future cashflow.
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III. Significant Accounting Policies and = & % & 51 B R & & 51 14 5t
Accounting Estimates (Continued) (%)
33. Significant accounting judgments and 33. EAEFTHE MG (E)
estimates (Continued)
33.2 Estimation uncertainty (Continued) 33.2fhETA A REE M ()

Impairment of goodwill and trademark rights with
indefinite useful life

The Group determines whether goodwill and trademark
rights with indefinite useful life are impaired at least on an
annual basis. This requires an estimation of the recoverable
amount of the asset group or group of asset groups including
the goodwill and trademark rights. Estimating the recoverable
amount requires the Group to make an estimate of the
expected future cash flows from the asset group or group of
asset groups and also to choose a suitable discount rate in

order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.

Defined benefit plans

The management of the Group recognises net liabilities
under defined benefit plans based on calculating model
of the present value of the defined benefit obligations less
fair value of the assets under the plan. The present value of
defined benefit obligations comprises of various assumptions,
including term of benefits and discount rate. Inconsistency
between the future events and such assumptions may subject
the net liabilities under defined benefit plans on the balance

sheet date to material adjustment.

Fair value

Certain assets and liabilities of the Group are measured at fair
value on the financial statements. The aforesaid measurement
is on the basis of some assumptions. Fair value may differ

significantly if future events deviate from such assumptions.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)
33. Significant accounting judgments and
estimates (Continued)
33.2 Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused deductible
temporary differences and deductible losses to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences and deductible
losses can be utilised. Significant management judgment is
required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that
can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level
of future taxable profit together with future tax planning

strategies.

Provision for decline in value of inventories

Provision for decline in value of inventories is recognised
on the basis of the net realisable value of inventories. The
management’s judgments and estimates are required for
determining the net realisable value of inventories on the
basis of clear evidence, taking into consideration of purpose
of holding the inventories, effect of subsequent events and
other factors. The difference between the actual outcome
and original estimate will affect the carrying amount of
inventories and provision or reversal of decline in value of

inventories during the estimated revision period.

Recognition of accruals and provisions related to quality
warranty of products

The Group estimates the obligation related to quality
warranty of guaranteed products based on contractual
terms, current knowledge and historical experience. The
Group reasonably estimates maintenance fee charge and
makes relevant provision based on all relevant data including
historical data on and current situation of maintenance,

product upgrade and market changes.
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Accounting Estimates (Continued) (%)
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33.2 Estimation uncertainty (Continued) 33.2fhETA A REE M ()

Estimated useful lives of fixed assets and intangible assets

The Group reviews the estimated useful lives of fixed assets
and intangible assets at least once at the end of the year.
Estimated useful lives are determined by the management
based on historical experience of similar assets and expected
technological advancement. Corresponding adjustment to
depreciation and amortisation expenses for future periods will

be made in case of substantial changes in previous estimates.

Limitations on the estimation of variable consideration

In estimating variable consideration, the Group considers all
such information as shall be reasonably obtained, including
historical data, current data and projected data, thereby
estimating the amount of possible consideration and the
probability to the extent of such quantities as shall be
reasonable. If it is estimated that multiple outcomes are
possible for the contracts, the Group estimates the amount of
variable consideration based on the expected value approach.
If it is estimated that only two outcomes are possible, the
variable consideration is arrived at using the most likely
outcome method. Variable consideration is included in the
transaction price to the extent it is highly probable that there
will not be a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative
revenue recognised when the uncertainty is resolved. In
assessing whether it is highly probable that there will not be
a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised when the uncertainty relevant to the variable
consideration is resolved, the Group also considers the
possibility of reversal of income and the ratio of reversed
amount. On each balance sheet date, the Group re-assesses
the amount of variable consideration, including re-assessing
whether the estimation of variable consideration is limited, to
reflect the circumstance as at the end of the reporting period

as well as changes during the reporting period.
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IV. Taxation Pq ~Fd I
1. Major categories of taxes and respective tax 1. EEHERHE
rates
Value-added tax (VAT) — For the Group'’s PRC subsidiaries, output VAT is calculated by applying
1 E T 13%, 9%, 6% to the taxable income for normal taxpayers, but the Group

may pay it after deducting deductible input VAT for the current period.
REBRAFRR —RATAREHRBANI3% 9% - 6% THE
STHEEEN > TENERERAAFENNERNERNZRTBEE
B o

—  The basis of computation and applicable rate of VAT primarily applicable to
major overseas subsidiaries of the Group are set out below:
REBRIINF AR EEZEBOIBEN TR ERT RS RNT

Basis of computation Applicable country Tax rate
LR E BABXR BHE
Amount of taxable added-value Germany 19%
JEATIIGERE 2

Value-added tax rates applicable in other countries follow the tax

laws and regulations in force in the respective countries.
HtBRIGERT X ERBE MBI ERERET -

City maintenance and construction tax — ltislevied at 7% or 5% on the actual turnover taxes paid.

P 4R R RERBMAERERNOT %H5%H 8
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IV. Taxation (Continued)

1. Major categories of taxes and respective tax 1.

rates (Continued)

Education surcharge

B B

Local education surcharge

75 3B BB

Corporate income tax

RS

Interim Report 2022 FRHEAZRE
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o i (48)
FERERBR(HE)

It is levied at 3% on the actual turnover taxes paid.

RERBMRRERN3 % -

It is levied at 2% on the actual turnover taxes paid.

HERBMARRER 2% -

It is levied at 15% or 25% on the taxable profit, except that for overseas
subsidiaries, it is levied at the statutory tax rate of the countries or regions
in which the subsidiaries operate.

RGINFRBIREMERR « MERAEER RN - CEMEHIR
JEMBIFTIS R 15% 525 % TN

The basis of computation and applicable rate of corporate income tax
primarily applicable to major overseas subsidiaries of the Group are set out
below:
REEBNTFEFRAETEHEANBEMMESHFTERE BB R XS
/(U

Basis of computation Applicable country Tax rate
R B BABER B=E
Amount of taxable income Germany 30.70%
JEATL PS5 2
Amount of taxable income United States 21.00%
JEM T PTG 5 of America

S

Income tax rates applicable in other countries follow the tax laws and
regulations in force in the respective countries.
HMBERMENNEERBE MR EEERMETE -

Certain oversea subsidiaries enjoy tax benefits pursuant to the local tax
policies.
KEFINFRARIEREMRMBR=ZIHES -
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

IV. Taxation (Continued)

2.

Tax benefits

Preferential corporate income tax for the Company

The Company was recognised as a high-tech enterprise on 27
November 2008. The Company continued to be recognised as a
high-tech enterprise in 2020 and is therefore entitled to enjoy a

preferential income tax rate of 15% from 2020 to 2022.

Preferential corporate income tax for the domestic
subsidiaries of the Company

Shaanxi Hande Axle Co., Ltd., Hande Axle (Zhuzhou) Gear Co., Ltd.,
Xi'an Fast Auto Drive Co., Ltd., Weichai Lovol Heavy Industry Co.,
Ltd. (“Weichai Lovol”), Weichai Torch Technology Co., Ltd. (#4%€ X
BRI B BR 2 ), and Tsintel Automotive Technology (Suzhou)
Co., Ltd. were recognised as high-tech enterprises in 2021 and are
therefore entitled to enjoy a preferential income tax rate of 15%
from 2021 to 2023.

Shaanxi Heavy-duty Motor Co., Ltd., Shaanxi Huainan Special
Purpose Vehicle Co., Ltd., Zhuzhou Gear Co., Ltd., Shaanxi Fast
Gear Co., Ltd., Baoji Fast Gear Co., Ltd., Zhuzhou Torch Machinery
Manufacturing Co., Ltd., Weichai Power Yangzhou Diesel Engine
Co., Ltd., Weichai Power Freshen Air Technology Co., Ltd.,
Baudouin (Weifang) Power Co., Ltd., Shandong Lovol Transmission
Co., Ltd., Chongyou Hi-tech Electronic System (Chongging) Co.,
Ltd. and Linde Hydraulics (China) Co., Ltd. were recognised as
hightech enterprises in 2020 and are therefore entitled to enjoy a

preferential income tax rate of 15% from 2020 to 2022.
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IV. Taxation (Continued)

2.

Tax benefits (Continued)

Preferential corporate income tax for the domestic
subsidiaries of the Company (Continued)

Pursuant to the requirement of the Notice on Implementing the
Inclusive Tax Deduction and Exemption Policies for Micro and Small
Enterprises (Cai Shui [2019] No. 13) promulgated by the MOF and
SAT on 17 January 2019, Shaanxi Fast Automotive Components
Import and Export Company Limited, Weichai Digital Technology
Co., Ltd. and Weichai (Weifang) Venture Capital Co., Ltd. (44 (4
) gl EBR AT, may apply the inclusive tax deduction and
exemption policies for small enterprises and is subject to corporate
income tax at the reduced rate of 20% based on its taxable
income which is taken as 25% of its income. In 2022, pursuant
to the Announcement No. 12 of 2021 of the MOF and SAT on
Implementing Preferential Income Tax Policy for Small and Micro
Enterprises and Individual Business, for the part of annual taxable
income not exceeding RMB1 million, the aforesaid companies shall
enjoy a further reduction of enterprise income tax of 50% on the
top of preferential policies stipulated in Article Two of the Cai Shui
[2019] No. 13.

Pursuant to the requirement of the Announcement No. 23 of 2020
of the MOF, SAT and NDRC on Continuing the Income Tax Policy
for Western Development dated 23 April 2020, the following
companies have implemented preferential tax policy of 15% for the

Western Development:

Shaanxi Heavy-duty Motor Co., Ltd., Shaanxi Hande Axle Co.,
Ltd., Shaanxi Jinding Casting Co., Ltd., Shaanxi Automobile
Xinjiang Motor Co., Ltd, Shaanxi Fast Gear Co., Ltd., Xi'an Fast
Auto Drive Co., Ltd., Baoji Fast Gear Co., Ltd., Fast Eaton (Xi’an)

Power Transmission System Co., Ltd. and Fast Eaton (Baoji) Light

Transmission Co., Ltd.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

IV. Taxation (Continued)

2.

Tax benefits (Continued)

Preferential corporate income tax for the domestic
subsidiaries of the Company (Continued)

Pursuant to the requirement of the Announcement concerning the
Cancellation of 22 Matters of Approvals About Non-administrative
Permissions to be Sought for Taxation Issues numbered 58 of 2015
issued by the State Administration of Taxation on 18 August 2015,
for those companies entitled to the preferential tax treatment at
15% under the western development strategy of China, only filing
is required instead of approval. All the aforesaid subsidiaries have
satisfied the requirement under Cai Shui Fa [2020] No. 23 in 2022
and continued to be eligible for a preferential tax rate at 15% in
2022.

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial
Statements

1.

Cash and cash equivalents

RS i 25 BT 5 (48
2022F 18 1HZ26H30H 1F 5

IR
2.

JH (%)

HUWEE(E)
RRARBRAFRAIBEMSEH
BE(E)
BIE2015F8AISHEZRMEARA
£2015F FE585 (R A M EEUH
B22 BB S IEITIAT Al B IHE
NEINHRTE  EXAFAFE15%
MBI ERBRORRATHEEEH]R
EHE - it T RARI2022F w25
TE (2020123 X BIHE - 20224
BENITISHIERRE -

TG ORI 5 AR LI H AR

1.

61,171,238,096.90
9,831,835,563.31

ltem 5H

Cash at bank EFR$
Bank deposits H|ITIFR
Other cash and cash equivalents HEpEkEd
Total At

71,005,863,823.40

Incl: Total amount deposited overseas
Total amount restricted for use due

to security or pledge

Hep: FERINFOREE
FER  EREHER

BRFIFRIAREE

Interest income earned on bank current deposits is calculated
by using current deposit interest rate of the bank. The deposit
periods for fixed deposits vary from 7 days to 5 years and may be
withdrawn in advance depending on the cash requirements of the
Group, and earn interest income at respective deposit interest rates
of the bank.

3,032,024,518.46

9,501,925,932.64

RMB

AR

30 June 2022 31 December 2021
2022%6H30H 2021412 A831H
(Restated)

(BEM)

2,790,163.19 3,862,258.61

68,525,476,306.62
11,135,502,674.85

79,664,841,240.08

3,602,927,404.42

11,052,097,402.06

RITE B FFIRBIRITIERFRA K
MEHBWA - ERFROFRAE
TRESFEAEF  AERAKENES
FORM AT - W IRMRAE R IRTT
T RAEEUS A BN -



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial
Statements (Continued)

2.

Financial assets held for trading

ltem HH

Interim Report 2022 A HAZRE
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* ‘?a;g,ﬁa‘%iﬁﬁigiﬁ H iR

2.

Classified as financial assets at fair value D AUAAEEAEBEHEE

through profit or loss TABHERNEREE
Incl.: Other debt instrument Hip: HhEBTH
Investment in equity instruments HRTAKRE
Forward foreign exchange contracts EHISME S LY
Cross currency swap instruments RXEBEHMTA
Structured deposits HEBIETER
Contingent consideration of hESHIBELHE

business combination

Total &%t

As at 30 June 2022, the Group had no financial assets
held for trading with title restrictions (31 December 2021:
RMB202,778,904.11).

Notes receivable
Classification of notes receivable

[tem I8 H
Bank acceptance bills BITERGEES
Commercial acceptance bills [GEZSESH

Total aSEr

REIMEHMEE
RMB
AEBT

30 June 2022 31 December 2021
202246 H30H 2021912 A31H

88,298,831.60 11,261,500.90
89,521.50 -
77,975,458.40 73,932,582.59
700,557,595.64 331,279,399.24
11,757,726,617.81 5,858,380,715.38

112,338,702.84 112,338,702.84

12,736,986,727.79 6,387,192,900.95

R2022F6 300 © KEBEENAHE
TERHOZZIESREE(20214F
128318 : AR®202,778,904.11

JT) e
R ERE
R E BN A
RMB
AEBT

30 June 2022 31 December 2021
20226 A30H 2021412 A31H
(Restated)
(B&Eq)

6,670,024,847.39 9,606,271,974.09
112,163,839.40 38,964,859.00

6,782,188,686.79 9,645,236,833.09
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HRB D RHBRAF

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial
Statements (Continued)

3.

Notes receivable (Continued)
Notes receivable pledged by the Group as at period end

Item 5 H

RS i 25 BT 5 (48
2022F 18 1HZ26H30H 1F 5

h~F O B B R 3 B H H R
(%)
3. BWERE(E)
R A S B B E I R

RMB
ARBT

30 June 2022
2022%6H30H

31 December 2021
2021412 831H

Bank acceptance bills HRITHGESR

5,397,482,537.99 7,646,194,060.76

Notes receivable endorsed or discounted as at period end
and not yet expired as at the balance sheet date

HRAEECSEHHAEHE
EERBEXRARRIHMNEK

e

RMB
N

30 June 2022
2022966 H30H
Derecognised Not derecognised
R IETEE

RIETERR

Bank acceptance bills RITAGESR

107,131,818.98

As at 30 June 2022, the Group had not transferred any notes
into accounts receivable due to issuers’ failure in performance (31
December 2021: Nil).

As the Group considered that the credit rating of the bank
acceptance bills was relatively high and the credit quality of
acceptors of all commercial acceptance bills held by it was good,
there was no significant credit risk. Therefore, no provision for

losses was made.

M2022F6A30H  AEBEREE
NEE B 4T i R A e R T
Z3R (20214128318 : &)

AEERBAFENRITEALIERD
ARRITERTERS - AN
RARERNARAGERARRREL
TEEERNERRAR - B AREE
BRER -



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial
Statements (Continued)

4.

Accounts receivable

The Group trades with its customers primarily on credit terms,
and generally requires prepayments or cash on delivery for new
customers. Credit period for credit customers is generally one to

twelve months. Accounts receivable is non-interest bearing.

An aging analysis of accounts receivable based on invoice dates is

Interim Report 2022 A HAZRE
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T S0P B R R EIE H s R

(78)

4. FEWBRR
FEBRESHNE S ERAEER
5ABE  A-—REXFELENZR
R RN R RET - BEESH
EEEEEAIE2EA - EREX
FTEE -

FEUBR SR BR PR IR B B BR i 47 40

presented as follows:

™

30 June 2022
20226 H30H

22,508,582,597.47
1,091,090,065.78
365,239,010.73
2,377,616,205.48

Age AR &R
Within 1 year 1 AR
1 to 2 years 1824

2 to 3 years 2E3F
Over 3 years 3FE
Gross carrying amount BREEREE

26,342,527,879.46

Less: Provision for credit loss

B ERBRER

3,102,741,002.55

Carrying amount

REEE

23,239,786,876.91

RMB

AR#T

31 December 2021
20214 12A31H
(Restated)
(B&E)

18,184,205,671.29
601,765,449.49
1,173,819,286.04
1,471,453,454.49

21,431,243,861.31

2,793,418,125.09

18,637,825,736.22
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

RS i 25 BT 5 (48
2022F 18 1HZ26H30H 1F 5

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial #. ~& f I % it & £ HIH H 51 &

Statements (Continued)
4. Accounts receivable (Continued)

Disclosure by category of provision for bad debts:

(%)
4. BWRR(E)

BIEBREFEHR A BHE ¢

RMB
AE®T
30 June 2022
2022%6A30A
Gross carrying Proportion Provision for  Percentage Carrying
amount (%) credit losses (%) amount
L6l =A sHRLLAI
ltem EH RESE (%) BARRE (%) EHEE
Items assessed for expected credit losses BEIERBERRL
individually 3,912,730,552.96 2,361,530,089.94 60.36 1,551,200,463.02
Items assessed for expected credit lossesby ~— BEBREBEHAA
group with distinctive credit risk characteristics &8 E BB % 22,429,797,326.50 741,210,912.61 330 21,688,586,413.89
Total &5 26,342,527,879.46 3,102,741,002.55 1178 23,239,786,876.91
RMB
AEBT
31 December 2021
2021%12A318
(Restated)
(BE®)
Gross carrying Proportion Provision for Percentage Carrying
amount (%) credit losses (%) amount
L fl =R SR
ltem EH REBE (%) BRERH (%) FEEE
Items assessed for expected credit losses SEIERBERRL
individually 3,628,303,813.89 16.93 2,135,958,470.00 58.87 1,492,345,343.89
Items assessed for expected credit losses by RERRREHAS
group with distinctive credit risk characteristics  FH{& B B 1R % 17,802,940,047.42 83.07 657,459,655.09 369 17,145,480,392.33
Total &5 21,431,243,861.31 100.00  2,793,418,125.09 13.03  18,637,825,736.22
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4. BUWER(E)
H2022F6A30H - AEBBEBEFE

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial
Statements (Continued)
4. Accounts receivable (Continued)

As at 30 June 2022, the Group's accounts receivable assessed for

expected credit losses individually are presented as follows:

BHIE RIERHBUBRRIERIT

RMB
AE#BT
Gross carrying Provision for  Percentage
Customers amount credit losses (%) Reasons
sHR B

zF AR [E BR 3R FEREXER (%) FHRE i
Customer 1 828,879,839.23 604,516,516.09 72.93 Bad repayment ability
EF1 BEENE
Customer 2 187,519,390.53 113,234,527.53 60.39 Bad repayment ability
EF2 BEENE
Customer 3 111,878,808.80 111,878,808.80 100.00 Long credit age
EF3 RERE
Customer 4 75,871,191.17 75,871,191.17 100.00 Bad repayment ability
P4 BEENE
Customer 5 61,493,300.24 61,493,300.24 100.00 Long credit age
EF5 RERE
Customer 6 56,927,140.00 56,927,140.00 100.00 Long credit age
EF6 RERE
Customer 7 50,102,289.70 4,105,598.32 8.19 Overdue
EBF7 8 54
Customer 8 49,159,575.31 49,159,575.31 Bad repayment ability
P8 BEENE
Customer 9 47,813,595.03 35,130,334.31 Liquidation
EF9 WESE
Customer 10 43,068,702.46 43,068,702.46 Long credit age
EF10 RERE
Others 2,400,016,720.49 1,206,144,395.71 Long credit age, etc.
HAh RS
Total 3,912,730,552.96  2,361,530,089.94

&t
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) FPHS ik R M 5 (48
1 January to 30 June 2022 2022F 1 A1HZ6H30H 1R

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial #. ~& f I % it & £ IH H 51 #

Statements (Continued) (%)

4. Accounts receivable (Continued) 4, BRIRM (&)
As at 30 June 2022, the Group’s accounts receivable for which M2022F6A30H  REBENER
credit losses are provided for using impairment matrix based on HRREEETIREREEXREENE
aging analysis are presented as follows: WRRFBERAT

RMB
ARBT

30 June 2022
20226 H30H
Lifetime Expected

Gross expected credit

carrying amount credit loss loss rate (%)

BEFHESY AHER
Age AR AR TH R 3R BHEREX BRE(%)

Within 1 year 1A 9,016,593,382.90 230,380,088.85 2.56
1 to 2 years 18224 617,240,797.31 53,258,463.72 8.63
2 to 3 years 2E3F 132,592,606.34 41,930,380.95 31.62
3 to 4 years 3E44F 35,359,980.51 21,958,861.83 62.10
4 to 5 years 4354 48,506,310.26 45,629,295.54 94.07
Over 5 years S5 E 265,882,067.53 265,882,067.53 100.00

Total A 10,116,175,144.85 659,039,158.42 6.51
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) FRHS ik R M 5 (48
1 January to 30 June 2022 2022F 1 A1HZE6H30H 1R

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial #. ~& f i % it 3 £ IH H 51 &

Statements (Continued) (%)
4. Accounts receivable (Continued) 4. BUWER(E)
As at 30 June 2022, the Group’s accounts receivable for which H2022F6A30H - AEEKA B
credit losses are provided for using overdue ages as credit risk BREEAERARREHETIRERIEX
characteristics are presented as follows: EHEOERERERAT
RMB
AR T
30 June 2022
202266 H30H
Lifetime Expected
Gross expected credit
carrying amount credit loss loss rate (%)
EEFEB FAHER
Overdue ages I8 A BR R BRE BRER BEHEREX BERE(%)
Not yet overdue or overdue g A sk E B/ R
for less than 90 days 90k 10,175,664,741.05 41,841,591.26
Overdue for more than 90 days # Hi A7 90X B
but less than 180 days PNAR180K 337,767,402.66 7,524,795.55
Overdue for more than BMEIRN 180K
180 days 453,986,515.54 11,287,193.32
Total A&t 10,967,418,659.25 60,653,580.13
As at 30 June 2022, provisions for credit losses for the Group’s 20226 A30H @ NEEZ AL
accounts receivable with good credit history are presented as BEERENFIEASTIZEEHIBLE
follows: BHERAT :
RMB
ARHT
30 June 2022
20226 H30H
Lifetime Expected
Gross expected credit
carrying amount credit loss loss rate (%)
BEEFEBN EHEH
Item EHE BREEA R BHERBX BERE(%)

Accounts receivable with good {Z FREC4%EE &)
credit history e 2 IEE A 1,346,203,522.40 21,518,174.06
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) FPHS ik R M 5 (48
1 January to 30 June 2022 2022F 1 A1HZ6H30H 1R

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial #. ~& f I % it & £ IH H 51 #

Statements (Continued) (%)
4. Accounts receivable (Continued) 4, BRIRM (&)
As at 30 June 2022, the top five balances in respect of accounts MR2022F6 308  BMREFTBRE
receivable by closing balance are presented as follows: B BACR 82 58 A 1 2 MY FE MR BR FRIB R 10
T
RMB
AR#HTT
Gross Provision
carrying amount Proportion (%) for credit losses
Name of entity BUER BRTEI R EE Lt 6l (%) ERBEXES
First place E£—% 1,489,348,075.60 5.65 -
Second place F-Z 828,879,839.23 3.15 604,516,516.09
Third place =% 471,287,532.74 1.79 620,431.93
Fourth place FEME 421,833,526.77 1.60 8,436,670.53
Fifth place ERA 265,875,791.81 1.01 6,051,153.36

Total o 3,477,224,766.15 13.20 619,624,771.91
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V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial #. ~& 0F B % it 3% £ EIH H 51 B
Statements (Continued) (748)
4. Accounts receivable (Continued) 4. EBUWERM(E)

Movements in provision for credit losses: EABXEEEHER

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

RMB

ARET
Lifetime Lifetime
expected expected
credit loss credit loss
(without (with
impairment impairment

of credit) of credit) Total
B8 1745 5 BIAFEH
TEEIE AKX TREE B X
(REEE (BE4E

Provision for credit losses ERBREE ERRIE) ZRRE) &t

Balance as at 31 December 2021 2021412 A31 B &%

(restated) (BEa) 745,214,475.97  2,048,203,649.12  2,793,418,125.09
Balance as at 31 December 2021 2021412 A31H %8

in the current period TEAHE
— Transferred to receivables —BADBEEARE

with impairment of credit - - -
— Reversal of receivables —EERBLEERRE

without impairment of credit - - -

Provision for the period REAET 1R 261,254,745.55 114,332,792.35 375,587,537.90
Reversal during the period A HIEE (54,382,654.39) (2,891,596.97)  (57,274,251.36)
Written-off during the period 7K Bi#% £ (7,172,604.26) (3,176,751.77) (10,349,356.03)
Adjustment for exchange & 3 = EE R

differences 12,561,288.79 (11,202,341.84) 1,358,946.95
Balance as at 30 June 2022 20226 A30H &:%8 957,475,251.66  2,145,265,750.89  3,102,741,002.55

B2022F 6 A30H - AEEMA
BRIIBHNERERABARKE
174,461,778.3172 (20214 12 A 31
B : AR¥272,424,416.977T) °

As at 30 June 2022, the Group had restricted accounts receivable
amounting to RMB174,461,778.31 (31 December 2021:
RMB272,424,416.97).
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) FPHS ik R M 5 (48
1 January to 30 June 2022 2022F 1 A1HZ6H30H 1R

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial #. ~& f i % it & £ IH H 51 &

Statements (Continued) (%)
5. Receivable financing 5. ERRERE
Classification of receivable financing FEW R IERE & 7 4R
RMB
ARET
30 June 2022 31 December 2021
[tem 5 H 202246 H30H 2021412 831H
(Restated)
(B&Eiu)
Bank acceptance bills at fair value AR BEFENRITALES 6,244,710,237.32 6,962,150,565.60
Receivable financing pledged by the Group as at period HIR N SR B B 9 19 18 W3R
end BE
RMB
ARET

30 June 2022 31 December 2021
Item HH 2022%F6H30H 2021912 831H

Bank acceptance bills at fair value UARBEFENRITALES 2,025,186,912.10 1,541,749,624.38

Receivable financing endorsed or discounted as at period HAAEEESEXMRAH

end and not yet expired as at the balance sheet date EERBEXRARKRIHNEE
RIEmE

RMB

AE®T

30 June 2022
202296 H30H
Derecognised Not derecognised
Item HE HRIEER REIEFER

Bank acceptance bills at fair value UAnBEEMNIRITALESR 8,542,855,619.32




Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial
Statements (Continued)
6.

An aging analysis of prepayments is presented as follows:

Interim Report 2022 A HAZRE
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* ‘?éitﬁji%ﬁi%igiﬁ H iR

Prepayments 6.

B IR
BRRENERATMT -

RMB
AR
30 June 2022 31 December 2021
202256 H30H 202141283180
(Restated)
(BE®)
Amount Proportion (%) Amount  Proportion (%)
Age HREe ©8 £ 61(%) o8 Ee (%)
Within 1 year 1E AR 1,309,663,871.60 cEEECR 1,468,186,485.94 91.10
110 2 years 1224 74,717,213.79 5.06 64,757,288.84 4.02
2 to 3 years 2E3F 38,829,628.72 2.63 31,805,384.33 1.97
Over 3 years 3FL 53,414,856.97 3.62 46,868,842.36 2.91
Total A&t 1,476,625,571.08 100.00 1,611,618,001.47 100.00

Description of the ages of prepayments: Prepayments with ages
over 1 year represent primarily those outstanding amounts prepaid

to suppliers for raw materials.

As at 30 June 2022, there was no significant prepayments with an

age of more than one year (31 December 2021: Nil).

As at 30 June 2022, the closing balances of the top 5 prepayments
amounted in aggregate to RMB226,724,373.57 (31 December
2021: RMB284,946,106.74), representing 15.35% (31 December
2021: 17.68%) of the total closing balances of all prepayments at
period end.

BNRAEREROFA - REBB1F
MBENREBETERBANHERAEE
B R LR o

MN2022%F6 308 © EEH —F
EMEZFEMNFIEBE (2021512 A 31
H:#&E)-

M202246A30H  BEHAEHN
ERRENHRBEGTAARE
226,724,373.57 7L (2021% 12 A 31
B : AR#284,946,106.747T ) -
EENRBEBHRSRBEBATHOL
Bl £15.35% (2021412 A318 :
17.68%) °
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

1 January to 30 June 2022

HRB D RHBRAF

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial

Statements (Continued)
7.

Other receivables
Presented by categories

S5 e R WA R (A

2022F 18 1HZ26H30H 1F 5

G OF B R T EIH H RE R

(%)
7. HAbEWK

D RIHIR

30 June 2022
202246 H30H

174,553,325.61
8,666,716.02
1,819,062,197.01

2,002,282,238.64

JE U A B

30 June 2022
2022466 H30H

174,553,325.61

174,553,325.61

Item 5 H
Interest receivable JiE W FI) B,
Dividend receivable JFE L2 % )
Other receivables H b R UER
Total A
Interest receivable

ltem B/H
Fixed deposit TEHTF R
Total A&t
Dividend receivable

Item 5 H

& M5 B R

30 June 2022
202246 H30H

Shantui Construction Machinery Co., Ltd.
Shandong Mengwo Transmission Co., Ltd.
Shaanxi Eurostar Auto Co., Ltd.

Others
Gross carrying amount

W HE TR WA AR AR
IWRFABZFZARAA

BREE AT T AR I BRR A A

Hith
FRE AR

3,550,584.02
3,040,000.00
5,116,132.00
11,706,716.02

Less: provision for credit losses

B ERBRER

3,040,000.00

Total

att

8,666,716.02

RMB

ARET

31 December 2021
2021412 831H

(Restated)
(BE)

18,949,581.76
36,945,373.13
3,115,111,868.46

3,171,006,823.35

RMB
ARET

31 December 2021
2021412 A31H

18,949,581.76

18,949,581.76

RMB

ARET

31 December 2021
2021412 831H

(Restated)
(BE)

34,216,326.53
3,040,000.00
2,729,046.60
39,985,373.13

3,040,000.00

36,945,373.13




Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

1 January to 30 June 2022

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial
Statements (Continued)
7.

Other receivables (Continued)

Other receivables

Other receivables are disclosed by ages as follows:
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G ORI B AR R IEH H R R

(%)

7. HARWER (&

H A & WK

&)

Hh E UK IR AR B R

30 June 2022
20226 H30H

Age BRER
Within 1 year 1 AR
1 to 2 years 1824

2 to 3 years 2E3F
Over 3 years 3FE
Gross carrying amount BRI A RE

1,751,134,968.46
193,143,181.99
249,958,685.03
812,610,433.83
3,006,847,269.31

Less: Provision for credit loss

B ERBERER

1,187,785,072.30

Carrying amount

FREEE

1,819,062,197.01

Classification of gross carrying amount of other

receivables by nature

H i & Y 3K

BoREn

30 June 2022
2022%6H30H

1,918,969,264.13
510,689,814.95
41,042,341.41
34,975,435.55
501,170,413.27

Nature Mg

Corporate lending and payment on behalf 12 % &2 &R F K
Payment for equity transfer % e B i X

Deposit e

Reserve fund HAE

Others EAfh

Total &t

3,006,847,269.31

RMB

AE#T

31 December 2021
20214 12A31H
(Restated)
(BE&E)

2,544,947,563.99
695,289,844.62
464,665,371.55
585,354,887.85
4,290,257,668.01

1,175,145,799.55

3,115,111,868.46

AR ER B IR KR

RMB
AR

31 December 2021
202112 A31H
(Restated)
(BEi)

3,626,535,012.59
54,233,805.61
43,459,650.30
566,029,199.51

4,290,257,668.01
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1 January to 30 June 2022

7.

HRBORHERDE

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) FPHS ik R M 5 (48
20221/ 1HZE6H30H 15
V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial #. ~& 0F B % it 3% £ EIH H 51 B
Statements (Continued) (%)
Other receivables (Continued) 7. HthEWE(E)
Classification of gross carrying amount of other H At & W K BR T B RE 1R BT
receivables by nature (Continued) EoHEBERE)
Change in the provision for credit losses in respect of other ﬁ{ﬁfﬁﬂﬁl KAz R121E AR HI(E A8
receivables based on 12-month expected credit losses and lifetime SR EEFEREREABAEED
expected credit losses is as follows: ERIBLREFNESHNT
RMB
AE®T
Stage 2 Stage 3
Lifetime Lifetime
Stage 1 expected expected
Expected credit loss credit loss
credit loss (without (with
for the next impairment impairment
12 months of credit) of credit) Total
“BE o
REFES REATES
—B& EHEREX EHEREX
KR121ER (RE4E (B#4E
Iltem HE EHEREX ERRE) ERARE) G
Balance as at 31 December 2021 20211231888
(restated) (BEM) 30,507,259.50 - 1,144,638540.05  1,175,145,799.55
Balance as at 31 December 2021 202112 A3188%
in the current period EAH
— Reversed to Stage 1 ~EnE-RE (2,420,049.99) - 2,420,049.99 -
Provided for the period AR 13,158,072.48 - 40,892.29 13,198,964.77
Reversed during the period KHER (437,401.31) - (106,779.56) (544,180.87)
Adjustment for exchange difference B X Z%EH% (15,511.15) - - (15,511.15)
Balance as at 30 June 2022 202256 A30H &% 40,792,369.53 - 1,146,992,702.77  1,187,785,072.30




Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

1 January to 30 June 2022

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial
Statements (Continued)
7.

Other receivables (Continued)

As at 30 June 2022, the top five balances in respect of other

receivables by closing balance are presented as follows:

Name of entity B &
First place -4
Second place F-4
Third place £=4
Fourth place M4
Fifth place £0%
Total ch

Nature

RENHEE

Lending
BfE

Payment for

equity transfer
RIEEER

Lending

/- =+
AT

Lending
BEH
Technology
development
expenses

BiR%E

Closing

balance

HREHE

601,271,903.27

510,689,814.95

499,713,729.81

104,500,000.00

56,287,300.00

1,772,462,748.03
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2022F 1 51HZ26H30H 1F 5

TG MEHREEEEHA R
(%)

. HttEW (&)
MR2022F6A308  MRKFHFER
HACR SR RE AT 0 % 19 E Ath FE MR IB R 10
T -

7

&R

1-5 years
1-56
Within one year

00

1-5 years

1-56

2-3 years

2-3F

Within one year

15 R

Percentage of
total other
receivables

(%)

1k Bt FE Wk
MARBBETH
HILLB(%)

20.00

16.98

RMB
ARET

Closing balance
of provision

for credit losses

EREXER
HARGE

601,271,903.27

395,323,669.33

104,500,000.00

2,814,365.00

1,103,909,937.60
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) FPHS ik R M 5 (48
1 January to 30 June 2022 2022F 1 A1HZ6H30H 1R

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial #. ~& f i % it & £ IH H 51 &

Statements (Continued)
8. Inventories
Classification of inventories

30 June 2022
2022%6F308

Gross

qarrying Provision Carrying
amount for impairment amount
ftem R RESE REER BEEE
Raw materials R 12,190,802,040.94 590,505,931.75  11,600,296,109.19
Finished goods ER & 18,778,239,949.02 968,241,641.65  17,809,998,307.37
OEM materials ZEMINE 179,104,111.65 5,264,749.32 173,839,362.33

Seff made semi-finished goods B E4 5 & K
and work in progress RER 5,038,698,453.19 61,555,102.12  4,977,143,351.07
Second-hand vehicles —F8 846,719,846.00 196,326,309.20 650,393,536.80

Total A3t 37,033,564,400.80 1,821,893,734.04  35,211,670,666.76

(%)
8. ®#EH
FEsH
RMB
AE®T
31 December 2021
20215124318
(Restated)
(BEil)
(ross
qarying Provision Carrying
amount for impairment amount
BHRE HKERE EHEE
11,166,292,963.11 568,198,43342  10,598,094,529.69
21,030,548,848.98 977,777546.82  20,052,771,302.16
158,823,491.99 4,550,251.69 154,273,240.30
4,034,991,528.63 55,806,819.21 3,979,184,709.42
824,908,480.70 218,781,284.40 606,127,196.30
37,215,565,313.41 182511433554 35390,450977.87
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1 January to 30 June 2022
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V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial # ~& 0F b % it 3% £ EIH H 51 B
Statements (Continued) B

M

8. Inventories (Continued) 8. ®FE(#E)
Provision for decline in value of inventories FEMKBEE
RMB
AE#®T
Increase during Decrease
the period during the period
AR R8RS
Adjustment of
Reversal or exchange
31 December 2021 transferred out differences 30 June 2022
Item R 20215127318 i B 202256830
(Restated)
(BEi)
Raw material Rits 568,198,433.42 86,643,775.65 53,268,562.34 11,067,714.98 590,505,931.75
Finished goods Eflm 977,777,546.82 420,960,145.89 431,680,363.44 (1,184,312.38) 968,241,641.65
OEM materials ZEMIMH 4,550,251.69 - 146,773.11 (861,270.74) 5,264,749.32
Self macle semi-finished goods BRLNRREER
and work in progress 55,806,819.21 14,447,786.33 7,517,3712.26 1,182,131.16 61,555,102.12
Second-hand vehicles 3 218,781,284.40 29,195,601.05 45,083,988.63 6,566,587.62 196,326,309.20
Total At 1,825,114,335.54 551,247,308.92 537,697,059.78 16,770,850.64 1,821,893,734.04
9. Contract assets 9. ERAEE
RMB
AEBT
30 June 2022 31 December 2021
2022%6A30H 20215128318
Gross carrying Provision for Gross carrying Provision for
amount impairment  Carrying amount amount imparment  Carrying amount
ltem ER REHE BEER KEEfE FERE HEEH FHEE
Supply chain solution services  {tfESBRE R 7
(Note) s (5E) 4,935,091,011.20 UCERIENIRIPASS 3,640,519,285.60 - 3,640,519,285.60
Others Hi 222,934,087.92 222,934,087.92 125,517,494.60 - 125,517,494.60
Total At 5,158,025,099.12 5,158,025,099.12  RERNLIXUEINE AL 3,766,036,780.20
Note: The amount in respect of supply chain solution services was the net B BEEEREARRS RMBERNSEAR

amount of receivable from customers after offsetting contract assets and
contract liabilities under the same contract under the supply chain solution
services of the Group. The Group recognised the work performed as a
contract asset, and reclassified the contract asset recognised at the point
of time when it settled the amount with the customer into receivables.

SEHERBRIERBER—GRAT
EREEASREEEHENREERS
RS - ARELEREHITHITEER
RHEAREE EHRMEFIEREE
MR HERNEREEED AERK
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HRB D RHBRAF

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial
Statements (Continued)
10. Non-current assets due within one year

11.

30 June 2022
20226430

Provision for

Gross carrying

amount credit losses

RASE  GRRXER

ltem EH
Finance lease receivables BERERYH
(Note V.12) (R 12)

3,409,551,558.00 11,956,330.40

Other current assets

3,397,595,221.60

ltem HE

Input tax credit to be deducted 2wk
Prepaid expenses THER
Prepaid corporate income tax TR EMEH
Others Eth

Total A&t

RS i 25 BT 5 (48
2022F 18 1HZ26H30H 1F 5

H ‘é‘zgﬁa‘%iﬁﬁigiﬁ H iR
(%)
10. —FRFPNFERBEE

Carrying Gross carrying
amount amount

REEE FEHE

RMB
AT
31 December 2021
20215124318
Provision for Carrying
credit losses amount

EREXER FHEEE

30 June 2022
202266 H30H

1,915,098,650.20
705,745,886.06
635,736,685.40
283,939,878.48

3,540,521,100.14

3,374,754,908.90 16,857,999.50  3,357,896,909.40
1. B REBEE

RMB

AEET

31 December 2021
2021412 A31H
(Restated)
(B&Eil)

2,804,331,146.43
365,421,408.31
792,415,827.58
1,463,310,859.19

5,425,479,241.51
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial
Statements (Continued)
12. Long-term receivables

RMB
AR
30 June 2022 31 December 2021
2022%6A308 20215124318
Gross carrying Provision for Carrying Gross carrying Provision for Carrying
amount credit losses amount amount credit losses amount
ftem Ef RERE FREXER BEEE BHSE EREXER BEEE
Finance lease receivables ~ BEREEMT 12,685,421,260.40 58050,577.20  12,627,370,683.20  [RMREINIRINR] 54,407,65920  12,879,858,163.60
Incl: Finance income not yet - 2 : KERE 7
realised Bl (1,114,749,095.60) ((RRENZERERCRS  (1,121,371,023.70) - (1121311,023.70)
Less: Finance lease receivables J5 : A~
dlassified as due within Ak
one year BERE
B 3,409,551,558.00 11,956,330.40 3,397,595,221.60 3,374,754,908.90 16,857,999.50 3,357,896,909.40
Total At 9,275,869,702.40 46,094,246.80 9,229,775,455.60 9,559,510913.90 37,549,659.70 9,521,961,254.20

RHRUR(E—FAIMEREX
EHEHIEM -

Provisions made for credit losses of long-term receivables (inclusive

of the portion due within one year) are as follows:

RMB
AR T
Lifetime expected Lifetime expected
credit loss credit loss
(without impairment (with impairment
of credit) of credit) Total
BEEFES BEEFER
HEEREX HHEREX
Provision for credit losses ERERER (REEERRNE) (BREERHE) At
Balance as at 31 December 2021 2021F 12831 B&E 54,407,659.20 - 54,407,659.20

Provision for the period AEREHR 5,287,373.33 - 5.287,373.33
Reversal during the period NEREE ) = - -
Transferred out during the period 7K Hi%2 44 - - -
Written off during the period Az - - -

Adjustment for exchange differences & ¥,z % 3%
202256 A30 B &R

Balance as at 30 June 2022

(1,644,455.33)
58,050,577.20

(1,644,455.33)
58,050,577.20
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

1 January to 30 June 2022

HRB D RHBRAF

RS i 25 BT 5 (48
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G OF B AR T IH H AR R

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial
. ==3
Statements (Continued) (%)
13. Long-term equity investments 13. RERERE
Change during the period
5829
(Gains and losses
oninvestment Other
Increase Decrease under equity comprehensive Other Dedlaration of Exchange
31 December 2021 ininvestment ninvestment method income equity changes cash diidend differences
= i Ef B
Investee entiy RREEN 2015128318 BiRE RORE REka Feka EaZY ReRA EXZE
(Restated)
(BEi)
|. Joint ventures - AERE
Xian FC Itellgence EZEREHED
Transmission Co, L. BRAE(ATER
(XianfC) Fipsid) 166,160,799.77 - - 40,897,370.54 - - - -
KAMAZ Weichai LLC FEEELERAT 37,911,57040 - - 539,850.00 - - - -
Fischer Weichai (Weifang) sy 236 #plvel
Fuel Cell Compressor Company ~ Bt ZE#ERAT
Limited 69,465,731.38 - - (500,779.50) - - - -
Sub-total It 273,538,101.55 - - 40,936,441.04 - - - -
1. Associates ZoRERE
Shandong Heavy Industry LRETEEEH
Group Finance Co, Ltd. ARAA 1,267,148,599.47 - - 53,241,183.81 - - - -
Ballrd Poweer Systems e, EHEBHEE
BRA 849,704,865.92 - - (89,014,622.20) - - - (23,018357.95)
Ceres Power Holdngs ple (UK) ~ ZEIBE 872K
BRA 784,644,169.85 - - (39474.232.49) - - - (22,811,108.83)
Deewin Tiania Co,, Ltd. ERERATROBRAT 3121509935 - - 1,776,186.82 - - (14,460950.85) -
Other associates EfpBecs 2213,224,807.07 138919,582.64 (23,711919.33) 33,640,57082 10458,216.90 (1,053,642.69) (45,095,217.30) 42,088,622.20)
Sub-total It 5435,937,541.66 138919,582.64 (23,711,91933) (3383091324) 10458,216.90 (1,053,642.69) (59,556,168.15) (87,918,088.98)
Total aif 5,709,475,643.21 138919,582.64 (23,711919.33) 7,105,527.80 10458,216.90 (1,053,642.69) (59,556,168.15) (87,918,088.98)

30 June 2022

2022%6A308

207,058,170.31
38,451,42040

6896495188

314,474,502.59

1,320,389,783.28

131,671,885.77

122,358,828.53
314,530,335.32
2,284293,775.91

5,379,244,608.81

5693,719,151.40

RMB
ARET

Among which,
closing provision
for impairment
A
BRAEEE

7,067,385.33
706738533

7,067,385.33
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1 January to 30 June 2022 2022F 1 A1HZE6H30H 1R

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial 7o - f 4 % it & £ 2 IH H 3R

Statements (Continued) (%
14. Investment in other equity instruments 14. HttER TARKRE
RMB
AEHT
30 June 2022 31 December 2021
Investee entity WiRAE B 20224 6H30H 20214128318
(Restated)
(B&Eq)
XCMG Construction Machinery BIEE TREEWRG
Co., Ltd. BRAT] 1,983,288,979.21 2,204,063,262.61
Shantui Construction Machinery Co., Ltd. | # T 2 ## i% 15 A BR A &) 1,005,740,864.24 811,640,760.30
Beiqi Foton Motor Co., Ltd. IS EEAERIDERAT 226,400,000.00 275,200,000.00
Others Hih 395,545,389.20 403,797,625.25
Total At 3,610,975,232.65 3,694,701,648.16
Investment in other equity instruments BB
RMB
AEBT
Amounts Reason for transfer
transferred from other
from other comprehensive
Dividend income comprefensive Reason for income to
recognised Accumulated income to designation retained eamings
during the period gain  retained eamings athvTocl during the period
, e
\ fusaks  URAEENE  AiRes
- REEZH , E\BRks BEEHHAZR ahEEAR
Investee entity REEEN FABA 2l HeE  RRUGHRE FhEHRR
XCMG Construction Machinery BISAIRERRNERAT - 783,748,706.07 - Investment in
Co., Ltd. equity investments
3 strategic
investment
ESTERES
ERRE
Shantui Construction Machinery Co,, Ltd. WETRERRAERAT 355058400 324,028733.36 = Investment in
equity investments
as strategic
investment
RXIERER
HERE
Beigi Foton Motor Co., Ltd. LAERAERNER AR - 32,400,000.00 - Investment in
equity investments
3 strategic
investment
RXIERES
ERRE
Others 2 - 9,948,834.66 911,280.85 Investmentin  Disposal of equity
equity investments REME
as strategic
investment
RXIERER
HEBRE

Total At 3,550,584.02  1,150,126,324.09 911,280.85
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

B 5 i R B R (A
1 January to 30 June 2022

2022417 1HE6H30H 1L R
V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial

i A0 B R R IE H R
Statements (Continued) (74)
15. Other non-current financial assets

15. Rt ERBEMEE

RMB
AR
30 June 2022 31 December 2021
[tem 20226 6H30H
Financial assets at FVTPL for the )

2021912 831H
current period

Investments related to the pension

plan of subsidiaries

Cross currency swap and interest rate

226,854,899.60
swap contracts

227,005,417.25

Total

347,334,142.75

35,918,438.95

574,189,042.35 262,923,856.20




Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial

Statements (Continued)
16. Investment property

(1)  Subsequent measurement under the cost model:

ltem 1HH
. Gross carrying amount — RERE
1. 31 December 2021 (restated) 1.2021512A31H
(BE)
2. Increase during the period 2 REBE SRR
(1) Acquisition (1) 5hE#%
(2) Transferred from fixed QRETEEBA
assets
3. Decrease during the period 3AHRA G5
4. 30 June 2022 4.20226A30H
Il. Accumulated depreciation and = - ZHTE 2 5+ Y

amortisation
1. 31 December 2021 (restated)

2. Increase during the period
(1) Provision
(2) Transferred from fixed
assets
3. Decrease during the period
4. 30 June 2022

Il Impairment provision
1. 31 December 2021 (restated)

2. Increase during the period
3. Decrease during the period
4. 30 June 2022
IV. Carrying amount -
1. 30 June 2022
2. 31 December 2021 (restated)

120214124318
(B&Ei)
2 RS
(1)5HE

QURBEEEEEA

3AHRD &
4.202246 430H

© REEE

120214124318
(B&E)
2 AEE NS
3AHROEE
4.2022%6 4308
REEE
1.20224F6 4308
2.2021%12A318
(BEit)
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16. REMEHE
RAKRARAEITRER

Houses and

buildings

EEEEN

896,202,718.75
5,146,418.13
984,870.01

4,161,548.12
2,921,330.65
898,427,806.23

331,273,006.08
14,831,976.08
14,425,913.26

406,062.82
1,194,092.16
344,910,890.00

15,829,783.20

15,829,783.20

537,687,133.03

549,099,929.47

(1)

= .

Land use rights
TR

126,607,644.37

1,412,793.05
125,194,851.32

25,812,064.30
1,229,142.60
1,229,142.60

336,006.16
26,705,200.74

98,489,650.58

100,795,580.07

RMB
ARBTT

1,022,810,363.12
5,146,418.13
984,870.01

4,161,548.12
4,334,123.70
1,023,622,657.55

357,085,070.38
16,061,118.68
15,655,055.86

406,062.82
1,530,098.32
371,616,090.74

15,829,783.20

15,829,783.20

636,176,783.61

649,895,509.54
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial
Statements (Continued)
16. Investment property (Continued)
(2) Investment properties not obtained title certificates:

As at 30 June 2022, the Group had no investment properties

for which the title certificate has not been obtained.

17. Fixed Assets
Presented by categories

RS i 25 BT 5 (48
2022F 18 1HZ26H30H 1F 5

TG MBEHREEEEHA R
(%)
16. REMEME (&)
(2) ARMEZERBENREN
BEHEEMN :
202266 A308  NEEE
REBEHMEFMNREEEH

E °
17. BIEEE
DY
RMB
AR#T

30 June 2022 31 December 2021

Item BH 2022464300 20214128318
(Restated)
(B&Ei)
Fixed Assets BEEEE Vel EP IS 34,951,529,782.20
Disposal of fixed assets BEE&EEFE 2,715,622.64 2,429,434.38

Total &%t

34,950,898,262.68 34,953,959,216.58
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) W5 % B 5 ()
1 January to 30 June 2022 2022F 1 A1HZE6H30H 1R

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial #. ~& 0F % 3% £ HIH H 5 B

Statements (Continued) (%)
17. Fixed Assets (Continued) 17. B EEE (&)
Fixed assets EE&EEBA
RMB
AT
Forklift trucks Forklift trucks
Houses, and equipment and equipment
buildings and Machinery and Electronic leased out leased out
land use rights equipment equipment Viehicles (long-term) (short-term) Others
EERENR fthRE fithne
[tem L] TifERE BERE E1%% Eadk R&ME(RY) RRfE(EH) it
| Gosamyngamont  — EEEE
1. 31 December 2021 12015128318
(restated) (B&id) 17215299,12138  23,579,672,316.85 3,072,371,958.39 513946,951.87  10,240424,810.28 5,227,539,881.00 321046128405  63,179,716,323.82
2 Ihoeaseduring theperiod 2. AEE NS E 428,417,695.85 1,078,890,22831 109,839,781.28 16,666,244.20 1,905,708,248.25 980,867,581.75 368,496,360.26 4,888,886,139.90
(1) Addition (EE 71,080,025.28 187,268,903.37 9,175,605.72 8,140,781.61 1,905,708,248.25 980,867,581.75 306,716,073.62 3,468,957,219.60
(2) Transfer from () ERIREA
construction-in-
progress 354,416,339.92 891,621,324.94 100,664,175.56 8,421,359.61 - - 61,780,286.64 1,416,909,486.67
(3) Other ranserin (3) A=A 292133065 5 - 98,1098 = = 2 301943363
3. Decrease during the period 3 AEH A48 20,690,853.90 204,995,402.58 18,765,594.06 13,076,835.66 923,312,892.09 341,565,801.62 18,268,265.67 1,540,675,645.58
(1) Disposals or (1) REFHE
retirements 16,529,305.78 201,272,288.58 16,354,770.35 10,064999.51 923,312,892.09 341,565,801.62 18,268,265.67 1,527,368,323.60
() Decreaseindisposalof ~ (2) EEFATRS
subsidiaries = 3,723,11400 24083.1 3,011,836.15 9,145,773.86
(3) Other transfer out (3) £t 4,161,548.12 - - - 4,161,548.12
4 Adustmentforechange 4 [EF ZERE
differences (97.337,671.57) (81,283974.73) 97251257 73671336 (298,751,956.17) (90,227,666.91) (59,482,893.50) (625,374,936.95)
5. 30June 2022 5.202564308 17585,688,291.76  24,372,283,167.85 3,164,418,658.18 518273,073.77  10,924,068,210.27 5776,613,994.22 3,561,206,485.14  65,902,551,881.19
I Accumulated depreciation = ~ Z3H47TE
1. 31 December 2021 120215128318
(restated) (BEi) 5678773346.12  14782,728618.17 2,035,611,635.56 388,868,462.08 1,710,873,559.69 1,696,283,530.38 1,663,611,05.03  27,956,750,177.03
2. Incresse during the period 2. AERE IS 434,691,83339 962,214,986.39 239,421,076.95 006045677 1,013415214.21 470,151,731.55 263677,80008  3425,633,105.34
(1) Provision ()35 433,497,141.3 962,214,986.39 239,421,076.95 42,060456.77 1,013,415.21421 470,151,737.55 263,677,800.08 3424,439,013.18
(2) Other transfer in Q) EpEA 1,194,092.16 - - - - - - 1,194,092.16
3. Deceaseduring the period 3. AE85 4% 9,816,181.79 185,216,949.21 11,326,280.02 9,125,965.69 363,680,040.59 111,943,761.62 13.197,345.95 704,366,524.87
(1) Disposals or (1) REFHE
refirements 9,410,118.97 184,800,104.76. 10,299,841.52 8,275,599.79 363,680,040.59 111,943,761.62 13,197,345.95 701,606,813.20
() Deceaseindisposalof () BET AR
subsidiaries - 476,844.45 1,026,438.50 850,365.90 2,353,648.85
(3) Other transfer out (3) EfoEL 406,062.82 - = - 406,062.82
4 Adustmentforechange 4 [EZEEE
differences (18,448,083.79) (19,284,696.79) 633,150.62 463,687.83 (33,627,121.79) 4,981,08027 (5,767,539.63) (71,049,529.28)
5. 30June 2022 5.202564308 6,085,200913.93  15,540,381,958.56 2,264,339,583.11 422,266,64099 2,326,981,605.52 2,059,472,586.58 190832393953 30,606,967,228.22
II. Provison for mpaiment = i E£(E
1. 31 December 2021 120215128318
(restated) (BEi) 103,347,195.74 114,444,361.51 6,987,242.63 716,231.95 12,576,117.40 25,203,972.70 8,160,642.66 271,436,364.59
2. Incresse during the period 2. AEE N4 E - 81,061.24 - - 33,101,50231 41,938,010.30 3,667,368.17 78,787,942.02
(1) Provision U5 = 81,061.24 - 33,101,502.31 41,938,01030 3,667,368.17 78,787,942.02
3. Decreaseduring the period 3. AEFE 4% 99,219.40 1,786,794.17 1,550.00 - 1417420 - 1901,731.77
(1) Disposals or (1) REZHE
refirements 99,219.40 1,786,794.17 1,550.00 14,174.20 1.901,731.71
4 Adutmentforechange 4 [E{2EHE
differences 417,944.34 848,974.80 - - (1,364,106.51) (1,255,857.20) 432,488.66 (920,555.91)
5. 30June 2022 5.202564308 103,665,920.68 113,587,603.38 6,985,692.63 716,231.95 4431411320 65,871,951.60 12,260,499.49 347,402,012.93
V. Carying amount mEHER
1. 30June 2022 12002567308 11,396,821,457.15 8,718,313,605.91 893,093,382.44 95,290,20083 8,552,772,491.55 3,651,269,456.04 1,640,622,046.12  34,948,182,640.04
2. 31 December 2021 2201512R318

(restated) (B&id) 1149317857952 8,682499337.17  1,029,773,080.20 12436225784 851697453319 350605237792 159868961636  34,951,529,782.20
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) FPHS ik R M 5 (48
1 January to 30 June 2022 2022F 1 A1HZ6H30H 1R

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial # ~& ff Bf % it 3% £ 2 H H 51

Statements (Continued) (%)
17. Fixed Assets (Continued) 17. BEEE(E&)
Fixed assets which are temporarily idle are presented as follows: FHEEMNBEEENT :

RMB
ARET
Gross Accumulated Provision for Carrying
carrying amount depreciation impairment amount
ltem JBH RE Rt E BEER REEE
Houses and buildings and EEEEY
land use rights Rt HETE#E 70,845,251.56 12,402,624.48 51,041,325.55 7,401,301.53
Machinery and equipment SR 135,765,601.52 71,902,753.44 53,785,804.73 10,077,043.35
Electronic equipment BEFR 35,823,269.38 27,795,526.90 6,951,803.45 1,075,939.03
Total B 242,434,122.46 112,100,904.82 111,778,933.73 18,554,283.91
Carrying amount of fixed assets leased out under operating lease is Y ETAEREmEBNT ¢
presented as follows:
RMB
A BT
30 June 2022 31 December 2021
[tem B H 20226 H30H 2021412 A31H
Electronic equipment EF R - 119,023.30
Machinery and equipment MR 31,934,200.52 62,427,670.22
Vehicles B R - 323,240.50
Forklift trucks and equipment leased out ~ A HE AN B MR E(KH)
(long-term) 8,552,772,491.55 8,516,974,533.19
Forklift trucks and equipment leased out 8 &) X 28 [ 5248 (S5 HA)
(short-term) 3,651,269,456.04 3,506,052,377.92

Total &5 12,235,976,148.11 12,085,896,845.13
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V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial #. ~& 0F B % it 3% £ EIH H 51 B

Statements (Continued) (%)
17. Fixed Assets (Continued) 17. BEEE (&)
As at 30 June 2022, fixed assets for which title certificate has not 20226830 © AL EREZE
been obtained are as follows: WEFEEEBRAOT
RMB
AR T

Reasons for the absence
Carrying amount of the title certificate

Item HE REEE ARXEEZENRE

Buildings EEREEY 1,013,951,847.80 In progress of applying
for the real property
ownership certificate

ETE B T B A 5

As at 30 June 2022, fixed assets of the Group with title restrictions R2022%6 H30H + AEEAAHES

amounted to RMB184,555,522.55 (31 December 2021: ARFNEEEEREBESARYE

RMB215,034,475.42), please refer to Note V.68. 184,555,522.5570 (20214 12 A 31
B : AR®215,034,475.4270) * &
RMizEh - 68

As at 30 June 2022, in view of the fact that the recoverable 202266 A30H - HREBHEEE

amounts of some fixed assets were lower than their carrying ER A E S REREEEE - R

amount, according to the result of impairment, provision for HEREAR  FHREREEEARE

impairment in the amount of RMB78,787,942.02 was made. 78,787,942.027T °



176 Weichai Power Co., Ltd. #ScE) HRHERA A

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

1 January to 30 June 2022

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial
Statements (Continued)
18. Construction in progress
Status of construction in progress

ftem %R
Production fine construction and EEEERYEEEA
renovation project A
Production line construction and TEEERNEERS
renovation project B
Transmission project E#EE
Factory area construction project A~ EBEREEA
- R&D bulding B EYN
Factory area construction project F BEBERE
Factory area construction project B~ FIERRZAB
Factory area construction project D BIEEZEED
Factory area construction project C BB ZREE C
Tria room construction project C FREEREAC
Tria room construction project A FREEFEAA
Factory area construction project A BEHERA
Factory area construction project A~ FEERERA
- Tria production centre -FEHL
Others £t
Total At

30 June 2022
2022564308
@ross carrying Provision for

amount impairment

RAHE AEER

1,384,189,897.80

942,400,09.64
937,350,373.26

438,492,421.07
216,762,486.57
204,814,686.34
105,357,401.87
73,447,405.68
71,648,951.92
28,655,463.53
4,301,139.57

62,000.00 =
2,882,963,300.55 570,845.44

7,350,445,630.80 570,845.44

RS i 25 BT 5 (48
2022F 18 1HZ26H30H 1F 5

o OF B Rk I H kR

(%)
18. KETRE
ERETIRER
RMB
ARET
31 December 2021 (restated)
20015128318(2E1)
Carrying Gross carrying Provision for Carrying
amount amount impairment amount

RERE FEHE REER RARE

1,384,189,897.80 VR EHaa ! - 504,148,668.53
942,400,09:64 " EERRYRRIIXY) - 83557526049
CEIFERIRTERIS  861,385,003.05 - 861,385,003.05
CERHIR IS 365,864,552.82 - 36580455282
216,/62,480.57  IAEXVARIRY - 11362637340
AERJENTIRIES  136,955,719.05 - 136,955,719.05
105,357,401.87 24,468,458 87 - 24,468,458 87
73,447,405.68 85,967,615.38 - 85,967,615.38
JANRRR PR 109,251,621.55 - 109.251,621.55
28,655,463.53 29,171,842.14 - 29,171,842.14
4,301,139.57 4,356,669.62 - 4,356,669.62
62,000.00 776,907.90 - 776,907.90
2,882,392,455.11° EXER RS RIERY) 57084544 3,032,780,998.08
ELERTENERTEIR 6,104,900,542.32 57084544 6,104,329,69.88




Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial
Statements (Continued)
18. Construction in progress (Continued)

Movement in key construction in progress is presented as follows:

Fixed asset
Increase transferred in

Budget ~ Openingbalance  during the period  during the period

Item &R B& BI8E AEEN  AEE\BREE

Production line construction and (3:3: 580 vEL 2,241,890,500.00 835,575,266.49 106,824,830.15
renovation project B

Factory area construction project ~ BERREEA 1,305,090,000.00  365,864,552.82 74,180,971.61 1,553,097.36
A-R&D building REY

Production line construction L3350 eI 110000000000  276,093733.08  60,889,977.12 93,480.71
and renovation project A - - FENEER

Production renovation project

TN UG 33 3 =G e =00 573430,000.00 16516899736 11220663652  41,811,154.36
renovation project A -HEEEER
- Mass production project

Factory area construction HRERRERC 524,020,000.00  109,251,621.55 911,729.72 38,514,399.35
project €

Production line construction L334SR =T 455,268,000.00 94,851,156.44 58,981,839.31 145,315.62
and renovation project A ~FxHd
- Research centre

Factory area construction BERLERD 723,876,400.00 54,782,493.03 87,114,507.69 1,377,433.48

project B - Phase Il -4

Transmission project - BHER-5R 507,440,000.00 2837044416 2657387571 6,548,119.26
Infrastructure
Transmission project - Light- B3R - f 270,000,00000  33,702,460.65  33,905,945.19
and medium-duty trucks

Total i 7,701,034,900.00  1,983,660,725.58  561,610,313.02 96,043,000.14

Interim Report 2022 A HAZRE

RS i 25 Bt 5 (48
2022F 1 51HZ26H30H 1F 5

o~ O B R 3

(%)
18. KEITR(HE)
ERERTREHMT :

Of which:
capitalised ~ Capitalisation
Actual  Accumulated amount of rate of
costsasa amount of interest interest
Closing percentage capitalised during the during the
balance of budget (%) interest period period (%)
IRRAMG  HERAL HhAEAE AEHE
BR0E RELA(%) Rite®  EALER  ABLEMW)

942,400,096.64 DA)
438,492,421.07

336,890,229.49
235,584,479.52

71,648,951.92

153,687,680.13

134,519,567.24 2,091,246.29

68,396,200.61

67,608,405.84

2,449,228,038.46 2,091,246.29

H ik

RMB
ARBTT

Source of funding

Internal fund
BE
Internal fund
L
Internal fund
BE

Internal fund
BE

Internal fund
HE
Internal fund

EL

Loans from
financial
institution/
internal fund

Internal fund
nE
Internal fund
BE

177
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

1 January to 30 June 2022

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial

HRB D RHBRAF

RS i 25 BT 5 (48
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G OF B AR T IH H AR R

Statements (Continued) (%)
19. Right-of-use assets 19. EFEEE
RMB
AR T
Forklifttrucks ~ Forklift trucks
and equipment  and equipment
aftersaleand  after sale and
leaseback leaseback
Housesand ~ Machinery and sub-leases sub-leases
buildings equipment Viehicles (long-term) (short-term) Others
il E4HED
EEENXE  EEANEL
FECIN DI E
Item 8 BEEREEN (k&) (5%)
I Gross carrying amount - FERE
1.31 December 2021 (restated) —~ 1.20218128318
(BER) 5.597,101,094.71 39,052,450.48 13,027,636.30  1,081,69,480.89  1,859,005,871.85  1,778,343,003.50 10,368,226,537.73
2.Increase during the period LEHENEE T14,175,391.53 - 3,100,826.29 - - 160,607,860.20  877,884,078.02
3 Decrease during the period 3EERNEE 398,363,906.% - 34535007 39679198783 43459287833 20981359550  1,439,907,727.69
4 Adjustment for exchange LEHEDRRE
differences (71,858,255.16) (819,346.91) (266970.77)  (7,17484348)  (50,80829351)  (112,122,112.71)  (263,049,822.54)
5.30 June 2022 ERIONES NI 5,841,054,324.12 38,233,103.57 15,516,132.75  657,729,649.58  1,373,604,700.01  1,617,015,155.49  9,543,153,065.52
I Accumulated depreciation =~ E:fIfE
1.31 December 2021 (restated) ~ 1.2021%12A4318
(BER) 2,598,127,261.54 24,469,328.27 9,280,261.26  210,798,883.52 76931437352  982,309,41.59  4,594,299,349.70
2.Increase during the period LAEENSE 308,480,483.34 1,898,675.68 150208648  182325356.83  257,118,57058 18914422854  940,469,401.45
3. Decrease during the period IEROEE 57,922,337.57 - 10835570 338,049,4%.42 37162860144 19035241890  958,061,210.03
4 Adjustment for exchange LERERRE
differences (29,990,924.55) (442,026.70) (21826531)  (426503536)  (26,20594867)  (50,867,913.60)  (111,990,114.19)
5.30 June 2022 EVIYEAY:ENIZI 2,818,694,482.76 25,925,971.25 10,455,726.73 5080970857  628,598,393.99 93023313763  4,464,717,426.93
Il Provision forimpairment = &%
1.31 December 2021 (restated) ~~ 1.2021128318
(BER) 10,107,579.99 1,776,046.21 11,883,626.20
2 Increase during the period LREENEE 4,658.995.32 427664017 893563549
3.Decrease during theperiod 3 KEHSSE = . .
4. Adjustment for exchange JEREERR
differences (343,288.12) (95,546.37) (438,834.49)
5.30 June 2022 5200063308 14,423,281.19 5,957,140.01 20,380,427.20
. Canying amount M- EEEE
1.30 June 2022 1200%6A308  RYAEENY 12,307,126.32 506040602 60691994101  745006306.02  680,824,877.85  5,058,055,211.39
2.31 December 2021 (restated) ~ 2.2021%12A318
(BER) 2,988,866,253.18 14)583,122.21 3741371504 870,897,597.37  1,089,69149833  794.257,715.70  5,762,043,561.83

REART A E BB /) L SR 1B 1 2 B
FAE®MAAR200,223,446.53
T REEEEHEERARARKE
34,767,167.207TC °

During the period, short-term leasing fees through profit or loss
under the simplified approach amounted to RMB200,223,446.53

while low value asset leasing fee amounted to RMB34,767,167.20.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial
Statements (Continued)

20. Intangible assets

Item iR

Land use

rights
1HERE

Trademark
Patents

LEE

rights
BERRR

License

itk

20. B EE

Orders on Customer
Software hand

{0 kIR

Relationship
EFBE

RMB
AR

Others
i

I Original asset value - EABE
1.31 December 2021 120015128318
(restated) (BEid) 3288,930,625.03  2,378,26547333  7,689,132784.29  1209577,946.56 67419390364 30426441356 10,11825220387  8,035487,615.91 33,698,104,966.19
2Increase during the period 2 A 148 1,412,793.05 10,210,765.62 - 87,717,036.70 30,976,880.17 - - 41345907654 543776,552.08
(1) Addition (EE - 14,174.20 - 24,896,982.30 64,176,093.35 - - 39199225064 481,079,500.49
(2)Transfer from internal () hAREEA
R&D 10,196,591.42 25,031,637.20 35,228 228,62
(3) Transfer from ()ERIREA
construction in
progress 26,056,029.92 26,056,029.92
() Transfer from (4 EREREE
investrment properties B\ 1,412,793.05 - - - 1,412,793.05
(5) Redlassification BEBE] 62,820,054.40 (59,255,243.10) (3,564,811.30) -
3 Decessedurng heperiod 3 5ERH4E 210833649 163688311 961010746 1335532706
(1) Disposals or retirements (1) REHHE 2,108,336.49 1,554,618.96 9,610,107.46 13.273,062.91
(1) Decreaseindisposalof ~ (2) REFATEY
subsidiaries 82,264.15 82,264.15
4 Adjstment forexchange 4. B3 B 5%
(ifferences - (18950,438.09)  (198,252,030.03) (9,446,232.09) (4,566,156.86) (8,904,950.42) 57,011,045.36 94,391,601.94 (88,717,160.19)
5.30 June 2022 520567308 329034341808  2,369,52580086  7,490,880754.26 128574041468  698,967,74384  295359463.14 10,175,263249.23  8533,728,186.93  34,139,809,031.02
I Accumulated amortisation  — ~ Z5t 4
1,31 December 2021 1201ENANE
(restated) (BEj) 499,172,929.81 982,404,066.02 3022286129 84384168310 337,469,658.71 19287320986  4,686,123,820.17  2,730,728,54092  10,306,836,769.88
2Increase during the period 2 ZEEMMEE 35,819,890.72 98,090,404.22 1,052,940.16 82,587,811.80 37,224,349.04 710405816 37061408322 409,229,660.20  1,041,723,197.52
(1) Provision (132 35,483,884.56 98,090,404.22 1,052,940.16 82,587,811.80 37,224,349.04 710405816 37061408322  409,229,660.20  1,041,387,191.36
(2)Transfer from () ERERENE
investment properties &\ 336,006.16 - - = 336,006.16
3 Decrease during the period 3 A 048 1431,627.00 132529187 9,546,323.69 12,303,242.56
(1) Disposals or retirements (1) RE S HE 1,431,627.00 1,283,519.96 9,546,323.69 12,261,47065
(2)Decreaseindisposalof ~ (2) BEFATES
subsidiaries 1,119 M,171.91
4 Mdjstment forexchange 4. B3 £EEE
differences - (13,193,293.07) 795,530.88 (5,126,718.76) (436,432.28) (572373633 (17,373,40651) 4146352113 405,465.06
5.30 June 2022 5.2022%6308 534,992,82053  1,067,301,177.17 3607133233 919871,149.14 37293228360 19425353169 503936449688  3,171,87539856 11,336,662,189.90
Il Provision for impaiment =+ E%R
1.31 December 2021 120015128318
(restated) (B&j) 16,069,639.97 30,322,740.00 6,699,881.60 8,057,185.20 1796261360 50547434330 11851859520 703,104,998.87
2 ncease during the period 2 RIS = = - - - - 665,570.31 665,570.31
(1) Provision ()it = = = = = - 665,570.31 665,57031
3 Adustment forexchange 3. EREEEE
differences - (887,460.00) (19,086.40) (235,810.80) (52571440 (14,793,790.42) (3.203,263.12)  (19,932,125.14)
4,30 June 2022 4.2022%6A308 16,069,639.97 29,435,280.00 6,503,795.20 7.821,374.40 1743689920 490,680,552.88  115890,90239  683,838,444.04
V. Netamyngamont 1+ BEERE
1.30 June 2022 1.20256A308 2,739,280,957.58  1302,224623.69 742537414193 359,365470.34  318,214,085.84 83,669,032.25 464521819947  5245961,885.98  22,119,308,397.08
2.31 Decernber 2021 2.201£128318
(restated) (BEi) 2773,688,055.25  1395,861,407.31 762458718300  359,036,381.86  328,667,059.73 9342859010 4926,654,040.40  5,186,240,479.79  22,688,163,197.44
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial # ~& ff B % #t 3 = B 6 H 5 &
Statements (Continued) (?&E )
20. Intangible assets (Continued) 0. BXEE (&)

During the end of the period, the proportion of intangible assets
from internal R&D to the remaining amount of intangible assets
was 23.25%.

As at 30 June 2022, the Group had no intangible assets with title
restrictions (31 December 2021: Nil).

As at 30 June 2022, land use rights for which title certificate has

not been obtained are as follows:

Item HH

75 HARR ORI 9 AR AT B R B
WEEREWLEESRBNLI A
23.25% °

R2022%6 308 © AEEEFRAHRE
ZRHAEREE(2021F12A31
B:&)-

M2022466 9300  AMZERZES
M FERREERIT ¢

RMB
ARET

Reasons for the absence

Carrying amount of title certificate

REEE ARIEESENRR

Land use rights I Hb (5 A4

27,606,938.40 In progress of applying

for the title certificate

1M 8 TR IR AR

Other than the finite useful life of some of the trademarks held
by the subsidiaries of the Company, trademarks of the Group
are renewable every 10 years at minimal cost. The management
of the Group are of the opinion that the Group has both the
intention and ability to renew the trademarks continuously. As
a result, the useful life of the trademarks is considered by the
management of the Group as indefinite because the trademarks are
expected to contribute to the Group’s net cash inflows indefinitely.
The trademarks will not be amortised unless their useful life is
determined to be finite. Instead the trademarks will be tested for
impairment annually and whenever there is an indication that they

may be impaired.

AR AEBEMEHES T+
ARRERAERE R - AREE

BERS AEBABRBRENTE
EREZERHE - B RERHERA K
ABTEBELERSRAZFER &
o AEEEEBRAZEARER
BT - RIFRSHENAER
FREAERER H TR TSHETH
oAk ARESEEFREERD
FRETFERERETREN -

BART LTRGBS HEE
M=



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

1 January to 30 June 2022

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial
Statements (Continued)

21. Expenditure on development

Capitalised expenditure on development of the Group is presented

22.

as follows:

Item

31 December
2021

20215
12A318

Interim Report 2022 A HAZRE

PO 5 i 3 B R (4)
2022F 1 51HZ26H30H 1F 5

G ORI B AR R IEH H R R

(%)
21. AR X H
KEFBERCHFEZEIHMT
RMB
AR%T

Increase

during

the period
AR

Expenditure

Diesel engine efficiency

optimisation project
Hydraulics project
Others

180,111,938.23
14,836,483.50
17,511,492.60

Total

212,459,914.33

Goodwill

(1)  Gross carrying amount of goodwvill

on internal

R&D
A

BB

101,048,066.50

Decrease
during
the period
)

Recognition
as intangible
assets

BYEE

30 June

2022
20225
6A30H

281,160,004.73

24,597,525.70 25,031,637.20 14,402,372.00
- 10,196,591.42 7,314,901.18
125,645,592.20 35,228,228.62 302,877,277.91
22. BB
(1) HEFERE
RMB
AR% T

31 December 2021

[tem HH 2021124318

(Restated)

(BE#)

Merger with TAGC AORAE 531,226,252.68
Merger with Linde Hydraulics AHMERBABLE

GmbH & Co. KG 765,749,506.05

Merger with KION ABFKION 6,130,545,542.23

Merger with Dematic Group A HtDematic Group 14,644,208,449.60

Merger with Tsintel Technology ABEERE 303,417,137.96

Others Hith 739,873,967.93

Az

Total

=)

23,115,020,856.45

Adjustment
for exchange
differences

EXEZEAR

(22,411,301.11)
(179,423,559.58)
424,075,819.20

(150,940.95)

222,090,017.56

30 June 2022
2022%6H30H

531,226,252.68

743,338,204.94
5,951,121,982.65
15,068,284,268.80
303,417,137.96
739,723,026.98

23,337,110,874.01
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial

Statements (Continued)
22. Goodwill (Continued)

(2)  Provision for impairment of goodwill

RS i 25 BT 5 (48
2022F 18 1HZ26H30H 1F 5

(%)

o OF B Rk I H kR

22. BHE(E)

(2)

Increase during

31 December 2021 the period

ltem L 2021512318 AR M
Merger with TAGC AFANE 238,071,400.00 -
Merger with Etian Technology CUibLi R - 29,909,118.66

Balance as at 30 June 2022 mainly represented goodwill

arising from merger with TAGC, Linde Hydraulics GmbH
& Co. KG, KION, Dematic Group and Tsintel Technology.

Goodwill arising from merger would be allocated to asset

group units to test for impairment on an annual basis.

Carrying amount of material goodwill and trademarks is

allocated to the following asset group units as follows:

asset group unit A: major automobile components

other than automotive and engines

asset group unit B: manufacture of hydraulic pumps,

hydraulic motors, hydraulic valves, gears and other

components

asset group unit C: forklift trucks production,

warehousing technology, intelligent supply chains and

automation solutions

asset group unit D: intelligent supply chains and

automation solutions

asset group unit E: driving assistance system and

automatic driving solutions

B R A

RMB
ARET

Decrease during

30 June 2022
2022%6A30H

the period
REED

238,071,400.00
29,909,118.66

2022F 6 A0 EHBEE
REFMNIE MEREESE
2% - KION * Dematic Group
MEBEREMEEANEE - K
SEEFEHEZECESH
HEANEEAHBASETEER
BRI o

EZRENEEERENIEEE
ERAEHNERIDT

o EEMMAAA: RERE
PRI TR BT M

e EBEMMEEB: EERE
R -BREFE REH
F - W R ET TR

e EBEMHMAAC: XHEHE
E - RERMEEEMHfE
BB BCRRRTT R

o HEEMMASED: Bt
B BB AR R

&t

o ZEEMMALE: BEREE
ARGk EBREBRT R



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

1 January to 30 June 2022

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial
Statements (Continued)

22. Goodwill (Continued)

(2)  Provision for impairment of goodwill (Continued)

The carrying amount of material goodwill is allocated to the

asset group units as follows:

Interim Report 2022 A HAZRE

S5 R M (A

2022F 1 51HZ26H30H 1F 5

o OF B Rk I H kR

(%)
22. HE(E)

2) BEREEEE)
EEHBNEASEARES
EREANERNT :

RMB
ARBTT

Carrying amount of goodwiill
BMENRESH

30 June 2022

2022%6H30H

31 December 2021
2021412 831H

293,154,852.68
743,338,204.94
5,951,121,982.65
15,068,284,268.80
303,417,137.96

Asset group units BEMAAS
Asset group unit A BEMABEA
Asset group unit B BEMEAEB
Asset group unit C BEMABEAC
Asset group unit D BEMAMAAED
Asset group unit E BEMABAE
Total A&t

293,154,852.68
765,749,506.05
6,130,545,542.23
14,644,208,449.60
303,417,137.96

22,359,316,447.03

23. Long-term prepaid expenses

31 December

22,137,075,488.52

23. RHISHER

Increase Amortisation

during the during the
period period

FHEM BN

2021

20214

Item A 12A31H

Industrial mould fee THEELE 162,383,757.02

Industrial equipment fee Th#EEE 53,051,810.00
Expenditure on improvement of HABEEERR L

fixed assets leased in 78,685,887.11

Establishment costs FiE -

12,193,569.81
17,121,448.94

(ERIARPAR:E]
20,148,263.06

19,252,836.24
8,687,365.95

13,731,478.25
482,631.44

Total

£t

294,121,454.13

57,255,220.94

48,133,494.58

RMB
ARET

30 June

2022
20224
6A30H

160,806,205.00
50,024,995.88
84,207,245.10

8,204,734.51

303,243,180.49
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial
Statements (Continued)
24. Other non-current assets

25.

Item

b

Scheme assets under defined

RER@TEZ

E

benefit plan HEEE
Fited deposits pledged ERERER
Prepayment for construction BRIERENL 0T
equipment and land
Input tax credit to be deducted FENEEHS
Others Eit
Total fit

Short-term loans

ltem

30 June 2022
2022567308
Provision for

Gross carrying

amount

RAHE

impairment

AEER

640,098,197.20
540,000,000.00

97,855,589.71
59,038,761.60
83,388,564.86

1,420,381,113.37

EH

S5 e R WA R (A

2022F 18 1HZ26H30H 1F 5

o OF B Rk I H kR

(%)

24. EMERBEE

RMB
AR

31 December 2021 (Restated)

221512A31B(B &)
Carrying (ross carrying Provision for Carrying
amount amount impairment amount
FEEE BRBE HEER BHEE
640,098,197.20 575,114,082.30 - 57511408230
540,000,000.00 - - -
97,855,589.71 112,626,142.98 - 112,626,142.98
59,038,761.60 57,938,092.50 - 57,938,092.50
83,388,564.86 79,862,323.35 - 79,862,323.35

(VARCIRRERTAS  825,540,641.13

- 825540641.13

25. EHIER

30 June 2022
202246 H30H

Pledged borrowings (Notes 1, 2)

Secured borrowings (Note 3)

Credit loans

ERER (R~ 2)
EIRER(FE3)

= AER

60,000,000.00
38,000,000.00
3,512,410,896.08

Total

At

3,610,410,896.08

As at 30 June 2022, the above borrowings and loans carried
interest at rates ranging 1.20%~13.35% (31 December 2021:
0.52%~6.50%) per annum.

RMB
ARET

31 December 2021
2021412 HA31H
(Restated)
(BE)

60,000,000.00
30,000,000.00
2,329,549,798.43

2,419,549,798.43

R202296 8308 » -l {&EH F R
R 51.20%~13.35% (2021412 A
31H : 0.52%~6.50%) °



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial
Statements (Continued)
25. Short-term loans (Continued)

Note 1:

Note 2:

Note 3:

As at 30 June 2022, among the short-term loans, RMB40,000,000.00
(31 December 2021: RMB40,000,000.00) represented the pledged
borrowings provided by Shandong Heavy Industry Group Finance Co.,
Ltd. to Shaanxi Jinding Casting Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of the Company,
secured by the accounts receivable of Shaanxi Jinding Casting Co., Ltd.,
pursuant to the borrowing agreement.

As at 30 June 2022, among the short-term loans, RMB20,000,000.00
(31 December 2021: RMB20,000,000.00) represented the pledged
borrowings obtained by Shaanxi Jinding Casting Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of
the Company, from Baoji Branch, Bank of China limited, secured by the
accounts receivable of Shaanxi Jinding Casting Co., Ltd., pursuant to the
borrowing agreement.

As at 30 June 2022, among the short-term loans, RMB38,000,000.00
(31 December 2021: RMB30,000,000.00) represented the borrowings
obtained by Shaanxi Jinding Casting Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of the
Company, from Qishan Rural Commercial Bank, secured by the fixed
assets of Shaanxi Jinding Casting Co., Ltd., pursuant to the borrowing
agreement. As at 30 June 2022, the carrying amount of the said fixed
assets amounted to RMB56,091,550.55.

26. Financial liabilities held for trading
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RS i 25 Bt 5 (48
2022F 1 /1HZ6H30H 1L EE

o OF B Rk I H kR

(%)

25. =5
51 :
32
3

EENE D
M202296A30H  BHEZRFARE
40,000,000.007% (20214128318 :
40,000,000.007T) * ALEETEEH
BERARARAARZFARRAS S
FEARARIRENERER - EXB
HATF P S REIEER A AR ER
IR EBE R -

202266 H30R - BEERFAR
#20,000,000.00 (2021412A31H :
20,000,000.007T) - A EIRITRNA
RARIEHDITARNARZF AR
SREEARARIRENERER -
RIRBELNTEUARAS REEFRAFN
FEMBRFRIERE R

720224664308 @ BHERPARE
38,000,000.007T (20214124318 -
30,000,000.0070) - Al ENEER
TRMBRARMARRZFARPKE
S RFBEFRAFANRENOMER - EXH
FHAOTELBRTE S SEEARARNEE
BEVEREE - 202246 H30HZEE
& ERBRTEE(E 556,091,550.557T ©

26 XREZMERBE

30 June 2022
202266 H30H

ltem HH
Forward foreign exchange contracts EHIMES K

Cross currency swap and interest rate

IXEBEEHENETA

swap instruments

194,237,806.00

5,200,316.91

Total

199,438,122.91

RMB

AR

31 December 2021
2021912 A31H

110,158,182.60

1,718,288.60

111,876,471.20
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

1 January to 30 June 2022

HRB D RHBRAF

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial

Statements (Continued)
27.

28.

Notes payable

S5 e R WA R (A

2022F 18 1HZ26H30H 1F 5

o OF B Rk I H kR

(%)
27. EHEE

30 June 2022
202266 H30H

3,190,649,969.46
25,009,494,499.20

ltem HAE
Commercial acceptance bills EEARIESE
Bank acceptance bills HRITHEH ER
Total a5t

28,200,144,468.66

As at 30 June 2022, the Group had no outstanding notes payable

which were due (31 December 2021: Nil).

Accounts payable

RMB

ARET

31 December 2021
20214 12A31H
(Restated)
(BE&E)

3,473,491,340.42
30,187,620,343.17

33,661,111,683.59

MN20229 68308 - AEBEER|H K
N ENZERE (2021128318 ¢

&) -

28. EFERRX

30 June 2022
2022%6H30H

35,138,728,064.09
7,621,791,351.69
1,838,795,560.94
1,370,018,000.44

Item EH

Within 3 months 3@ A AR

3 to 6 months 3fB A E6MEA
6 to 12 months 618 A= 1218 A
Over 12 months 1218 A LA E
Total A

45,969,332,977.16

Accounts payable are non-interest bearing, and are generally settled

within three to six months.

As at 30 June 2022, there was no payable which was material and

aged over one year (31 December 2021: Nil).

FE 1 BRSRAEH B

HREME -

RMB
ARET

31 December 2021
202112 A31H
(Restated)
(BEq)

32,323,000,707.61
5,065,513,461.23
5,203,277,708.95
982,340,673.66

43,574,132,551.45

IR EEIEGE

M2022466 308 » EERH —F I L
MEZERENRIE(2021F12 A31

A&
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) FRHS ik R M 5 (48
1 January to 30 June 2022 2022F 1 A1HZE6H30H 1R

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial # ~& ff B % it 3% £ 2 H H 518

Statements (Continued) (%)
29. Contract liabilities 29. 6E&AE
RMB
AR BT
30 June 2022 31 December 2021
[tem EH 2022%6H30H 2021912 A31H
(Restated)
(B&E)
Supply chain solutions services (Note) HpEEE R ERE () 4,661,581,192.80 4,873,073,689.30
Sales and other services SHE M E MRS 9,250,796,745.59 11,339,722,577.53
Total A&t 13,912,377,938.39 16,212,796,266.83

Note: The contract liabilities associated with the supply chain solutions services i BEEEARRTRREEENERAE
are the balances payable to the customer under the performing contract. REBTHERTENEPHGE - B4
The balance is generated when a specific milestone payment exceeds the TEH) BIRIE A FR BRI A B R
revenue recognised as a result of the input method. WABS - IGEAEZERTE ©
30. Payroll payable 30. FEASER I HrEM
RMB
AR T
Increase during Decrease during
31 December 2021 the period the period 30 June 2022
Item HA 20215124318 RELEm XERS  2022%6A308
(Restated)
(BEi)
Short-term remuneration BEEM PAEERCEREL VI 12,295,155,936.85  12,751,100,528.85 4,679,948,566.29
Post-employment benefits BREEN(RTRE
(defined contribution plan) HE) 409,697,754.82 1,770,757,141.28 1,785,514,487.85 394,940,408.25
Severance benefits due within —EREHANERERN
one year (Note V.39) (PsER ~ 39) 257,757,002.58 112,670,286.06 123,724,529.42 246,702,759.22
Cash-settled share-based payment ~ —FRZIHEAHES
due within 1 year (Note V.39) BEROROIA
(FisE® - 39) 227,702,118.30 36,619,045.70 236,028,253.20 28,292,910.80
Other long-term payroll due — R R H
within 1 year (Note V.39) ROBTEMH
(fisEa - 39) 85,812,836.62 271,917,534.73 274,323,209.81 83,407,161.54

Total Al 6,116,862,870.61 |[MERYRNERTZNY N PR VINTIRIERE 5:433,291,806.10
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B ORI B AR 1 IEH H AR R

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial

Statements (Continued) (%)
30. Payroll payable (Continued) 30. BB THEN (48)
Short-term remuneration is presented as follows: EHHMaT

RMB
ARBTT

31 December 2021

ltem ER 2021%12A318
(Restated)
(BEit)

Salaries, bonuses, allowances and T4 %% 2B
subsidies ek 3,770,645,186.10
Staff welfare BTRANE 122,332,385.32
Social security teRBE 102,845,092.35
Incl: Medical insurance Ha BERRBRE 74,789,268.28
Work injury insurance IERRE 15,376,555.18
Supplementary medical insurance BREERR 12,679,268.89
Housing funds TELES 27,087,311.88

Labor union operating funds and TEEEMRT

employee education costs HELE 867,740,480.69
Other short-term remuneration Hip R HEH 245,242,701.95

Total

5,135,893,158.29

Increase during

the period
AH

10,796,260,265.65
160,521,393.03
801,102,899.08
727,011,259.93
51,552,066.30
22,539,572.85
243,961,581.55

92,740,992.12
200,568,805.42

12,295,155,936.85

Decrease during
the period
HFED

11,273,147,477.73
134,044,298.09
794,311,953.22
717,828,397.07
48,890,214.68
27,593,341.47
249,395,759.91

67,171,820.70
233,029,219.20

12,751,100,528.85

30 June 2022
2022%6H30H

3,293,757,974.02
148,809,480.26
109,636,038.21
83,972,131.14
18,038,406.80
7,625,500.27
21,653,133.52

893,309,652.11
212,782,288.17

4,679,948,566.29




Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial
Statements (Continued)
30. Payroll payable (Continued)

Post-employment benefits (defined contribution plan) is presented as

31.

follows:
31 December 2021
[tem EE 2021%12A31H
(Restated)
(BEit)
Basic pension insurance EABERR 321,744,449.11
Unemployment insurance KERRE 15,493,263.73
Contribution to pension fund rEFLHE 72,460,041.98
Total Bt 409,697,754.82

Taxes payable
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PO 5 i 3 B R (4)
2022F 1 51HZ26H30H 1F 5

B é;ﬁﬁﬁa‘%%&%iglﬁﬁﬁﬁ
(%)
30. BB THEN (&)
BREEN(REREHEMT -

RMB
ARBTT

Increase during Decrease during

the period the period 30 June 2022
AH KHES  202256A30R

1,314,599,336.57 1,302,421,268.83 333,922,516.85
106,742,823.20 107,241,356.10 14,994,730.83
349,414,981.51 375,851,862.92 46,023,160.57

1,770,757,141.28 1,785,514,487.85 394,940,408.25

31. EXHE

RMB
ARBTT

30 June 2022 31 December 2021

ltem HE 2022%6H30H 2021912 A31H

(Restated)

(B&Eum)
Corporate income tax EFREH 384,671,281.76 533,260,800.15
Value-added tax #ER 605,195,424.00 605,585,748.74
Individual income tax [EPNZIESE) 225,696,709.83 330,076,646.75
Property tax BEM 26,191,427.22 27,715,833.21
Land use tax e A 16,160,624.10 13,860,571.01
Educational surtax HEBWM 2,289,089.93 2,952,902.15
Stamp duty ENFERE 9,529,152.89 15,389,398.98
City maintenance and construction tax 35 T # E 2 R % 3,159,421.83 4,047,425.17
Other taxes H i FiE 89,998,636.53 76,792,803.60
Total A&t 1,362,891,768.09 1,609,682,129.76
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) FPHS ik R M 5 (48
1 January to 30 June 2022 2022F 1 A1HZ6H30H 1R

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial #. ~# 0f i % 3% £ 2 IH H 5i B

Statements (Continued) (%)
32. Other payables 32. HttEA R
RMB
AR T
30 June 2022 31 December 2021
[tem 5 E 20226 H30H 202112 A31H
(Restated)
(B&E)
Interest payable FEH R B 73,491,293.24 51,535,812.78
Dividend payable JE A5 AR ) 1,730,318,741.11 310,986,116.23
Other payables o th FE AT 3R 7,740,567,275.41 7,895,941,153.53
Total Ast 9,544,377,309.76 8,258,463,082.54
Interest payable JE 1 F1) .2
RMB
AR®T
30 June 2022 31 December 2021
Item = 20226 6H30H 2021412 A31H
Interest on medium term notes hHEIZER B 44,771,248.90 38,906,700.02
Interest on borrowings BT A 28,720,044.34 12,629,112.76
Total &5t 73,491,293.24 51,535,812.78
Dividend payable JEE 1<F IR
RMB
AR®KT
30 June 2022 31 December 2021
[tem HH 2022%6H30H 202112 A31H
(Restated)
(B&Eit)
Dividend payable on ordinary shares JIE 5 3 378 A% A ) 1,671,430,366.29 256,107,208.03
Interest payable on perpetual bonds B KEEZE(FE)
(Note 1) 58,888,374.82 54,878,908.20
Total aaEr 1,730,318,741.11 310,986,116.23




Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial
Statements (Continued)
32. Other payables (Continued)
Other payables
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RS i 25 Bt 5 (48
2022F 1 51HZ26H30H 1F 5

* é;ﬁﬁﬁﬁ'%#ﬁ%%igiﬁﬁﬁiﬂ
(%)
32. HAEA R (&)

H Al & A 3K

RMB
ARBTT

30 June 2022 31 December 2021

Nature a1 2022%6H30H 2021412 A31H
(Restated)
(B&Eq)
Guarantees and deposits RES MES 2,117,104,505.62 1,849,116,429.68

Payables for purchase of construction ENTIREALETCEERER

and fixed assets
After-sale expenses and repair and —BREBEEES

maintenance expenses

735,320,605.99 646,979,843.71

324,532,295.15 954,961,935.03
626,947,856.08 472,817,717.95
98,761,327.46 115,997,147.46
338,103,285.79 285,009,862.80
3,499,797,399.32 3,571,058,216.90

Sales discount HETE
Transportation expenses EE
Technology development expenses FirmEs
Others Eh

Total a5t

7,740,567,275.41 7,895,941,153.53

Note 1: As at 30 June 2022, pursuant to the relevant agreement, Weichai
International Hong Kong Energy Group Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of the
Company, had perpetual bonds with a coupon interest in the amount
of RMB58,888,374.82. The distribution of such interest will be made to
holders of perpetual bonds on 14 September 2022.

As at 30 June 2022, there were no other payables in significant

amount aging over one year (31 December 2021: Nil).

H1: ARRAZTRABBEBRE(EE)
BEREEABRARIKBHEBRELD
E o B 120226 A30H © B
REMAINNKBEEESARYE
58,888,374.827L ' % Z B #5112022
FORA4RMKEBEBERBEERE

MN2022%F6 308 © EEH —F U
FHEZNEMEMNFK(2021F12A4
318 : &) -
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial

Statements (Continued)

33. Non-current liabilities due within one year

Item

RS i 25 BT 5 (48
2022F 18 1HZ26H30H 1F 5

ﬂvi?%%ﬁ%igﬁﬁﬁ%
(%)
33. ~FRIHMHERBEAE

BH

Long-term payables due
within one year
Long-term borrowings due
within one year
Lease liabilities due within one year
Bonds payable due within one year
Other non-current liabilities due
within one year

—EFRNBEE K ER AT
—FRIMORIMER
—FRIHMOBEERE

—EFRBHEMES
—FRIHNREMIERSDEE

Total

At

Long-term borrowings due
within one year include:
Pledged loans
(Note V.35: Note 7)
Guaranteed loans
(Note V.35: Notes 3 and 4)
Credit loans
Other loans (Note V.35: Note 9)

Heh B EIM R -

GRER (MR ~ 35 7£7)
REBEEH (MR - 35

3 4)
EABR

HAMER(MER ~ 35 ¢ 529)

34. Other current liabilities

ltem 1HE

Product quality assurance deposit mEERES
Loans from leasing institutions THEMRE(E K
Short-term commercial paper EHRE S
Others HAh

Total a5t

30 June 2022
202296 H30H

3,426,214,615.85

672,704,048.41
1,361,592,312.06

2,435,483,887.24

7,895,994,863.56

672,704,048.41

75,000,000.00

138,071,496.01

455,632,552.40
4,000,000.00

34, HiRBHEE

30 June 2022
2022%6H30H

2,705,508,512.24

956,436,348.00

3,576,442,587.20

960,075,932.15

8,198,463,379.59

RMB

ARE T

31 December 2021
2021912 A31H
(Restated)
(BEq)

3,318,647,552.69
826,390,206.15
1,682,905,516.68

667,822,250.00

4,266,257,904.30

10,762,023,429.82

826,390,206.15

503,849,225.10
318,540,981.05
4,000,000.00

RMB

AR T

31 December 2021
202112 A31H
(Restated)
(BEqt)

3,125,366,308.17
2,018,324,892.60

1,092,599,713.60

6,236,290,914.37
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V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial

Statements (Continued)
35. Long-term borrowings
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30 June 2022
2022%6H30H

9,340,815,694.69
4,734,048,119.80
510,000,000.00
139,000,000.00

Item EH

Guaranteed loans (Notes 1~6) RBEMER(GE1~6)
Credit loans ERER

Pledged loans (Note 8) BHRER(FE8)
Other loans (Note 9) H ()
Total A%

14,723,863,814.49

Long-term borrowings are classified according to maturity dates as

RMB
ARBT

31 December 2021
2021%12A831H

9,660,726,816.95
2,991,940,454.98
115,000,000.00
139,000,000.00

12,906,667,271.93

EHERRIBEE DT

30 June 2022
20226 H30H

follows:

Maturity FHR

Due within 1 year 14 A EI A
Due within 1 to 2 years 12126 A 2 HY
Due within 2 to 5 years 25|55 A E| HY
Due over 5 years S5FA
Sub-total NET

672,704,048.41
2,430,519,983.21
12,038,294,772.48
255,049,058.80
15,396,567,862.90

Less: Long-term borrowings classified

as due within one year

B A EA—FAEHN

RHIER

672,704,048.41

Total

14,723,863,814.49

As at 30 June 2022, the above loans carried interest at rates ranging
0.75%~12.62% (31 December 2021: 0.75%~12.62%) per annum.

RMB
ARBTT

31 December 2021
2021412 A31H

826,390,206.15
2,347,936,479.20
9,937,651,376.03
621,079,416.70
13,733,057,478.08

826,390,206.15

12,906,667,271.93

M2022%6 A30H - FatEREEF
& 50.75%~12.62% (2021412 A
318 : 0.75%~12.62%) °
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial
Statements (Continued)
35. Long-term borrowings (Continued)

Note 1:

Note 2:

Note 3:

Note 4:

As at 30 June 2022, an amount of EUR353,000,000.00 equivalent to
RMB2,473,965,200.00 under long term borrowings (31 December
2021: RMB2,548,554,100.00) was loan(s) provided to Weichai Power
(Hong Kong) International Development Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of the
Company, from China Development Bank, for which the Company
provided guarantee for joint liabilities. This long-term borrowings will
mature on 15 October 2024.

As at 30 June 2022, an amount of EUR129,000,000.00, equivalent
to RMB904,083,600.00 under long term borrowings (31 December
2021: RMB931,341,300.00) was loan(s) provided to Weichai Power
(Hong Kong) International Development Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of
the Company, from Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited, for which
the Company provided guarantee for joint liabilities. This long-term
borrowings will mature in stages by 28 October 2024. Among others,
no amount will mature within one year.

As at 30 June 2022, an amount of USD39,271,086.22 equivalent
to RMB263,563,968.08 under long term borrowings (31 December
2021: RMB250,387,160.78) was loan(s) provided to Weichai Power
(Hong Kong) International Development Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of the
Company, from Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited,
for which the Company provided guarantee for joint liabilities. The long-
term loan will mature in stages by 7 November 2024. Among others,
an amount of USD4,908,885.78 equivalent to RMB32,945,496.01 (31
December 2021: RMB31,298,395.10) will mature within one year.

As at 30 June 2022, an amount of EUR15,000,000.00 equivalent
to RMB105,126,000.00 under long term borrowings (31 December
2021: RMB162,443,250.00) was loan(s) provided to Weichai Power
(Hong Kong) International Development Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of
the Company, from The Export-import Bank of China, for which the
Company provided guarantee for joint liabilities. This long-term loan will
mature on 21 June 2023.

PO 5 i 3 M R (4)
2022F 1 H1HZ6H30H 1L EiE

G OF B AR T IH H AR R

(%)

35. RMER(R)

ool

F2

GER

w4

B2022%56A308 - EHERPK
JC 353,000,000.00 * #1 & A B #
2,473,965,200.007L (2021412 A31
A : AR%2,548,554,100.007T) &
B RFERTRAARDRZ TR AL
FH(EBEBEERABRQAEERN
BN AARIHEHESEETREE
R ZERBERKN2024F 108
158 E| 8 -

M2022%F6A308 © REIE R
7L 129,000,000.00 * #r & A R #&
904,083,600.00 7T (20214 12 A 31
B AR%931,341,300.007T) &%
BERT(BEB)BERARMARRZ T
RAHEGH (BB BERERARR
R ER AR AR EESE
FRFER - ZERPEFRBER2024
F10A28BAI D AR - EpE—F
RNEIEEEE -

#2022 6 A308  KEERF
% JC39,271,086.22 * A AR
263,563,968.08 7T (20214 12 A 31
A AR®250,387,160.787C) &F
B ImEmET (RN BRARRARD
RIZFRARIMEBN(EE) BEE
BAMRARRENER - BARAE
HELSETRELR RERBER
BR2024FE 11 A7B A HAEIHY -
H A T4,908,885.78 ' TA AR
#32,945,496.017C (2021412 A31
B : AR%31,298,395.10) B —4
RIEH -

M2022F6 A308 » EEEZRF
B 7T 15,000,000.00 © #fr& AR
105,126,000.00 7T (20214 12 A 31
A AR#162,443,250.007T) AF
Bl O RITRIAR QR ZF R e s
}H(EB)EABRERBERAAREED
BN HARRRHETECRITE
R ZERBBREN2023F6A21
BE|H -



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial
Statements (Continued)
35. Long-term borrowings (Continued)

Note 5:

Note 6:

Note 7:

As at 30 June 2022, an amount of GBP27,768,402.15 equivalent
to RMB225,937,604.08 (31 December 2021: RMB238,984,237.80)
under long-term borrowings was loan(s) provided to Weichai Power
(Hong Kong) International Development Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of the
Company, from Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited,
Luxembourg Branch, for which the Company provided guarantee for
joint liabilities. This long-term borrowings will mature on 2 December
2024.

As at 30 June 2022, an amount of EUR785,658,755.00 equivalent to
RMB5,506,210,818.54 under long-term borrowings (31 December
2021: RMB5,672,220,513.47) was loan(s) provided to Weichai Power
(Hong Kong) International Development Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of
the Company, from Australia and New Zealand Banking, Hong Kong
Branch, Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited,
Agricultural Bank of China Limited, Hong Kong Branch, DBS Hong Kong
Branch, and Postal Savings Bank of China Co., Ltd. Weifang Branch, for
which the Company provided guarantee for joint liabilities. This loan will
mature in stages by 21 September 2025. Among others, no amount will
mature within one year.

As at 30 June 2022, an amount of RMB75,000,000.00 (31 December
2021: RMB115,000,000.00) under long-term borrowings was loan(s)
provided to Hande Axle (Zhuzhou) Gear Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of the
Company, from Shandong Heavy Industry Group Finance Co., Ltd.,
secured by the accounts receivable of Hande Axle (Zhuzhou) Gear Co.,
Ltd. pursuant to the borrowing agreement. This long-term borrowing
will mature in stages by 16 June 2023.
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225,937,604.08 7T (20214 12 A 31
A AR®238,984,237.807C) &F
BTIERITRNDARRAERED T
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M2022%F6 A30H + REERPEK
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318 : AR#%5,672,220,513.477C)
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial
Statements (Continued)
35. Long-term borrowings (Continued)

Note 8:

Note 9:

As at 30 June 2022, an amount of RMB510,000,000.00 under long-
term borrowings (31 December 2021: Nil) was loan(s) provided to
Shaanxi Heavy-duty Motor Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of the Company,
from The Export-import Bank of China, Shaanxi Branch, secured by the
bank deposits of Shaanxi Heavy-duty Motor Co., Ltd., pursuant to the
borrowing agreement. This long-term borrowing will mature on 20
March 2024.

As at 30 June 2022, an amount of RMB143,000,000.00 under long-
term borrowings (31 December 2021: RMB143,000,000.00) was loan(s)
provided to Shaanxi Fast Gear Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of the Company,
from CDB Capital Co., Ltd., and the loan agreed in the loan agreement
were used in medium-duty and light-duty gear boxes and new energy
transmission system projects. This long-term borrowing will mature
in stages by 22 October 2030. Among others, RMB4,000,000.00 (31
December 2021: RMB4,000,000.00) will mature within one year.

36. Bonds payable

ltem

EH

RS i 25 BT 5 (48
2022F 1 H1HZ6H30H 1L EiE

G OF B AR T IH H AR R

(%)

35. REER(R)

18 -

9

M202296 308 » RHERPAR
#510,000,000.007C (2021412 A
318 &) AR E#E L D RITHRASE
DITAARRE 2 FRABIRAEER R
ARARRUNER  BRBEHE
LABRFRER S E AR ARIMIRITFE
B ZERMBBEREN2024538
2081 F 8 -

B2022%6A308 - EHERF A
R # 143,000,000.00 7t (2021 % 12
A318 : AR%143,000,000.007T)
AEHBEEESBRARALARAZ
FRAREETHERERETAA
RHNER  BRBHEOTZEEK
ARPERSERERFNERED R
HIER - RERBERBN2030F
10A22B A HEIE - HR AR
4,000,000.007T (20214128318 :
AR #4,000,000.0070) R —F R
ZIE o

36. BEfFE*

30 June 2022
202246 H30H

Bonds payable

e B

5,733,137,519.20

RMB

AR BT

31 December 2021
2021%12A31H

5,932,319,194.50




Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial
Statements (Continued)
36. Bonds payable (Continued)

As at 30 June 2022, balance of bonds payable are listed as follows:

Item

LE

Medium-term note
hERE
Medium-term note
hERE
Medium-term note
hERE
Corporate bonds
bEEF

Total

Al
G

Note 1:

Note 2:

Note 3:

Note 4:

Atthe

beginning Issued during ~~ Accrued interest

Face value Issued amount the period

Issuing date

Bond period of period during the period

BE EGLE] RRER o3 BIBE AHET ABHRAR

7,367,344,000.00 February 2017 Note 1
W78 i
June 2018 Tyears  1,500,359,700.00
018568 Ji3
April 2019 7yeas
019548 Ji3

September 2020 Syears  3,967,200,000.00
020898 3

7,344731,360.00  699,495,074.93 9,4147871.12

1,504,120,000.00 1,308,354,032.97 7,182,985.19

906,834,800.00 905,254,424.00  346,177,395.30 1,920,798.21

3,967,200,000.00 3,578,292,691.30 32,699,879.40

13,745,498,800.00 13,717,545,484.00  5,932,319,194.50 51,218,449.98

KION, a subsidiary of the Company, issued medium-term notes with
total par value of EUR1,010 million in February 2017, which matured or
will mature in May 2022, April 2024 and April 2027, at floating interest
rate based on EURIBOR (Euro Interbank Offered Rate).

KION, a subsidiary of the Company, issued medium-term notes with
total par value of EUR179 million in June 2018 with bond period of 7
years. Nominal amount of EUR100 million of such notes are at floating
interest rate based on EURIBOR while the other nominal amount of
EUR79 million are at fixed interest rate.

KION, a subsidiary of the Company, issued medium-term notes with
total par value of EUR120.5 million in April 2019 with bond period of 7
years, at floating interest rate based on EURIBOR.

KION, a subsidiary of the Company, issued corporate bonds of principal
amount of EUR500 million in September 2020, with a nominal interest
rate of 1.625%, and maturity of 5 years. The bonds will mature in
2025.
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Repaid during

Amortisation the period

it i rARE
141,742.00
198,438.80 =

42,5260

4,153,040.60

4,535,744.00

(30,382,397.70)

(30,382,397.70)

RMB
AR

Exchange
qain or loss/

Fair value Adjustment
Attheend

of period

hedging forexchange  Less: due within
differences

Bt
EXZENE

adjustments
MEE
EHEE

one year
Wo-FRE BRpE &

(20,473,798.13) 679,163,018.80

(37,956,601.67) - 1,.200213.472.40
(10,132,095.90) 336,087,822.00

(104,772,525.90) - 3477,673,206.00

(173,335,021.60) - 5,733,137,519.20

AQAZFRAKION » A20174F2
RBTEZEEHAERI101ERITLAF
HIZEE - BRI 2022F5 8 - 2024
FAFM2027F4AE|E - FIR AL
EURIBOR(BATTERITRIEFRMEFIR) A
EENFEFIER -

AARZFARKION » ©B2018%F6 A
BITEMAEA1.79EBTHhRE
% EHRERATF  ZREBERIER
JCE A8 A% A LAEURIBOR (BT SR 1T A
E¥FBHNR)REENEZHFNE - 5
0.79BE T E A E REEF X -

AN A ZFRAKION » A20194F 4
ABTEEEEAR1.205EBITHHR
HER  BHFHARATE - FEAMN
EURIBOR(BR TR 7T R HF{EAIE) &
EEN)FZEFIE -

AR AEZFAAKION » #2020 F
IARTEMSEASERETMRE
&%  EHFHRASFE  EEMER
1.625% * ZEEH H R 2025F 5|
/quo
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial

Statements (Continued)
37. Lease liabilities

38.

ltem 5 E

Lease liabilities HEEE
Less: Lease liabilities taken to

BENHEERRE
(MsFF - 33)

non-current liabilities due

within one year (Note V.33)

B FFA—FERBIEIERE

Total =

As at 30 June 2022, the balance of unrecognised finance
costs in lease liabilities amounted to RMB396,697,279.02
(31 December 2021: RMB479,787,614.31).

Long-term payables

ltem HH
Long-term payables REFFERT R
Special payables BIHEMK

Total AaFt

RS i 25 BT 5 (48
2022F 18 1HZ26H30H 1F 5

B ‘(a;ig,ﬁjﬁiﬁ%igiﬁ H il
7. AEEME

30 June 2022
20226 6H30H

5,781,481,297.38

1,361,592,312.06

4,419,888,985.32

RMB

ARE T

31 December 2021
20214 12A31H
(Restated)
(BE&Ea)

6,714,933,796.12

1,682,905,516.68

5,032,028,279.44

R202246A830H - BEHEE A EE
BOAERRNEERNBREAARYE
396,697,279.02 7T (2021412 A 31
B : AR#479,787,614.317L) °

38. REAEMNR

30 June 2022
202266 H30H

7,099,657,922.01
23,000,000.00

7,122,657,922.01

RMB

AR T

31 December 2021
2021412 A31H

7,119,275,397.69
25,474,949.03

7,144,750,346.72
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) FRHS ik R M 5 (48
1 January to 30 June 2022 2022F 1 A1HZE6H30H 1R

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial #. ~& f I % it & £ B IH H 5 &

Statements (Continued) (%)
38. Long-term payables (Continued) 38. REAFEE(T R (&)
Long-term payables by nature: BREME N REEENK
RMB
AT
30 June 2022 31 December 2021
[tem BH 20226 H30H 2021412 A31H
Government grants for national debt B (E18 B BT R
projects 5,500,000.00 5,500,000.00
Balance of indirect lease guarantee MEHERRGE 901,284,150.53 1,071,547,874.00
Financial liabilities related to sale and EXTDRBEsHEaE
leaseback 6,192,873,771.48 6,042,227,523.69
Total A5t 7,099,657,922.01 7,119,275,397.69
Change in special payables is as follows: HIEENRNESHOT ¢
RMB
ARE T
Increase during Decrease during
31 December 2021 the period the period 30 June 2022
ltem 58 2021%12A318 KEEM KEED 2022%6A30H

Interest subsidy for liquid fund granted % Bf Fr B B [ 37 &)
by provincial finance office BLEREE 23,000,000.00 - 23,000,000.00
Compensation for relocation FREE 2,474,949.03 2,474,949.03 -

Total = 25,474,949.03 2,474,949.03 23,000,000.00
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial

Statements (Continued)
39. Long-term payroll payable

RS i 25 BT 5 (48
2022F 18 1HZ26H30H 1F 5

+. ‘ﬁiﬁﬁjﬁiﬁﬁiglﬁ H sk
39. REAFEAT IS T & e

RMB
AR #r
30 June 2022 31 December 2021
[tem EH 202246 H30H 202112 A31H
(Restated)
(B&Ei)
Defined benefit obligations HEXZmET 6,717,253,064.91 10,117,661,937.23
Long-term severance benefits REABGRE A 757,473,620.39 762,311,610.54
Cash-settled share-based payments LATR & S E R D
(Note X) (MEE+—) 60,265,231.60 425,478,580.10
Other long-term payroll payable H b K HA B T 37 A 617,601,128.12 600,747,550.61
Subtotal N 8,152,593,045.02 11,906,199,678.48
Less: Long-term payroll payable due B —E AR AR R HEE T
within one year BT 358,402,831.56 571,271,957.50
Among which: Severance benefits Hep o BRER 246,702,759.22 257,757,002.58
Cash-settled share-based IR #EHE RN
payments 28,292,910.80 227,702,118.30
Other long-term payroll H th = BB T 57 B

payable

83,407,161.54 85,812,836.62

Total

7,794,190,213.46

11,334,927,720.98
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial
Statements (Continued)
39. Long-term payroll payable (Continued)

Defined benefit obligations

The Group operates defined benefit schemes for its staff in some
overseas subsidiaries who meet conditions. The scheme requires
that contribution be made to an independently administered fund.
Under the scheme, staff are entitled to enjoy retirement benefit

provided for under defined benefit of the plans.

The Group’s defined benefit scheme is one requiring contribution
after termination of service. The scheme requires that contribution
be made to an independently administered fund. The scheme is
administered by an independent trustee in the legal form of a fund.
The assets held under the fund is held separately with assets of the
Group. The trustee is responsible for the investment strategies of

the scheme.

The trustee assesses the level of capital of the scheme. The
assessment includes asset-liabilities matching strategies and
investment risk management strategies. The trustee determines the

amount to be deployed based on the result of its annual assessment.

The scheme is exposed to interest rate risk, risk of change of
anticipated age of beneficiaries of the pension, and risks of the

securities market.

BRI
REEBHRINFRERE
BTEEE TREX@aT
ERkmMBLIERNESHT
ZarEl N BEIARER
A TE BRIRER] -
REENREZT @At
®atEl - ZatE
SHEFBR - %5
= - IE%LX%AE B ﬁ%
ENEENAEENEEER SR -
XA ERELTINRESR

i o

H

XFAANBZENERKF - ZEZ
BREE-AEBECRRBNRERR
ERRE - XEARBFEERNLE
RRERBIFH -
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) FPHS ik R M 5 (48
1 January to 30 June 2022 2022F 1 A1HZ6H30H 1R

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial #. ~& f I % it 3% £ I H 1 #

Statements (Continued) (%)

39. Long-term payroll payable (Continued) 39. REAEFRBE T H MM (48)
Defined benefit obligations (Continued) REXmEB(E)
The following table sets out the key actuarial assumptions used as TREEEABGBRBMEANTIER
at the balance sheet date: HiRE -

30 June 2022 31 December 2021

Key actuarial assumptions FTERERR 2022%6H30H 2021412 A31H
Discount rate (%) P R(%) 3.35-3.90 1.20-1.97
Expected rate of salary increment (%) EHHSER R (%) 0.08-3.60 0.66-3.58
Expected growth rate of future pension 78 85K 3Rk & B F
expenses (%) R E(%) 0.73-3.18 0.07-3.70
Scheme recognised in the income statement is set out below: EFBRTERNERETENT
RMB
AR T
Incurred during Incurred in
the period previous period
ltem HE P A
Current period cost of service 2 AR A5 Ak AN 167,124,391.95 228,938,450.07
Previous cost of service iR K AR 7% A AR - 1,274,301.40
Net interest A EFEE 53,088,931.24 33,874,260.61
Net amount of the cost of BERR 18 12 P AVF 58
post-employment benefit 220,213,323.19 264,087,012.08
Taken to cost of sales P A ER AR 102,451,117.60 134,880,503.40
Taken to distribution and selling STAEEER
expenses 30,332,788.00 37,689,613.80
Taken to general and administrative SFAEEER
expenses 20,598,599.45 41,530,148.47
Taken to research and development sTAMEER
expenses 13,741,886.90 16,112,485.80
Taken to finance expenses sTAMEE A 53,088,931.24 33,874,260.61

Total A5t 220,213,323.19 264,087,012.08
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39. Long-term payroll payable (Continued) 39. Eﬂﬂﬂgﬁﬂﬁﬁlﬁwﬂ(%)

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

Defined benefit obligations (Continued)

The change in defined benefit obligations and the change in fair

DXJEX %Fﬁ ()
REXmBEBEEONAENEEARE

value of assets under the scheme are as follows: BEEFHOT :
RMB
AR
Present value of Net liabilities/
defined benefit Fair value (Net assets)
scheme of assets of defined
obligations under the scheme benefit scheme
REZHE HEEE REZHE
ltem EH RBRE AREE  FEE/(FEE)
Opening balance HmengE 16,351,110,784.91 (6,808,137,485.26) 9,542,973,299.65
Taken to profit or loss in the current SAEHRER
period 279,369,346.89 (59,156,023.70) 220,213,323.19
Cost of services FRB A 167,124,391.95 - 167,124,391.95
Net interest FIEFE 112,244,954.94 (59,156,023.70) 53,088,931.24
Taken to other comprehensive income FAEMEEUE (4,455,140,877.72) 1,103,327,112.46 (3,351,813,765.26)
Actuarial gains or losses BEAGHIEL (4,455,140,877.72) - (4,455,140,877.72)
Return on assets under the scheme HEIEERRGGTA

(net of amount included in net

MEFERI)

interest) - 1,103,327,112.46 1,103,327,112.46
Other changes Hig (558,566,221.30) 224,348,231.43 (334,217,989.87)
Benefits paid BXEEH (227,873,829.54) 139,502,476.40 (88,371,353.14)
Contribution from employers REHEF - (25,534,821.30) (25,534,821.30)
Adjustment for exchange differences [EHEZHAR (355,185,409.36) 134,873,593.93 (220,311,815.43)
Others Hit 24,493,017.60 (24,493,017.60) -
Closing balance HiREAER 11,616,773,032.78 (5,539,618,165.07) 6,077,154,867.71
Note: As of 30 June 2022, the assets under the scheme amounting in aggregate i MR2022F6A30H:TEIEES A Hit

to RMB640,098,197.20 (31 December 2021: RMB575,114,082.30) were
accounted for under other non-current assets.

AR#640,098,197.207T (2021412
HA318 : AR¥575,114,082.3070)
EHMIERBDEEPZE -
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

1 January to 30 June 2022

HRB D RHBRAF

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial
Statements (Continued)
40. Accruals and provisions

41.

S5 e R WA R (A

2022F 18 1HZ26H30H 1F 5

G OF B AR T IH H AR R

(%)
40. EFTEE

30 June 2022
202266 H30H

12,027,087.26
263,719,139.67
121,253,832.96

397,000,059.89

41. EEW

30 June 2022
2022%6H30H

ltem HAE

Pending litigation RRFHR
Product quality assurance deposit EnEERESD
Others Eth

Total &&F
Deferred income

ltem BH
Government grant BT 46 BY

Deferred income of indirect leasing

R B EFH 2 EE W

2,653,790,231.45

1,413,874,616.00

143,607,722.72

business

Deferred income of sale and leaseback &4 FH LI BE A
sub-leases IR FE U 2=

Total =

4,211,272,570.17

RMB

AR

31 December 2021
2021912 A31H

21,602,414.06
298,110,110.52
125,346,892.78

445,059,417.36

RMB
ARET

31 December 2021
202112 A31H
(Restated)
(BEq)

2,554,331,560.40

1,678,789,693.50

241,198,625.48

4,474,319,879.38




Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial
Statements (Continued)

41. Deferred income (Continued)

As at 30 June 2022, the items related to government grant are as

42.

follows:
31 December 2021
Item EH 2001127318
(Restated)
(BEi)
Land-related government grant £ £ 3 1 )
BFRY 1,018,773,622.65
Special funds for industry EERANKN

revitalisation and technological £ 4
renovation 1,106,544,337.58
Specil assistance fund EEENES
184,145,204.36
Position-hased allowances for BB A7 B
project teams Mi2HS 220,797,719.39
Others Eft
24,070,676.42
Total At 2,554,331,560.40

Other non-current liabilities

[tem

HH

Increase during

the period
A5

16,355,600.00

107,407,566.68

66,634,613.79

2,025,600.00

192,423,380.47

Interim Report 2022 A HAZRE

PO 5 i 3 B R (4)
2022F 1 51HZ26H30H 1F 5

Taken to other
income during
the period

- RIN-C

(16,022,326.97)

(49,783,811.34)

(12,310,714.56)

(8,371,083.34)

(6,476,773.21)

(92,964,709.42)

BRI

Other
decreases

Ao

1,019,106,895.68

1,164,168,092.92

238,469,103.59

212,426,636.05

19,619,503.21

30 June 2022
2022%6A30R

i ~?@§1§Eﬁ%$ﬁﬁigiﬁ SRR
a1, BEW G (F)

7202296 A30H

3 R R B &Y

RMB
AR

Related to
assetsfincome

HEE/WEAR

Related to assets
HEERE
Related to
assetsfincome
HEE/WEHE
Related to
assetsfincome
REE/WhB
Related to income
06y
Related to assets

HEERE

2,653,790,231.45

42. HwERBHERB

Asset securitisation financing

Loans from leasing institutions

Long-term liabilities of indirect leasing business

Cross currency interest rate swap contracts

BEEEFCLRME

REWBER

MEHEXHGZRARE
RXEBEMNEEHRAEL

Put options Bk HIRE
Others EHth
Total =

30 June 2022
202256 HA30H

6,535,248,899.20
3,195,809,374.80
379,918,355.60
21,726,040.00
34,250,050.80
389,241,013.73

10,556,193,734.13

RMB

AR T

31 December 2021
202112 A31H
(Restated)
(B&Ei)

6,309,830,087.80
37,528,001.00
332,662,116.90
10,338,610.40
35,282,673.90
417,557,574.95

7,143,199,064.95

205
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial

Statements (Continued)
43. Share capital

31 December 2021
[tem EH 2021£12A318
| Restricted circulating shares - BREEERD 1,733,314,305

1 BREABR
2 B mERRK
B AREARR

1. State-owned legal person shares
2. Shares held by other domestic entities
including: Shares held by domestic

1,642,531,008
90,783,297

legal persons 90,783,297

Il Non-restricted circulating shares . BRERMRD 6,993,242,516
RMB ordinary shares ARBLER 5,050,202,516
Overseas lsted foreign shares EIh ETEINER 1,943,040,000

Il Total number of shares = khem 8,726,556,821

New shares
issued

RTHR

RS i 25 BT 5 (48
2022F 18 1HZ26H30H 1F 5

T S0P ER EEIE H R
(74)
43 . R A

RMB
ARET
Changes during the period
byt b
Capitalisation
Sub-total 30 June 2022
2022568308

Bond issue of reserve Others

ik DREER Sfs Nt

1,487,379 1,487,379 1,734,801,684
1,642,531,008

92,270,676

1,487,379 1,487,379

1,487,379 1,487,379 92,270,676

(1,487,379)
(1,487,379)

(1,487,379)
(1,487,379)

6,991,755,137
5,048,715,137
1,943,040,000

8,726,556,821



Interim Report 2022 FHiFkE 207

RS i 25 Bt 5 (48
2022F 1 51HZ26H30H 1F 5

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

g ‘?\%ﬁﬁjﬁiﬁ%igiﬁ SR
44, BEARE

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial
Statements (Continued)
44. Capital reserve

RMB
AR®ET
Increase during Decrease during
31 December 2021 the period the period 30 June 2022
Item EH 2021124318 AR E AEEDS  2022%6A30R
(Restated)
(BE#)
Share premium (Notes 1, 2, 3) BARE G 23) 12,903,662,957.65 124,214,640.02  2,145,499,493.49  10,882,378,104.18
Other capital reserve (Note 4) HEthEARRE(F4) 325,025,105.26 1,428,246.22 653,258.47 325,800,093.01
Wholly state-owned capital reserve BEBZEANE 77,000,000.00 - - 77,000,000.00
Total At 13,305,688,062.91 125,642,886.24  2,146,152,751.96  11,285,178,197.19
Note 1:  Minority shareholders unilaterally increased its shareholding in Weichai H1: ARRZFRARMENERBERNE
Torch Technology Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of the Company, leading to an BRARELHBRREFEEZTR
increase in capital reserve of RMB124,214,640.02 arising from equity EWE  SIREALNTEEMNARE
dilution of the Company. 124,214,640.027C °©
Note 2: In July 2021, the Company purchased 39.31% equity interest of Weichai 2 R2021MF7ARRAIBEBRREL
Lovol. In June 2022, the Company further acquired 22.69% equity 39.31% & # - H2022F6 A © K
interest of Weichai Lovol. As such, the Company holds a total of 62.00% NEIE—THMFEEARETL2269%
equity interest of Weichai Lovol and obtained control over Weichai R#E ZRHEARAAEGHHEERE
Lovol. The aforesaid acquisition constitutes business combination T62.00% A% - BEE 7HERX
under common control and resulted in a reduction in capital reserve BEIMEH - L& FERR— =
of RMB2,140,669,349.92 of the Company due to payment of the HTREEN ARARAINEES
consideration for the acquisition (For details, please refer to Note VI.1). HEE SIBREARERIARE
2,140,669,349.92 7t (F# 152 B Wi i
N1 e
Note 3: During the period, the Company acquired 32.89% minority interest H3: ABMARRBAETAEIWETFLA
of Shandong Weichai Lovol Transmission Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of the IR AL EREB AR AF32.89%
Company, through Weichai Lovol. The above equity transaction led to a DERAE - PSR SRR KA
decrease in the share premium of RMB4,830,143.57. B ARM4,830,143.577T °
Note 4: The increase in other capital reserve during the period was mainly due 4 HMWEARABBAHEMEZAEAR

to the increase in capital reserve of RMB595,951.93, resulted from
the equity-settled share-based payment by KION, a subsidiary of the
Company.

Al Z F A B KION LA 1 25 45 B 10 g
XM ENEAREEMARE
595,951.937T °
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial
Statements (Continued)
45. Treasury shares

Opening balance

Item EH HsE
Treasury shares BER -
Note: On 19 May 2022, the sixth provisional meeting of the board of directors

considered and approved the “Proposal on the Repurchase of the
Company’s A Shares of Weichai Power Co., Ltd.” and disclosed the “Report
on the Repurchase of the Company’s A Shares of Weichai Power Co., Ltd.”
and “Proposal on the Repurchase of the Company’s A Shares of Weichai
Power Co., Ltd.” on 20 May 2022. The Company intends to use its internal
funds to repurchase certain A Shares of the Company through centralised
price bidding for the purpose of the implementation of an equity incentive
scheme. If the Company fails to implement the repurchase of A Shares,
the unused A Shares repurchased under the A Share Repurchase Plan will
be cancelled pursuant to the applicable laws and the registered capital
of the Company will be reduced accordingly. As at 30 June 2022, the
Company has repurchased a total of 40,960,000 A Shares, representing
approximately 0.47% of the current total share capital of the Company,
through centralised price bidding through the special securities account
designated for repurchase. The maximum transaction price was RMB12.77
per share, while the minimum transaction price was RMB11.52 per share,
and the total amount paid was RMB500,137,881.94 (including transaction
fees).

RS i 25 BT 5 (48
2022F 18 1HZ26H30H 1F 5

G OF B AR T IH H AR R

(%)

45. EER

Increase during

the period
RHE M

500,137,881.94

RMB
ARET

Decrease during
the period
FTHED

Closing balance

HARSBE

500,137,881.94

AAFR2022F5 198 F XK
RESEHEZRABT(ELS RN
ARAFBREREQAARKSH S
=) WH2022F 5208 E T
LENRNDERARBENEEARA
B HRES)MCELH NRD
BRARBREEBARARERGHS
R) - AARBEAEREESUER
HEXSZHABBERRFDARMEE
NER - BN R E RSB R
B - BEAREHRA R EEORG G
FETFAFHLRDAMER - BHE
20226 A30H  AAFABEKEE
RAREFEPUSPREARNRFTEE
ARZ B 1 £ 5140,960,0000% + (AR
A B RTABRAB L B4 70.47% + £
ERREAEARE12.77E/ B &
BRZEBAAREIIS 2L/ R X
ML sEE A ARES00,137,881.94
T(ERZER) -
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) FRHS ik R M 5 (48
1 January to 30 June 2022 2022F 1 A1HZE6H30H 1R

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial #. ~# f i % & £ 2 0H H 51 B

Statements (Continued) (%)

46. Other comprehensive income 46. HtiR & W=
Other comprehensive income, on a cumulative basis, attributable to AHEEABRRPEBREATMNE
the parent as shown in the consolidated balance sheet is as follows: 4R & Wk Rt ¢

RMB
ARE T
Incurred during the period
FHRLE
Less: Amount Less: Amount
recognised recognised
inother inother
comprehensive comprehensive
Incurred incomein incomein
before the previous period Attributable to previous period
income tax and recogised Less: Attributable to minority and recognised in
31 December for the in profit o loss Income tax parent company interests retained eamings 30 June
m current period in current period expenses affer tax after tax in current period am
A A
M1 KEfE  AbkekE R H4ER H4ER  Afthekd 005
tem 6] 128318 BEREE  EHEARR it b #8237 ROBRR  EREAERNE 6A308
(Restated)
(BEH)
1 Those oher comprehensie ncome ot o be ecssfid nto proftorloss — » 7465 % 139,683,344.00  WERALREDNOLEY] 925,516,275.28  1,132,108,189.32  1,220,705,943.89 (911,280.85) 1,272,702,814.26
Changes arsig from re-measuring of dfined benefit plan (747,185,726.58)  BEREEIRIENLERL] 937,552,345.37  1,206,052,769.01  1,208,208,650.88 - 4588670083
Other comprehensive income not to be recasifed nto proftor loss ERETTEEERD
using the equity method Ef5auE (146,749,317.89) 9,544,519.10 = = (5,921,061.10)  15,465,640.80 - (152,670,378.99)
Change infair vlue of nvestment in other equiy instuments EhERTERENAEEEY 1,033,618,388.56 (83,027,936.47) - (12,036,070.09)  (68,023,518.59)  (2,968,347.79) (911,280.85) 966,506, 150.82
1. Other comprehensive ncome tobe recssifed nto proit rlss o BEIBERANENEAKE (APRLIMEIREI  270,706,613.33  (108,851,799.17)  (6,708,709.04)  206,670,736.69  179,596,384.85 - (1,061,220,555.06)
Other comprehensie ncome t b rcssfied to prft oross LEVANE T
using the equity method 41,559,933.95 913,637.20 - - 913,637.20 - - BRAT3AIS
Casow hedging esne ReeEuEE DEIIRITREM  (5174546059)  (108,851,799.07)  (6,708,709.04)  63,544,391.64 270,655.98 - 60,630,24545
change iference on foreign curency tnlaton SEBRRR T EEE 1,306,537,079.51)  IEIARELELHA) - - 270085 179,325,128.87 - (1,164,324,371.66)
Totel o tfer comprehersive income Epfralaast (ARVERURIARIIM 3,549,037,001.82  (108,851,799.17)  918,807,566.24  1,338,778,926.01  1,400,302,328.74 (911,280.85)  211,482,259.20
47. Special reserve 47. EIE
RMB
AR T
Increase during Decrease during
31 December 2021 the period the period 30 June 2022
Item HA 20215124318 REE REES  2022F6H30R
(Restated)
(BEit)

Safety funds RE4EE 263,819,692.47 57,205,039.89 32,941,902.13 288,082,830.23
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) FPHS ik R M 5 (48
1 January to 30 June 2022 2022F 1 A1HZ6H30H 1R

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial #. ~& f I % it & £ IH H 51 &
Statements (Continued) (74)
48. Surplus reserve 48. BERNTE

Increase during Decrease during

31 December 2021 the period the period 30 June 2022
Item HA 20216124318 AHIE HES  2022%6A308
Statutory surplus reserve EEBBAE 2,397,198,590.54 2,397,198,590.54
49. Retained earnings 49. K7 B FE
RMB
AR BT
Incurred during Incurred in
this period previous period
ltem HH AH L FERE AR
(Restated)
(B&Ei)
Retained earnings at the end of the AR EFFRADEFE
previous year before adjustment 48,384,964,194.07 43,485,047,330.89
Business combination under common B—EH TS
control 45,437,383.10 76,544,448.65
Retained earnings at the beginning of %1% B 9] & > B A&
the period after adjustment 48,430,401,577.17 43,561,591,779.54
Add: Net profit attributable to mn: BERTARREN
shareholders of the parent F A E 2,386,612,803.65 6,509,892,897.99
Less: Dividend payable on ordinary B A RARIR S R R
shares in cash (Note 1) (5£1) 1,606,835,411.89 2,033,287,739.29
Transfer other comprehensive EMGENatEE T
income to retained earnings W =5 911,280.85 -
Others (Note 2) HAtb(5£2) 122,526,000.00 185,646,741.19
Retained earnings at the end of Bi R R > i #1) B
the period 49,086,741,688.08 47,852,550,197.05
Note 1: On 28 June 2022, the Company’s 2021 profit distribution proposal 1 R2022%F 6 A288 ¢ A RA A 2021
was considered and approved at the Company’s 2021 annual general FERRBAEREEZBBT 2021
meeting. Based on the total share capital of 8,726,556,821 shares, the FEMBIBAR  NAA ALK
Company distributed to all shareholders a cash dividend of RMB1.85 78,726,556,821 R B E & + m &
(including tax) for every 10 shares held, without any capitalisation of ERRBIOREEFRSAMNAR
reserve. Cash dividend amounting to RMB1,614,413,011.89 (Including 185 (EM)  TEELAES
cash dividend from treasury shares of RMB7,577,600.00) was distributed. AR HREFEB SR ARE
1,614,413,011.89 T (B EFIRE &
A& A R¥7,577,600.00) °
Note 2: This represents the dividends distributed to the previous shareholders of 2 RAKEE—ZHTREEANNES
the merged party in the business combination under common control of BF 5 E A BF B A m R B R 5 BS &) B

the Group prior to the date of combination. A o
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) FRHS ik R M 5 (48
1 January to 30 June 2022 2022% 1/ 1H26H30H 1F 57

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial #. ~& f i % it 3 £ IH H 51 &

Statements (Continued) (%)
50. Minority interests 50. PEREER
RMB
AR T
c(NIEpIslopPAs 31 December 2021
Item HE 2022%6H30H 202112 A31H
(Restated)
(BEi)
Minority interest attributable to FBERTAREBROEBERER
ordinary shareholders K 29,665,820,697.26" WYLy WKV
Minority interests — perpetual bonds DB R R — K EE 5,053,277,241.69 5,053,277,241.69
Total A&t cUARTErAC ST 33,382,906,010.71

On 14 September 2017, Weichai International (Hong Kong) Energy
Group Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of the Company, issued perpetual
bond of par value of USD775 million, with a nominal interest
rate of 3.75% and the interest payable every six months. Total
net proceeds after deduction of issue expenses amounted to
RMBS5,053,277,241.69.

The perpetual bonds were issued with the guarantee provided by
the Company for its subsidiary Weichai International (Hong Kong)
energy Group Co., Ltd., without maturity date or conversion right,
and dividend distribution may be deferred for an indefinite number
of times at the discretion of the Company. The Company is entitled

to redeem such perpetual bonds on 14 September 2022.

M2017F9A 148 » KRR ZFRAA]
LB (BB REREEAR QR &
TEmMBREART.7SEET  ZEFX
53.75% N ESEE A6 A K KE
& HRBETEREREEESATEAR
AR¥5,053,277,241.697T °

ZEXKBERARRBFARSER
BR(EB)REEBR A REER
BT EEIEE o mERE - BHOR
REFATHAQRRIELES - B FEX
BIRE) o RARAEN2022469H 14
HEEZSKERE -
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

RS i 25 BT 5 (48
2022F 18 1HZ26H30H 1F 5

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial #. ~& f I % it & £ IH H 51 #
Statements (Continued)
51. Revenue and cost of sales

(1)

Revenue and cost of sales

ltem BE

Revenue from principal operations T2
Other revenue L ES )

Total 4t

Reporting segment

[tem EH

Classified by major regions T EREHED E
of operation

Including: Mainland China £ : hE K[

Other countries and regions £ EIR A&

Total At
Classified by time for BRABIRRL B
recognition of revenue
Including: Transfered ata £ : EE-BYER
certain point
of time
Provided over a TE-KEA
certain period it
of time

Revenue arising fromthe X F 7 RAAREL
contracts with customers B AN

Revenue under the REEATHA
Standard on Lease

Total &

Engines

GEL

15,332,612,099.63
1,641,661,694.93

16,974,273,794.56

16,886,019,553.05

65,963,812.50

16,951,983,365.55

22,290,429.01

16,974,273,794.56

(%)
51. EZWARKAK
(1) BEWAMEBEKNEBR

RMB
AR T

Incurred during this period Incurred in the previous period (Restated)

THRER THEEE(EEL)

Revenue Revenue Cost
/0N 7% WA A
85,502,752,998.94 TNEPARYEIGERS 129,328,844,829.44  104,576,075,963.92
1,237,352,941.34 916,899,968.17 5,987,301,596.11 5,603,986,439.33

JOVEORNREE PR A TSRS 135,316,146,425.55  110,180,062,403.25

okr

(2) HEDE

Automobiles
and automobile Intelligent Agricultural
components logistics equipment

RER
RESHH Bun REEf

16,292,811,780.27 2,521,346,805.55 8,419,792,765.79 42,566,563,451.24
5,443,734,050.52 36,640,456,874.65 447,689,868.94 44,173,542,489.04

21,736,545,830.79 39,161,803,680.20 8,867,482,634.73 86,740,105,940.28

21,710,129,650.89 19,744,018,519.32 8,867,072,453.14 67,207,240,176.40

2,113,696.10 15,608,633,170.89 15,676,710,679.49

21,712,243,346.99 35,352,651,690.21 8,867,072,453.14 82,883,950,855.89

24,302,483.80 3,809,151,989.99 410,181.59 3,856,155,084.39

21,736,545,830.79 39,161,803,680.20 8,867,482,634.73 86,740,105,940.28




Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial
Statements (Continued)
51. Revenue and cost of sales (Continued)

3)

Performance of obligations

The supply chain solution services provided by the Group
belong to the performance obligation satisfied over a certain
period of time. The performance costs actually incurred on
a cumulative basis as a percentage of estimated total costs
is used to ascertain progress of performance of supply chain
solution services contracts. As at 30 June 2022, some of the
Group's supply chain solution services contracts were still in
the process of performance, the transaction price allocated
to the outstanding (or partially unperformed) performance
obligations is related to the performance progress of each
supply chain solution services contract, and will be recognised
as revenue in the future performance period of each supply
chain solution services contracts based on the performance

progress.

52. Taxes and surcharges
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TG MEHREEEEHA R
(%)
51. BEWARBKA(E)

(3) BAIETH A
AEERENHEEBEBRAR
BREBRELX —BBRABITH
BAOER  EHRIFERZEE
KB #I PR NG TB AT A AR M L
PIEHEERRARERRES
R EHEE - B E£20225F6
RA308 - REBEH D HrEER
ARARREHEBITBIZR
DEERARBIT (MY RE
TIBRHARBHR S EKEEE
HEEARIR T RRTE N E A
AR - 0 R AE RE A R B R
R TT R AR Y R 2R B R BN R
BAVEE R AN o

52. B & R

RMB

AR T

Incurred during Incurred in the

this period previous period

ltem HE AHRAEE THAg AR
(Restated)

(B&Eu)

City maintenance and construction tax 32 & 21,024,607.38 177,423,696.03
Educational surtax HEBWM 14,097,491.39 132,619,292.60
Property tax EER 97,734,576.72 109,788,980.33
Stamp duty ENIERE 42,154,210.74 61,126,917.63
Others Hih 46,583,037.10 56,042,429.22
Total & 221,593,923.33 537,001,315.81
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

1 January to 30 June 2022

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial
Statements (Continued)

HRB D RHBRAF

53. Distribution and selling expenses

54.

S5 e R WA R (A

2022F 18 1HZ26H30H 1F 5

G OF B AR T IH H AR R

(%)
53. SHEEH

Incurred during

this period
AHRAERE

2,625,528,852.66
596,927,914.71
187,605,933.01
211,455,323.17
346,833,897.94
174,552,344.31
39,410,609.96
51,056,280.12
779,023,644.23

ltem HAE

Staff costs 8 TRA
Freight and packaging BERPEE
After-sales and repair fee —BRERRIEER
Marketing expenses s HAHAER
Depreciation and amortisation e R#EH
Travel expenses EIRE

Lease expenses HE®E

Office expenses LN 5|
Others Eith

Total &&F

5,012,394,800.11

General and administrative expenses

54 EEEH

Incurred during
this period
AHIBRAERE

2,005,514,494.65
495,138,003.03
310,499,016.68
160,758,893.50
44,442,739.63
46,622,101.86
42,284,016.54
773,032,912.67

ltem HAE

Staff costs B IRA
Depreciation and amortisation e R
External support fee INER IS B
Office expenses /N
Travel expenses EIRE
Repair expenses E3ER=
Lease expenses HEE
Others Eth

Total A&t

3,878,292,178.56

RMB
AR

Incurred in
previous period
FEREE AR
(Restated)
(B&Ei)

2,711,915,911.26
836,668,087.77
1,601,160,427.56
227,997,582.68
371,367,079.64
126,426,224.51
60,934,366.37
51,152,503.28
729,924,694.23

6,717,546,877.30

RMB
ARBTT

Incurred in
previous period
FEREE AR
(Restated)
(B&Eq)

2,659,414,595.75
493,121,675.82
416,372,649.87
165,084,469.30
29,717,644.79
54,074,639.87
71,068,974.87
666,534,538.78

4,555,389,189.05
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial

G ORI B AR R IEH H R R

Statements (Continued) (%)
55. Research & development expenses 55. R & A
RMB
AR T
Incurred during Incurred in
this period previous period
ltem 1HE AHRAERE THAg AR
(Restated)
(B&Ei)
Staff costs BT A 1,794,820,825.78 1,713,635,565.55
Technology development costs HilTF%E 690,883,851.16 698,547,731.36
Testing costs ERHAAE 217,874,504.98 422,967,495.06
External intellectual property and ANER A 5 B R
published documents licensing costs H R SR (E A B 233,261,938.04 368,961,146.71
Depreciation and amortisation WreE KN 375,167,389.45 268,805,437.85
Fuel and utilities fee YNNI 106,067,770.20 92,862,121.67
Travel expenses ERE 27,224,951.13 32,502,066.27
Others Hib 242,348,170.89 206,962,237.82
Total Ast 3,687,649,401.63 3,805,243,802.29
56. Finance expenses 56. B EH
RMB
AR #®T
Incurred during Incurred in
this period previous period
Item = AHA A FERE AR
(Restated)
(B&Eiq)
Interest expenses (Note) FEZH(GE) 576,781,318.17 583,023,024.75
Less: interest income B FBUA 1,072,455,313.75 796,969,352.31
Exchange gains and losses M 5B (48,288,921.59) 5,006,937.64
Handling fees and others FEBRHAM 17,501,315.56 14,956,253.35
Total &&F (526,461,601.61) (193,983,136.57)
Note: Interest expenses of lease liabilities for the period between 1 January 2022 7 20221 HA1HZE2022F6 A30R Ik

and 30 June 2022 was RMB245,459,574.68 (for the period between 1
January 2021 and 30 June 2021: RMB250,876,527.12).

HE - HEAENFNEBRARARE
245,459,574.68 7t (202141 A1 8
F202156HA308 ILHE : ARY
250,876,527.127T) °
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) FPHS ik R M 5 (48
1 January to 30 June 2022 2022F 1 A1HZ6H30H 1R

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial #. ~& f I % it & £ IH H 51 #

Statements (Continued) (%)
57. Other income 57. Hibukzs
Government grants charged to profit or loss for the current period A EHIE ST EE T
are presented as follows:
RMB
ARET

Extraordinary

profit and loss

Incurred during Incurred in Related to  taken as incurred
this period previous period assets/income  during the period
FAKRH
HEE/ RAEEMN
Item EH R A &3] FRENER
(Restated)
(B&=it)
Income of financial subsidies B B B WA 101,305,857.93 64,080,943.59  [HEEIEE RGNl 101,305,857.93
LGl
Amortisation of deferred income i fE 4 25 % 92,964,709.42 101,354,880.80 Related to 92,964,709.42
assets/income
REE WS HE
Others Hith 2,042,415.88 4,631,261.56 [EEWReRee I 2,042,415.88

R

Total &&f 196,312,983.23 170,067,085.95 196,312,983.23
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V.

Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial

Statements (Continued)
58. Investment income

59.

[tem
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S5 R M (A

2022F 1 51HZ26H30H 1F 5

g ‘?\éﬁﬁjﬁiﬁ%igiﬁ SR
58, 1% Wi

HH

Gain on long-term equity investments
under the equity method

Investment income arising from disposal
of financial assets held for trading

Investment income during the period in
which the investments in other equity
instruments were held

Investment income arising from disposal
of long-term equity investments

Gain on interest rate swap and
exchange gains and losses realised
in cross currency interest rate swap

R A E N R
BEW S
BREXZESRMEERS
%A W s

Ha TAREERHA
HEESH R E K

RERABEREIEN
BB W

RXERNEXE]MT Adp
EERAOF S = B

instruments
Others HAh
Total &t

Profit on change of fair value

ltem

EH

Cross currency swap and interest rate
swap instruments at fair value through
profit or loss for the current period

Structured deposit

Forward foreign exchange contracts at
fair value through profit or loss for the
current period

UAanEEAELEZESHA
EMEENRXNERERR
MEEMTH

oA R e

UAanEEAELEZESHA
EHIES R ERIINER L

Total

Incurred during
this period
REAEE A

7,105,527.80

38,926,499.27

3,550,584.02

22,115,470.81

54,175,133.05
54,832,534.09

180,705,749.04

Incurred during
this period
AHIAERE

(51,037,835.99)
64,615,926.36

494,269,595.66

507,847,686.03

RMB
AR

Incurred in
previous period
FEREE AR
(Restated)
(B&Eq)

158,437,795.19

135,900,998.91

38,795,713.90

(4,337,291.63)

47,937,788.76
13,315,507.93

390,050,513.06

. AREESB WS

RMB
AR T
Incurred in

previous period

EHIEARR

173,952,490.84
(522,761.45)

(77,736,389.37)

95,693,340.02
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2022

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial

Statements (Continued)
60. Impairment loss of credit

RS i 25 BT 5 (48
2022F 18 1HZ26H3